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Foreword

The Sisters of Mercy Goulburn Congregation
Sesquicentenary Exhibition offers a view of the life

and spirit of this group of women and of the rural
communities from which they came. It is a view essentially
from the outside, through the eyes of the curators

Nancy Clarke and Claudia Hyles, who drew on the
Congregaton’s Archives and on the oral histories of the
Sisters to assemble the exhibition.

The picture presented in the exhibiuon is of a group of
Religious Women who approach a vocation to serve “the
poor, sick and ignorant”™ with the down-to-carth practical
energy and sense of fun that their Foundress, Catherine
McAuley, epitomised. The story is told of their lives

as Sisters of Mercy guided by the Foundress” Rule and
Constitutions. Also presented is a history of their initiatives
in education, health and wellare, and the evolution

and final handing on of these to others. Now at work
predominantly within the agencies of other organisations
that search out the needy, the Sisters have faced this
transition with the same equanimity they brought to the
task of beginning and maintaining extensive institutions
and organisational networks.

The Sisters” works have been driven by a fundamental
desire to serve the poor, and they were begun at a time
when little other help was available for those in need.
They are products of their ime and have been part of
developing policies and changes in Australian society.
The exhibition aims to capture something of the
Congregation’s rich, and perhaps ambiguous history, not
denying the harsher complexity of life either within the
institutions run by the Sisters, or in the rural areas they
served, but not failing to honour the spirit and integrity
of the lives lived there. There is a second thread running
through the exhibition, of a sparse existence made joyful
by the sharing of gifts: the Sisters have always received
the friendship and generous support of others who have
chosen to toil alongside them and who have given what
they could so that the works of Mercy might be done.

The Sisters are deeply indebted to Nancy and Claudia for
curating the exhibition, and to those who assisted them.
Thanks too to all those who loaned items for the exhibits,
or who gave donations ol many kinds.

Sister Marie Dufly

Congregation Leader

Sisters of Mercy Goulburn Congregatnon
24 October 2009



Introduction

Nineteenth century European settlers in Australia, many
of them Irish Catholics, had pressing social and spiritual
needs. Schools, care for the sick and poor, and spiritual
care and instruction were all urgently needed.

The Sisters of Mercy had been established in Dublin in
1831 for precisely these purposes, The Congregation had
spread rapidly in Ireland, England and America, where the
Sisters gained a reputation for dedication, practicality and
energy, and for working well with the clergy.

On 28 October 1839 six Irish Sisters of Mercy arrived

in the town of Goulburn, New South Wales. They were
accompanied from Sydney by the two most important
Catholic dignitaries in New South Wales, Archbishop
Polding of Sydney and his Vicar General, Abbott Gregory,
as well as the wile and daughter of the manager of the
Commercial Bank in Goulburn. The journey of just over
200 kilometres took three days, largely by carriage. Dean
Walsh of Goulburn joined them at Marulan, and a group
of prominent Goulburn citizens including the Mayor and
the other priest resident in Goulburn, Father I Arcy, rode
to Governor’s Hill to meet and welcome them.
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Small foundatons of Catholic religious women were
already established in Australia, including a group of
Sisters of Mercy who arrived in Perth, Western Australia,
in January 1846 and who in 1857 had extended their work
to Victoria. By 1859 there were several small communities
of Catholic religious women in Sydney — Benedictine
Sisters, Sisters of Charity and the recently founded Good
Samaritan Sisters — but there were as yet none in the
growing regional areas beyond the city, and so the new
Convent of Mercy in Goulburn was the first foundation of
religious women in inland New South Wales.

From it a second foundation was made to Albury in
1868, with two of the original Irish group among the
founders. In late December 1875 a group of Mercy
Sisters came from Rochfortbridge in Ireland to establish
a new community in Yass, In both Albury and Yass,

as at Goulburn, the Sisters were made welcome along
the way and it is clear that for each of these towns the
arrival of the Sisters was a momentous occasion for the
whole community whether Catholic or not, marked by
civic attention as well as celebratory Masses with lengthy

sermons from the bishops presiding,

Introduction



The “Catholics of Yass™ recorded their gratitude for the
presence of the Sisters in a speech on the occasion of

the opening of the Yass Convent in February 1878 when
they spoke ol “the realisation of those hopes which many
years ago we entertained of having a religious community
established in our midst — the happiness of this hour repays
all the weary waiting of the past”.

At the tume of the arrival of the Sisters, there were one or
two priests resident in each of the towns, serving scattered
rural communities. Cathelic schools run by lay people
had been set up in Australia some years previously, but
the system was struggling, and there was an increasing
determination among the clergy and particularly the
bishops that the school system they were planning would
be run by members of religious communities. Large
numbers of women and men religious would be required
for this work. The Sisters who came from Ireland brought
with them an enthusiasm for teaching and a strong
missionary fervour that rapidly attracted new members
from the Australian communities they were working
among,

In 1907 the Goulburn, Albury and Yass groups along with
the branch houses each had established, amalgamated

to become the Goulburn Congregation of the Sisters of
Mercy. They had moved out of the boundaries of the
Groulburn Diocese to Deniliquin, Wodonga, Wilcannia
and Deloraine (in Tasmania) but these foundations did not
form part of the newly amalgamated group.

The growth continued across southern and western New
South Wales: day and boarding schools were established

in towns large and small, and orphanages, hospitals and

aged care institutions were founded in Goulburn, Albury,
Cootamundra and Young,

In 1918 the new Diocese of Wagga Wagga was created,
and so the Goulburn Congregation extended across two
dioceses, as 1t sull does.

Throughout this period of expansion, religious life was
highly regarded as a vocation for young Catholic women,
and large numbers joined the Mercy Sisters. Not all of
those who joined were suited to the life of a Sister: some
left before making their final vows, and particularly in the
period after 1970 others decided to leave the congregation
even after final profession, but the number of those who

Introduction

entered the Community and spent their lives as Sisters is
impressive — a total of five hundred and forty two in the
one hundred and fifty years between 1859 and 2009.

Apart from the founding groups, very few of the Sisters
came [rom Ireland: the Goulburn Congregation is
notable in having drawn almost all its members from
Australia, mostly from within areas where the Sisters had
established schools. Some towns like Crookwell, Griffith,
Cootamundra and Grenfell became known as fertile
ground for vocations and there was a strong tradition
within some families of generations of religious men and
women.

Since the 1970s a decline in the number of people entering
Catholic religious communities in most western countries
occured and this has been the case for the Goulburn
Mercies. Social developments have also brought other
changes, and throughout this period some schools were
closed as populations shified, others amalgamated,

and orphanages were replaced by cottage care. New
opportunities arose for some Sisters to work further afield,
in the Kimberley, Papua New Guinea, Pakistan and South
Alrica.

More recently remaining schools, hospitals and

aged care facilities were transferred to other hands,
including diocesan education systems, Centacare (now
CatholicCare), and Mercy Health. The pastoral and
welfare work of the Goulburn Congregation of the Sisters
of Mercy to the “poor, sick and ignorant” continues in
other ways.

The work of the many thousands of religious women in
Australia in education, health, care for the aged, pastoral
welfare, and the disadvantaged has been to varying
degrees acknowledged, but the history of particular groups
including the Goulburn Mercy Sisters is not always well
documented. Formal records are often fragmentary,

and some of the history is recorded only in memory and
tradition.

The Spirit of the Sisters of Mercy
Idenufyving particular qualities that define the Sisters of
Merey is not simple, though in their own writings the term
used most is “Spirit” — they write of the Spirit of Mercy,
or of the Foundress, Catherine McAuley, or of the Rule and
Constitutions she had written.

vii



Catherine hersell and the early days of the Instutute she
had founded were in the living memory of the Sisters who
came to New South Wales. They were committed to the
Merey Spirit, and expressed this in hives that although
bound by their vows, were resilient, optimistic and
adventurous. They had experienced hard times in Ireland,
Some of the Goulburn group had known the harsh vears
of famine and others had worked with victims of cholera
during the epidemic of the 1850s. They were familiar with
and inspired by the missionary foundations that the Mercy
Sisters had already established in England, America and
elsewhere in Australia, as well as the Sisters” work in the
Crimea. Their links back to Ireland were strong but none
of them ever returned there. Their attachment now was
to the Rule and Constitutions and to the Australian mother
houses of Goulburn, Albury and Yass.

The Goulburn Mercies grew into a group whose members
have largely been drawn from regional and rural New
South Wales and Victona, and their work has caused
them to move around among a variety of cities, towns

and villages. In all their work they have demonstrated
practical, down to earth energy and a certain fearlessness
in looking to the future.

Throughout 150 vears they have undertaken new works

as needs were identified, working within rather than
against the system, clerical or state, to achieve the desired
end — a new school, a changed curriculum, beuer care for
neglected children, the sick and the aged. As circumstances
changed they too have made changes, withdrawn, and
handed work to others, always striving to ensure that the
enterprises they were handing on had been well

managed. In most cases they have not sought publicity or
even acknowledgement for the work they have undertaken
and once a work has been completed they have shown little
interest in retaining a record of their presence.

However they were not always so detached in matters
relating to the internal life of their own Congregation and
their relation to other Mercy Congregations. A feature of
Catherine McAuley’s vision was that as new houses were

World distribution of the Sisters of Mercy
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established they became autonomous. So Albury, founded
from Goulburn, was independent of 1t, and Yass, founded
from Ireland was independent of both its mother house
and the exisung Mercy communities in the Goulburn
Diocese, In 1907 the three foundations amalgamated

but this was in reality only a token merger, with each of
the constituents retaining as much of its own identity as
possible, attempting in eflect to maintain the tradition of
autonomy. They were perhaps concerned that external
changes may bring changes to the Merey Spirit.

As with their response to the 1907 amalgamation many
Sisters initially regarded the prospect of closer unity with
other Mercy Congregations through membership of the
Australian Union of the Sisters of Our Lady of Mercy
(1954) with some caution, but the changes it brought were
in fact embraced as were those that followed when the
Congregation became a member of the Institute of the
Sisters of Mercy Australia,

The Sesquicentenary Exhibition

The Committee of Sisters created to plan the events to
mark the sesquicentenary of the arrival of the Sisters in
Goulburn decided to include an exhibiton presenting
aspects of their life and history. This would travel to some
of the main centres of their work — Goulburn, Albury,
Yass and Young. They sought curators from outside their
own Community, and Nancy Clarke and Claudia Hyles
undertook this task under the overall guidance of the
Committee Chair, Sister Frances Fitzpatrick rsm.  Full
access to all records available was provided 1o the Curators,
as well as much specialist advice and information.

The exhibition, designed to be highly portable, needed to
appeal to several audiences — the Sisters themselves, the
extended Catholic community including former students
and colleagues, people for whom the Sisters of Merey have
cared, students at schools where the Sisters have worked,
and members of the general community with an interest in
education and welfare.

Introduction
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Catherine McAuley (1778-1841)
and the Sisters of Mercy



Catherine McAuley (1778-1841

and the Sisters of Mercy

On 12 December 1831 in a solemn religious ceremony
in Dublin Ireland, three women, middle-aged Cathenne
Elizabeth McAuley and two voung companions, vowed
“perpetual poverty, chastity and obedience, and to persist
until the end of [their] life in the Congregation called

of [sic] the Sisters of Mercy, extablished [sic] for the
Visitation of the Sick Poor, and charitable instruction of
poor females”. Each took a new name in religion, and
Catherine became Sister Mary Catherine.

The three new Sisters returned immediately to the Dublin
house that Catherine had built as a House of Mercy in
1827. This house now became the first Convent of Merey.

From an early age Catherine had been drawn to care [or
the “poor, the sick and the ignorant”, and on inhenting

a lortune she enacted her plan to build a large house in
central Dublin which she would use as a school, as a refuge
for homeless young women “of good character”™, and as a
base for visiing the poor, the sick and those in prison.

Although a deeply committed Catholic she was not
attracted to the life of a nun, but her work and personality
attracted a number ol well educated young women who
joined her in Baggot Street. Increasingly they lived as

a community and adopted many of the customs and
practices of convent life.

The group attracted criticism as well as admiration but

the Archbishop of Dublin, Daniel Murray, knew that
pressing social needs were being met, and approved of the
way this was being done. He encouraged Catherine to
formalise her group as a religious community although not
an enclosed one. The new Congregation received approval
from Rome in 1835, and their Rule was approved in 1841,
Just months before Catherine’s death.

There was great need in nineteenth century Ireland for

the work the Sisters undertook, and the decentralised
structure that Catherine had developed was appealing to
the Bishops. Requests for new communities poured in, and
by the ume of Cathenne’s death there were twelve Mercy
foundations in Ireland, and two in England.

The work of the Sisters with Florence Nightungale in

the Crimea, and the support of eminent people like The
Liberator, Damel O'Connell, enhanced their reputation,
but much of their appeal came from recognition that they
were authentically meeting a need of the time.

Chapter One: Catherine McAuley and the Sisters of Mercy

Providing Counsel
Clare Augustine Moore (1808-1880)

Each of the Houses became in turn the source of new
foundauons — at first in Ireland and England. and then
quickly across the world in Newfoundland, the United
States, Australia, New Zealand and South Amenca. Later
communities were established in Central Amenca. the
Caribbean, Oceania, Asia and Africa.

In 1846, Sister Ursula Frayne founded the first
Australian house in Perth and [rom there she established
the Melbourne house in 18537, The next Australian
foundation was in Goulburn New South Wales in 1859,

Clare Augustine Moore (1808-1880)



Catherine McAuley

We have no image of Catherine McAuley taken from life.
A sculpture was made immediately after her death and

we have recollections, such as the perceptive description
written by Sister Clare Augustine Moore. She met her first
in 1829, when Catherine was [ilty. and later wrote:

She was very fair with a brilliant color on her cheeks, stll not
loo red. f:’r!_ﬁ{r':' weas a short oval but e contour was fﬂr':fr'a'f.
Her lips were thin and her mouth rather wide, yet there was
so much frf:f:' and r.trl'm'-.-.a'ru.' about it that I remarked 1t as
the next agreeable feature in her face. Her eves were light blue
and remarkably round with the brows and lashes colorless bt
they spoke. In repose they had a melancholy beseeching look;
then 1 would light up expressive of really hearly fun, or if she
disapyproved of anytlang they could tell that foo.

A number of short biographical sketches written by Sisters
who knew her, sunvve. A few were letters, but most were
written as official records for different Communities.
Together they give an invaluable, though incomplete
picture of Catherine’s life and personality.

We hear her voice in her own extensive correspondence.,
Owver 250 ol her letters survive, most of them o members
of her Institute, but others are 1o her brother, nephews, the
Archbishop, the Pope, her solicitor and wradespeople. The
tone varies but to her Sisters she was typically personal and
encouraging, delighting in composing humorous verse, a
tradition that has persisied in the Congregation.

III.'P' \"i‘ L s i.."\- ill.“f! I‘[{'Ht\(t i‘” [hi' |'Il|.h.'|'lil:ln:‘. 1:_][1 II[‘I' "‘\';‘t}.'lilll:"'i“.
maxims and mstructions, recorded from recollection or
notes, and gathered and published in different formats
after her death.

Catherine McAuley (1778-1841)
Foundress of the Sisters of Mercy

[ A : S e o )
Mazxims & Counsels by Catherine McAuley (1900)

Mother Mary Catherine McAuley by Eily MacAdam (1938)
Theughts from the Spiritual Conferences by Catherine McAuley
(1946)

Chapter One: Catherine McAuley and the Sisters of Mercy



Our Lady of Mercy

_ e e e e — i

The Sisters of Mercy have special devotion to Our Lady. The image was copied [rom a fresco in the Church of San

She is the “principal Patroness™ of the Congregation and Pudenziana in Rome, and depicts Mary crowned, and

her Feast Day 15 24 September. seated on a throne, with the Christ child on her knee.  The
pose 1s regal, with Mary looking directly out to the viewer.

In 1890 Pope Leo XIII conferred an image of Mary In her right hand she holds a standard surmounted by a

Mother ol Mercy on the Congregation as the “proper Cross. The child sits erect and also looks directly forward.

emblem” for the entire Order,

b

Chapter One: Catherine McAuley and the Sisters of Mercy



The Rule

For the newly formed Congregation to be recognised as
an ofhicial religious mstitute within the Catholic Church it
needed an approved Rule that identified its character and
purpose, and established the way its members lived and
managed themselves.

Catherine McAuley wrote a first version of the Rule

in 1833, adapting it from the Rule of the Presentation
Sisters. In it she identified the particular character of
the new Congregation as “a most serious application to
the Instruction of poor Girls, Visitation of the Sick, and
protection of distressed women of good character™.

Archbishop Murray of Dublin first edited and then
endorsed the handwritten document. It was sent o
Rome, translated into Italian and on 6 June 1841 the Rule
and Constitutions of the Religious Called Sisters of Mercy was
approved by Pope Gregory XVI. Unuil 1863, when an
approved translation back into English was published in
Dublin, copies in English were handwritten by the Sisters,
with some variations in wording. Sister Clare Augusune
Moore created a wonderful illuminated version for the
Dublin community.

The Goulburn foundation (1859) precedes the first printed
editions of the Rule, so any copies brought to Goulburn
would have been handwritten. How many there were and
what became of them is not known, A small handwritten
copy in the Goulburn Archives may have been one of these
but there is no firm evidence for this. It does however
have a link back to the Westport community from which
Goulburn was founded in that it is inscribed with the name
of Sister Paula Cullen, Foundress of Westport.

A large handwritten copy of the Rule was brought from
Rochfortbridge in Ireland by the founding Sisters of Yass
in 1875. By this time, printed copies of the Rule were
available, but it seems clear that this handwritten copy
was specially made for the departing Sisters, as a gift

and remembrance. Only two thirds of the copying was
completed — the text of Chapter XXII is included, but not
its chapter heading Of the Care of Sick Sisters and of Suffrages
Jor the Dead. and the remainder of the Rule is not included.
strongly suggesting work done against a deadline but
unable to be finished in time.
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Catherine McAuley's 1833 Rule

16 THE RULE AND COXSTITUTIONS OF
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Crista, non =i csonterante dagli

‘esercizj comuni sonza In di bei

lietnzs, eoccttuats in un caso di
pressante urgenza, e se allors
o sEnng avere pecesso alla
medesima, ne In faranno oon-
sapevole delln causa della lore
asscngn quantoprimi; obbodi-
ranno ol swene deils campana
coma allavoesdi Dio.

CAPD VIIL

£oel pirebere e pavtulanil, e brstis
piene, ¢ profesaioue Loro,

1. Quelle che vorranne ab-
hracciare questa Congrogazio-
no saranno ssaminale Figuirds
alla loro voeaziones dal Vescovo
o da un Sacerdote do ui dede-
gate, ¢ anlin Madre Superiorag
so smrnnno ammesse nel Mo-
nasbero, vi FIGATTRURO  SOOW
postarlanti per sch mesi, o im-
picghoranno il vro tempo, sie-
eome arannn dircite,

o e la oo condotta do-
Fanto il detts temnpeo sard umile,
& sonforme alls spidite della
Conprogneione, sark lore Enr-
mesza di fivre la petizions dell’
sbito religioso nel capitolo, o
a0 il magmior pumers del votd
segreti sark [avorevole, saranng

or disagreeable.  They  shall
never murmur, but with ho-
mility and spiriteal joy ea
i !-.:'Nl }'ﬂEu of Jctjﬂhﬁ
They shiall not shseat thomselves
from the Commen FExercises
without ler leave, exeept ina
case of presdng urgency, and
if thoy cannot then have aootss
to ber, they shiall wake known
to her the reason of their ab-
sence at tho earlicst oppor-
tunity. They shall obay the
call of the bell as the voice
of God.

CHAPTER VIIL

&f the Hreeglion of Postalants.
their Elathimg and Prelsston,

1. Suchas desire to embrace
this Congrogation, shail leo
previously  examined  with
regard to their voeatlon
tho Biskiop, or & Pricst delopn-
tod by him, and by the Mother
Buperior, If admivied into
l-leHDrl.Ml.nrrf. l]u"_r shall eon-
tinne Pestulan s for six months,
and employ tseir time os shall
b il

% If their conduoet doring
thia timo ba humble and con-
formallo 1o the spirit of the
Con fioi, they shall b
nﬂnwﬁm solicit in Chaptertho
Roligiozs Flabig, wnd if  the
wajority of voies (which must
bo secroby bo in ir favour
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The Rule & Constitutions of the Religious called Sisters of Mercy
In ltalian & English 1883

Chapter One: Catherine McAuley and the Sisters of Mercy
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Handwﬂn ' inseribed with the name of Sister Paula Cullen, This may have been
brought to Goulburn from Iréland by the new community. Sister Paula Gullen, first Superior at
Wastport, accompanied the Goulburm-bound Sisters as far as the Port of Liverpaal in 1859,
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Handwritten Rule
This copy of the Rule was brought from Rochfortbridge in lreland by the
founding Sislers who came to Yass in 1875. By this time, printed copies of
the Rule were available but this handwritten copy was probably specially
made for the departing Sisters as a gift and remembrance,

Chapter One; Catherine McAuley and the Sisters of Mercy .



Applying the Rule

The Rule and Constitutions were binding on the Sisters,
but were open to interpretation.

Two frequently consulted publications helped address
this problem. The Guide for Religious Called Sisters of Mercy
explained each section of the Rule. It was particularly
consulted during the novitiate, the period of training
before Sisters made their vows. A shorter practical guide,
Customs and Minor Regulations of the Religious Called Sisters of
Mercy, gave detailed instructions on matters like praver,
behaviour, dress, and how the day was to be spent.

The Sisters were readily recognised by their “uniform”,
the habit, which was first worn when they were received
as Sisters of Mercy. The habit had been adopted by
Catherine McAuley for her new Congregation, and was
worn by all Sisters of Mercy although in many places
including Australia it was most unsuitable, Strict rules
governed the fabric, style, construction and wearing of the
habit. On the wall of her bedroom each Sister had a copy
of the praver to be said when putting on the habit.

Sisters wore a pocket watch and conscience beads,

which were hidden under the guimp. The number 166

is engraved on the back of the watch depicted. As an
indicator of the detachment from worldly possessions that
the vow of Poverty expressed, objects held by Sisters were

identified only by a number and not the name of the Sister.

After the death of a Sister, this number was given to a new
member of the community.

A large Rosary hung from the belt or cincture. The
distinctive Mercy Cross was made of ebony and ivory,
without a figure — a reminder to the Sisters that through
their vows they placed themselves on the Cross.

On making their final vows, Sisters receive a silver ring, a
sign ol consecration. Engraved on the ring is the Sister’s
motto which appears on her Act of Profession.

Rosary with original Mercy Cross

Aids to Prayer throughout the Day

Chapter One: Catherine McAuley and the Sisters of Mercy



Walking Nuns

Traditionally nuns had lived in enclosure and for many
Catholics the notion that they might go outside the convent
and work among the poor and sick was positively offensive,

In the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries three
Congregations were founded in Ireland to work outside the
convent among those in need — the Presentation Sisters.,
the Irish Sisters ol Charity, and the Sisters of Mercy.

Catherine McAuley was aware of the possibility that

the presence of her Sisters in the streets could be
misunderstood, and the Rule provided clear instructions
about the way the Sisters should walk when visiting the
sick: “No Sister shall go out unless she be accompanied by
another Sister - the greatest caution and gravity shall be
observed in the streets; walking neither wo slow nor in a
hurried pace; not stopping o converse with, or salute those
whom they meet.”

Nevertheless, those who disapproved of the Sisters working
outside the convent called the Sisters of Charity “Walking

Nuns” to distinguish them from “real nuns”.
term was also applied to the Merey Sisters. Although

Later the

originally a derogatory term, for the Sisters it became a
badge of honour which has now been incorporated into
the logo for the sesquicentary of the Congregation.

Not everyone disapproved. In late 1840, Catherine wrote
to Sister Frances Warde on the suitability of cashmere
cloaks, adding:

Winle providing for the head and shoulders, do not neglect
the poor feel, to which the Repealer [Damiel O’Connell] has
drrected particular altention — O’ Connell’s speech at a public
dinner — Carrick-on-Suir ... “Look at the Sisters of Mercy
heay, hear — wrapped in their long black cloaks, they are
seen gliding along the streets, in this humble attive, while a
stight glance at the foot shews the educated Lady . ... This
afforded great amusement here — each claiming for her foot the
tribute of praise.

Chapter One: Catherine McAuley and the Sisters of Mercy

In another letter she gives a slightly different version of this
story, adding:

They [the Ststers in Dublin] have lately made some very nice
cloth Bools, and pol them soled and (g‘wd _'f:'apprrf wath
leather. When finished they do nol cost quate 4 siallings. Dear
Sister M. de Sales commenced the work, and it now goes on
rapidly. They are exceedingly neal & warm — any kind of
stocking wnll do. [ have been long recommending these home
made Bools, both for neatness and economy.

Clearly these home-made boots were valued as cost-savers
all that walking meant that [ootwear wore out quickly.

e S W REAR ! |
Sister Jude visiting someone in need in Albury in the 1980s
- continuing the tradition of the “Walking Nuns®
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In late April 1859 the Sisters of Mercy at Westport in
Ireland were invited to provide a group ol Sisters for the
grm\'inu town of Goulburn New South Wales. Sister
Ignatius Murphy was chosen to lead the new community:
Sisters de Pazzi D iphin, de Sales Meyler, Stanislaus
Maxwell, Ligouri Mooney and Rose Hughes. They acted
quickly, leaving Westport for the long journey on 28 June,
Archbishe P |'(':'|lﬁl'i_i;. whose diocese still covered all of New
South Wales, welcomed them 1o Sydney and travelled
with them o Goulburn. They arnved in Goulburn on 28
October 1859,

Work on building a convent and school lagged unul the
energetic and visionary Father Michael McAlroy was
transferred to Goulburn from Yass. By 1862 the first part
of the convent was occupied, followed the next year by
completion of the school and the Chapel. Over the next
few vears eight more women joined the group. The first in

1860 was Australian-born Catherine Donovan,

.ﬁ'lbﬁry -(;‘-.l.}n'd'ﬂl'-lt. ;

In 1868, the new Bishop of Goulburn, Dr Lanigan,
transferred Father MeAlroy to Albury and he asked

that a band of Merey Sisters accompany him. From

the expanded Goulburn community, two members of

the pioneer group, Sisters Ignatius and de Sales — with
Camillus O’Donnell and Xavier McDonnell — volunteered,
arriving in Albury on 22 July 1868. Here again they hived
and worked in makeshilt conditions until a school and

convent were built,

Rapid growth of the Catholic population brought the need
for more priests and sisters than the local community could
provide. In 1874 Father McAlroy was in Ireland seeking
more Sisters for the Diocese ol Goulburn. The Sisters from
the convent at Rochfortbndge in north-eastern Ireland
volunteered with enthusiasm, but finalising arrangements
for their departure for Yass took over a year.

Chapter Two: Goulburn, Albury, Yass

Goulburn Convent

On 29 December 1875, Sisters Paul Fielding, Alacoque
MecLaughlin and Bernard Grennan, along with four young
women intending to join the new Merey community;
arrived in Yass to an enthusiastic reception of citizens and
indigenous people.

These three foundations, operating independently ol one
another, thrived. Twenty new convents were established in
southern New South Wales, one in Tasmania, and schools
and orphanages were opened.

In 1907, following a recommendation from Rome, and
with the active encouragement of Bishop Gallagher of
Goulburn, the three groups agreed to come together

as one Congregation. On 27 November 1907, Bishop
Gallagher appointed Sister Brigid Hartneu from Goulburn

as the first “Mother General of the Sisters of Mercy in the
Diocese of Goulburn™ and the first General Chapter in
1908 confirmed her appointment.

Yass Convent



Goulburn

The Annals of Mount Saint Mary Convent Westport provide a
vivid picture of the new mission to Goulburn, and of the
aroup of Sisters who volunteered for this work. In addiuen
to the narrative of events, there are biographical entries for
each of the six, incorporating information that was clearly
sent back to Ireland from Australia.

From these entries and the later histories of the Sisters it 1s
evident that this was a well-balanced group, with a range
of experience and talents. Most of them had experience
of working with victims ol the Westport cholera epidemic
of 1854 and were well prepared for a challenging life.
They also had the benefit of having lived and worked
together for they had all been received and professed in
Westport. In addition, Sister Ignatius Murphy, who had
been appointed Superior for Goulburn, had recently
completed a term as Superior at Westport, so the group
was accustomed to her authority.

Ienatius was the oldest (born in 1820), and with her
previous experience as Superior and before that as Bursar,
was well qualified for her new role. Her Assistant, Sister de
Yazz1 Dolphin, was her contemporary in religion and from
1855 had worked with Ignatius as Bursar of Westport. In
1851 both Sisters de Pazzi and de Sales Meyler (then a
very young novice) had been part of the group that had
established the convent at Ballinrobe in Ireland, so each
of these had had prior experience of the challenges of a
new foundation. OFf the others, Ligouri Mooney had been
professed for only two years, but was a little older when
she had entered. Stanislaus Maxwell was very young (only
about 23} but had been professed for four vears. Rose

S L e e — o — e ——wCnoew —

Hughes had been born in the United States but professed
in Westport, “a good and useful Lay Sister”. There are
glimpses of the personalities of the Sisters in the Annals,
particularly Ligouri, who suffered from homesickness, or at
least nostalgia, the Arrals saying “so warmly and devotedly
was she attached to the house of her Religious infancy that
her most enthusiastic wish was that everything she saw

al the Mount might be re-produced in Goulbourn [sic],

so that her new home would be different only in point of
lattude and longitude.™

One striking feature of this foundation is the speed with
which it progressed. The letter secking Sisters was received
on | April, and they left Westport on 28 June 1859. In the
Annals” account of their departure a most telling sentence
is “the Sisters had to take an enormous supply of coils,
guimps and underwear to last during this very trying
vovage as the ship possessed no facilities for laundry™.

Accounts of the departure of the Sisters from Ireland,
arrival in Australia and onward travel to Goulburn

are enthusiasucally recorded in the Sydney Catholic
newspaper, The Freeman’s fournal. In his sermon on their
arrival in Goulburn, Archbishop Polding

alluded in terms of gratulation to the advent in the district of
the Sisters of Merey. These talented ladies would devote a
large share of altention to the education of the children, and
he regarded their presence as a greal blessing. ... He pad a
high tribute to the liberality of the inhabitants of Goulburn,
and hoped they would follow it oul, and that within the next
fwelpe months the walls of the convent would be reared.

The Goulburn Convent, School and Cathedral, 1928
Qil painting by Wallace

10
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Within weeks the Archbishop had sought a land grant for
construction of a convent and school, but progress on the
site was slow. It was not unul Polding wransferred Father
Michael McAlroy from Yass to Goulburn that real progress
was made. Once in Goulburn he moved quickly, and was
responsible for the construction of the first of a series of
fine buildings — Saint Patnck’s Convent and the school
which later became Our Lady of Mercy College. The
Chapel built as part of this complex mcluded a plaque
acknowledging the Sisters’ gratitude to him. “PRAY FOR
THE REVd MIC.I MCALROY to Whose Exertions THE

SISTERS OF MERCY are Indebted for the Erecton of

Father McAlroy in the original Goulburn Chapel

Chapter Two: Goulburn, Albury, Yass

this CONVENT and CHAPEL A.D 1862.” In 1891 this
chapel was replaced with the beautiful building that still

stands.

The first Sister to enter the community in August 1860,
was Catherine Donovan (Sister Mary _Joseph), the daughter
of the wealthy Sydney merchant, Jeremiah Donovan. An
extended account of her reception including much of

the text of Father D'Arcy’s florid sermon was published

in The Freeman’s Journal on August 8 1860. Joseph spent
many vears as Superior of Goulburn’s first branch house at
Boorowa, which became the E:rlu*[i(‘ial‘}' ol the FeNenr l.\-it‘:.'
of members of her family,

-«

Ciborium brought to Goulburn in 1859
Inscription: Presented by the Vy Revd Dean Burke,
PP Westport, Co. Mayo, Ireland to the Sisters of
Mercy as a mark of his affection on their leaving
his parish for Australia July 1839. Hoping they will
pray for his soul.
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One of the first acts of the newly appointed Bishop

of Goulburn, William Lanigan, was to appoint Father
McAlroy as Parish Priest of the growing town of Albury
in 1868. Father McAlroy asked for a contingent ol Mercy
Sisters and two of the original Goulburn group, lgnatus
Murphy and de Sales Meyler, volunteered to start the
new Convent of Saint Bridget. Ignatius was appointed
Superior and de Sales her Assistant.

The other founding members were Sisters Camillus
O’Donnell and Xavier McDonnell who were among the
eight Sisters who had joined the Goulburn community
since 1859, and two other young women, Fanny McGrath
and Eliza Enright, who wished to join the community.

Their journey to Albury took six days. Along the way
they were welcomed by families whose daughters they
had educated at Goulburn. The first night was spent in
Yass, with some of the group staying at the home of Mr
and Mrs Owen Hilly. Two days later their daughter Jane
followed the Sisters to Albury, entering as their second eres
postulant and becoming Sister Bridget. The second night {cTS OF CHAPTER

OF MERQY
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they stayed at Jugiong where they were presented with a . el b
purse of sovereigns. Girls from the Sheahan family from ' SAINT BRIDGET'S.
Jugiong had been among the first group of boarders at

ALBURY, N.S.W.

Goulburn. The Sisters were also welcomed generously at
1 - a1 H ] . 3
Gundagai and Germanton. . AUSTRALIA.

The group arnived in Albury on 22 July 1868, and as at
Goulburn, stayved in the Presbytery which was vacated

for them undil their convent was built. Conditions in
Albury appear to have been even more primitive than at
Goulburn. On 24 July a Reception Ceremony was held for
Fanny McGrath (Sister Joseph).

On 26 July Bishop Lanigan and Bishop Matthew Quinn of
Bathurst laid the foundation stone for the new convent and

on that occasion £1,770 was subscribed towards its cost. Acts of Chapter - Convent of Our Lady of Mercy, Saint Bridget's
The indefangable Father McAlroy raised the remaining Albury, N.5.W. Australia

funds and a fine complex of buildings was opened in 1870,
and lurther extended a few years later. The Chapel was
opened in 1879 and includes a stained glass window and a
marble plague in honour of Father McAlroy.

12 Chapter Two: Goulburn, Albury, Yass



Albury Convent Jubilee
Taken in 1918 outside Albury Convent on the S0th anniversary of the arrival of the Sisters of Mearcy in Albury

{‘.h;t]nrr Two: Goulburn, ."\"mr'_-.'. Yass
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Yass
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A romantic story is associated with the foundation of the
Yass community of the Sisters of Mercy. In 1873 Bishop
Lamgan had sent Father McAlroy o Ireland to seek Sisters
for is Dhocese. He had recruited a group of Presentation
Sisters for Wagga Wagga, but shortly before his departure
for Australia he was caught in a great storm, and sought
refuge at the Convent of Mercy at Rochfortbridge. He
spoke of the need for Sisters in Yass, especially to minister
to its indigenous people — and immediately all of the
Sisters volunteered! Some months later Bishop Lanigan
wrote formally to Bishop Nulty in Meath, Ireland, asking
for a foundation of Sisters for Yass.

A lengthy period of negotiation between the bishops
followed, Whether from natural caution or because of
reports of the difficult conditons that Sisters in Australia
had experienced, Bishop Nulty sought a series of
guarantees — that the Sisters would be provided with “A
Proper Residence, Maintenance, Daily Mass and To be
accompanied by a Priest”. In February 1875 Lanigan
wrote, somewhat huffily, “When asking nuns to come
into this Diocese, I considered myself bound to see
them provided with what vour Lordship requires” and
then details the provision that would be made for them.
“Should anything be wanted I hold mysell responsible”
he added, with a cajoling plea at the end that the Sisters
would be sent “for the old Faith”.

The delays meant that this group had time to make beuer
preparations than the eadier one. The Rochfortbridee Annals
for August tell us that “M. M. Stanislaus and S. M. Paul
[having gone to Dublin] have to select some pianos and
harmoniums for the foreign missions and afterwards they
intend visiting some of the convents in the neighbourhood
of Dublin hoping that some of the young lady boarders
would have vocations and would join as postulants for
Yass.” 'They left Rochfortbridge on 21 August, and

from London on the Gainsborough — which had such a
large passenger list as to make the ship uncomfortably
overcrowded.

On 29 December 18735, Sisters Paul Fielding, Bernard
Grennan and Alacoque McLaughlin and four young Irish
women arrived in Yass to a grand reception including

a welcome by the indigenous leader. Until a convent

was built, Dean O’Keefe gave up the Preshytery to
accommodate the Sisters.
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Just three days after their arrival, Margaret Nally, one of
the young women who had come from Ireland, formally
entered the Yass community as a postulant, later becoming
Sister M Berchmans. The other three — Catherine Leahy,
Anastasia Mullaly and Ellen O’'Neill - were ceremonially
received as novices on 30 April 1876, becoming Sisters
Xavier, Joseph and Stanislaus.

In December 1877 the Sisters took possession of their new
Convent, Mount Carmel.

Like Ignatius Murphy, Paul Fielding had true missionary
zeal. In 1887 the new Diocese of Wilcannia was
established in the far west of New South Wales, with John
Dunne, a hfelong friend of Paul’s, as the first Bishop. He

wanted a group of Mercy nuns and Paul, with six others
from the Yass community; left for Wilcannia in July 1890.
Later one of them, Gertrude Grogan, wrote a biography
of Paul, Lif¢ Story of a Valiant Woman.

The Yass Founders, Paul Fielding, Bernard Grennan and Alacoque
McLaughlin - 1875

Chapter Two: Goulburn, Albury, Yass
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Amalgamation

The first Rule of the Sisters of Mercy was based on the
monastic tradition, and when new houses were established
they became independent of the mother house, each with
its own superior and house of formation or novitate.
However from the beginning there were exceptions: very
small houses and those close to a mother house might be
established as branch houses, and this practice increased as
nme went on.

Although Albury was founded from Goulburn it followed
the original tradition of autonomy, and Yass too followed
suit, even though the three houses were at that time

all within the same Diocese.  In the latter part of the
nineteenth century each of them founded a series of
branch houses. In 1906 advice was received that the Papal

Amalgamation of the Sisters of Mercy 1907
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administration regarded “amalgamation of the various
communities of the same order in each Diocese under one
Superior General.... [as] opportune”. Bishop Gallagher
of Goulburn called a conference of representatives from
the three head houses, and after deliberation all members
agreed in 1907 to amalgamate to form one Congregation.
Mother Brigid Hartnett from the Goulburn house
became the first Mother General of the amalgamated
Congregation. She served in this role for two periods
each of twelve years, with a short break between 1919
and 1923, finishing her second term in 1935. Although

a central novitiate and Generalate were established,

the amalgamation was kept as loose as possible, and for
many vears the Sisters maintained a primary loyalty to
Goulburn, Albury or Yass.

Sister Brigid Hartnett
First Mother General of the Amalgamated Houses of the Sisters of Mercy
in the Diocese of Goulburn

Chapter Two: Goulburn, Albury, Yass
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Life as a Sister of Mercy

On entering the Convent, Sisters of Mercy undertake
a regulated life as members of a Community that is
governed by the Congregation’s Rule and Constitutions.

From the carliest days of the Congregation, each
foundation - head house and branch houses — operated
autonomously of others, and was led by an elected
Superior. A small group of elected adwisers, Assistant
Superior, Bursar and Mistress of Novices, assisted the
Superior in governing the Community:
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The structure, the lormal Rule and Constitutions, and the

less lormal but crucial Customs and Minor Regulations were
intended to ensure that each member was formed and
guided spiritually, that the work of the Congregation and
the local Community was carried out, that members of the
Community lived harmoniously and that the Congregation
continued to grow and develop.
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Decisions specified by the Rule such as election of the
Superior, and admission of new candidates, were made at
meetings of Chapter, where professed Sisters cast votes.
Other decisions were made by the Superior, independently
or with the assistance of her advisers at Council meetings.

Although the Sisters governed themselves, they

worked within the boundaries ol a diocese, and at a
more immediate level within a parish. Close working
relationships with bishops, priests and local communities
were essential for a religious community to thrive,

Each foundation established its own novitate where the
critical work ol formation of new Sisters took place.
Novices quickly became accustomed to the daily life of a
Sister, governed by an horarium - a daily schedule - that
specified times for all activities spiritual and temporal.

The ongoing spiritual development of Sisters was assisted
by daily prayer, spiritual reading, commumuty life and
regular retreats - periods of intense concentration on
spiritual life.
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However, religious houses also needed to operate in a
practical sense — buildings had to be constructed and
maintained, income generated and bills paid, As
congregations grew the tasks became increasingly complex
and sound financial management skills and record keeping
became even more important.

Convent buildings needed to be practical and appropriate.
Catherine McAuley had been very particular about this.
Basic, decent living conditions were provided but any nich
ornamentation was limited to the Chapel. For the Sisters,
living and sleeping arrangements were spare, with no
luxuries. Fine china, linen and silverware were kept for
visitors, especially the Community chaplain.

CMIGHTY AND MOST LOVING. FATHER, \NDER
M. THE GUIDANCE OF THE HOLY SPIRIT

3 1. KERRY JOSEPHING SHOEMARK, FREELY GHOORE

WMEMWMMMW%?

UNION OF THE SISTERS OF MERCY. I BIND MYSELF T0
JESUS umm AND HIS REDEMPTIVE MISGION.
IN YOUR HANDS, SIBTER MARY TOHN KEENAN,
MY PROVINCIAL SUPERIOR, I VOW CHASTITY, POVERTY
AND OBEDIENCE, UNTIL DEATH, ACCORDING TO THE
ONSTITUTIONS.
MAY CHRIST WHOSE WAY 1 NOW CHOOSE. BY

THE HELP OF THE HOLY SPIRIT, AND THROUSH THE
PRAYER OF MARY, ENABLE ME T0 CARRY OUT THE

CONSEGRATION T HAVE MADE.

SIGNED: --i.r‘l:.-r_.."'_ oY L
WITHESSES L. L4
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ﬂluct of Profession - Kerry Shoemark 1979
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Some Sisters spent nearly all their lives in one house, but
increasingly mobility between houses has become the
practice, allowing for community change and renewal.

At life’s end Sisters are buried where they die, and this
is why the Goulburn sisters are buried in twenty five
locations,

- e
——n

¥, ««1» Z
>, v Cor 3, :
-—:@ﬁ Vet of, Heneival=-

ﬁ['[t]l u{ lqll m ;

;:u 8tk |HII_HI tn’mﬁl{ﬁ

o) mu.lrmt
| .| MI-

,.Jﬂ'PfI-'ttthm mnst "'l':'ﬂu rfu_;

B hmhﬁtﬁﬁ Lhrmﬁ t&fmtsé ks O

gyt e geace by Fultil Hest nbimk:tms s ’Gﬁm

Act of Renewal - Benedict Tanner

Chapter Three: Life as a Sister ol Mercy



Maintaining the Mercy Way

The Mercy communities established in Australia were
autonomous of the original house in Dublin and of one
another, but closely bound by the Rule and tradition, In
each new foundation the pattern of the Mercy Sisters’ way

ol life was quickly established, with bound Acts of Chapter

recording major decisions ol the new communities.

As already described, each new foundation ook with

it the Mercy Rule and Constituttons. As communitics
developed, and as the provisions of Canon Law required,
each Congregation was expecied to make appropriate
adjustments to the text of what was now called the
Constitutions and submit it to Rome for approval.

The amalgamation of the three houses of Goulburn,
Albury and Yass required alterations to be made to the
original Rule, and minimal changes were approved in
1908, It was not until 1930 that a fuller revision for
Goulburn was developed and approved, and this in turn
brought with it the need for adjustments to the Customs and
Minor Regulations used in the Goulburn communities,
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The new versions provide telling evidence ol the Goulburn
Sisters’ unwillingness to move too far from their roots in
Dublin at least with regard to the Rule.

Although incorporating what were considered essential
changes, both the 1930 Constitutions and the 1931 Customs
remain close to the originals in wording and organisation,
and the Council Minute of April 11 1931 confirms that
this was intentional: “The object of the Meeting was to
deal with changes in the Customs of the Srs. of Mercy of
the Amalgamated Houses. The copy [of the Customs] was
that which came from Baggot Street Convent, Ireland.
After much discussion it was decided to make as few
changes as possible in the original text. In fact none but
absolutely necessary changes were made™. In reality the
changes were so minimal that the newly revised documents
were still full of inconsistencies and anachronisms.

A feature of the Goulburn Congregation particularly after
the 1907 Amalgamation was the large number of branch
houses, Because the Constitutions and Customs made only
limited provision for these, separate rules for branch houses
were developed for Goulburn but no attempt was made to
incorporate them into the Constitutions lor many years,
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Becoming a Sister

Entering religious life has always been a huge commutment,

involving a lengthy period of formation and discernment,
following processes which are both formal and rigorous.

A practice encouraged by Catherine McAuley was that
Sisters setting out o form a new foundation should be
accompanied by one or more postulants. This had the
particular benefit that quite soon after the establishment
of the new house, the impressive ceremony of a Reception
would be held, encouraging the existing community
members and attracting positive public attention,

However, not all postulants proved suitable for the
Commumnity. This was the challenging situation that the
first group for Goulburn confronted. Adelaide Kirwan

Novices at St Michael’s Novitiate, Morth Goulburn - early 1960s
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travelled on the Saldanka with the professed Sisters and on
arrival sought entry as a Sister, but the very first Act of
Chapter of the new community records:

The first Chapter of this Community consisting of five Sisters
was held the 23rd of May 1860 to consult on admtting
Sister Adelaide Kirwin [sic] to receive the Holy Habil, The
Chapter decided in the negative.

The reasons are not known, but Sister Ignatius was now
faced with a dilemma. She had no legal responsibility for
Adelaide, but clearly felt a moral responsibility to provide
for her and sought the best outcome possible. In a leter
(marked Private) to Archdeacon McEncroe in Svdney,
dated 6 July 1860, she wrote:

L am sorry to have o ask you to perform for me rather an
unpleasant act of kindness.

The postulant we brought out with us, we found so totally
unswuiled for Religious life we could not possibly allow her
to receive the Holy [Habit] and she is anxious to return to
Treland We all feel this is the best course for her as I could
not conscientiously ask any Commumly in Australia fo admit
her The Dean and Father d’Arcy advised me to wrile to you
and ask you if you know of any family returning to Ireland
under whose care I could place her as the” not very young, I
would nol feel happy 1f she were without protection during
so long a voyage I think she could go in the second cabin
the entire expense will devolve on us, and under the present
circumstances, I must endeavor lo encur as little outlay as 1
Can ...

Progress to final vows as a professed Sister of Mercy

has varied slightly over the years. The following summary
15 taken {rom the 1930 Goulburn Constitutions and varnes
hittle from the onginal procedures.

Women interested in joining the Congregaton applied for
admittance as postulants. After a
were accepted as postulants for imtal formation under the
supervision of the Mistress of Novices. This role was one
of the most senior and important in the Congregation.
On entry, postulants signed an undertaking that they were
entering the Community freely. and would not expect or
request any wages or remuneration.  Alfter six months,
those who wished to continue asked to be received as
novices, and members of the Congregational Council
decided on their suitability through a secret ballot. In the
ceremony of Reception the novices were clothed in the
religious habit.

series of interviews they

Chapter Three: Lile as a Sister of Mercy
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Two full years of intensive formation and training in the
novitiate followed. Il judged suitable by the Council the
novice was admitted to Profession. received the full habat,
and made temporary vows lor a period ol three years.
i;’rr]n'lu'.ﬂ vows — final Profession — [ollowed, in a ceremony
at which the Sister recetved the Mercy ring. 'The vows

were renewed annually,

Before the 1907 amaleamation there were novitiates

m Goulburn, Albury and Yass, and lor a lew years, in
Wyalong, From 1909 all postulants and novices for the
Goulburn Congregation trained at St Michael's Novitate
in North Goulburn, a property bought for this purpose
and much extended later. This building also served as the
Congregational headquarters, where the Mother General

now known as the Congreganon Leader hved.

REGISTER OF PROFESSIONS

IN THE
CONVENT OF OUR LADY OF MERCY

8* PATRICKS. GOULBE RN
ESTABLISHED
2T"MOCTOBER 1859

Goulburn Register of Professions - 1859
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Living the Religious Life

In their daily routine, Sisters have always integrated the
religious and practical aspects of their lives.

Unitil the 1970s their religious observances were numerous
and clearly prescnibed. Each part of the day was marked
by praver, [rom rising to bedtime. When a priest was
available they attended daily Mass. At dinner and supper
their meals were accompanied by reading from a spiritual
book. Two Examens were made daily. Prayers specific

to the Congregation were added to the regular prayers

of the Office and the Angelus.  Set times were allocated
for meditation. The Rosary was recited daily (often while
walking). On set days and seasons such as Lent additonal
prayers were added to the regular ones.

Since the changes after the Second Vaucan Council, this
set praver regime has become much more flexible, but
the expectation of regular praver and Mass attendance
remains, along with an emphasis on continuing
development in theology, scripture and spirituality.

Combining religious responsibilities with practical works,
particularly in structured environments like schools

and hospitals, requires energy and dedication and an
understanding of priorities. For Mercy Sisters, performing
the works of mercy takes precedence over additional
voluntary prayers,

The Convent chapel has always been central wo the lives
of the Sisters. Particularly in the larger houses it became a
place of great beauty as benefactors endowed stained glass

windows, church silver and vestments. Smaller houses had
simpler chapels, but they too were beautiful.

Seminar on the Renewal of Religious Life 1973

Candelabra from the original Goulburn Chapel

The personal and spiritual library of Sister Ellen Yates,
Congregation Archivist, who died in 2008, is now located
in the Congregation’s Heritage Room. A collection
gathered over a lifetime as a Sister of Mercy, it offers
fl'l:iight nto some of the sources on which the Sisters draw
for their spiritual nourishment and prayer.

Chapter Three: Life as a Sister of Mercy



Practical life

A religious congregation is a complex organism, with

both practical and spiritual matters to be addressed. The
clected Congregation Leader (known at various times as
the Superior or the Mother General) of the Goulburn
Mercies has overall responsibility for the task of leadership
and management. She is assisted by a Congregational
Council that represents all sections of the community.

The Minutes of Council Meetings from 1922 1o 1962 provide
aluable insights into the practical concerns of the
Congregation, This was a period of consolidation after
the pioneer period and before the many changes that
followed the Second Vatican Council. The minutes record
discussion of a wide range of matters.

An important recurring responsibility reported in the
minutes was the appointment of local Superiors to branch
houses. This was an increasingly complex task — in 1922
for instance there were twenty seven local Superiors.

Also mentioned are attempts to more closely amalgamate
the three original foundations; attempts to unify the various
Mercy Congregauons in New South Wales or the whole

of Australia; and attempts to standardise the Rule and the
Customs and Minor Regulations.

Practical issues are addressed — the decision to accept
responsibility for the Sacred Heart Hospital at Young, the
need for a trained nurse in larger communities, improving
the educational qualifications of the Sisters, the closure
of small schools and the consequent difficulties, plans for
expansion, the growth of commumsm worldwide, the
dearth of vocations, and management of property and
financial matters including the need to contain costs.

The challenges of managing the amalgamated community
can be deduced from the minutes. It is clear that the
practice of electing one Councillor from each of the
founding houses of Goulburn, Albury and Yass was
retained over this whole peniod, and that local afhihatons
remained very strong. The representatives from Albury
and to some degree Yass had difficulty in attending

the meetings, and the absence of the representatives is
recorded, with an occasional note of exasperation,

Chapter Three: Life as a Sister of Mercy

By the early 1960s change came more rapidly — more
schools closed as did the secondary sections of smaller
schools, a Hospital Training School was developed at
Albury, and in the very last entry in September 1962, the
Sisters’ prayers are asked for Archbishop O’Brien and
Bishops Cullinane and Henschke as they lefi for the first
meeting of the momentous Second Vatican Council in
Rome.
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Balancing the Books

Ensuring that new houses are financially viable has
always been required of Mercy Communities. “No new
Monastery shall be opened unless it have a certain [i.c.
reliable] revenue for its support™ and “the Bursar shall
keep an exact account, in writing, of all she reccives
and expends”, but balancing the books has often been a
delicate matter.

Meticulous records are required to be kept by even

the smallest communities and reports submitted 1o the
Congregational Bursar. The Congregational Archives
holds many handwritten account books. Some are for
large, comparatively complex communities including those
with boarding schools. Others are for very small ones, like
Barmedman, where one account book covers the period
from 1907 when it was founded to 1921 when it closed.

Barmedman Account Book 1907 —1921

The 1907 and 1921 entries are both signed off by Bishop
Gallagher. These financial records provide a window into
the preoccupations and daily life of the Sisters,

Although the Sisters have always lived remarkably
modestly, some income is required. In the past, regular
income was generated almost entirely from tuition fees
from schools and for “extras” like music or typing and from
interest earned from Sisters’ dowries. Bequests, donations
and money raised by fetes and bazaars were crucial for
funding new buildings and providing facilities and services.

A system of income sharing to support very small branch
houses was introduced as part of the 1907 amalgamation,
when a capitation [ee to support the Novitate was also
introduced.

Chapter Three: Life as a Sister of Merey



Getting on with the Clergy

A good relationship with both the local Bishop and the
local Parish Priest is essential for successful operation of
any convent. On the whole the clergy have been highly
appreciative of the work of the Goulburn Merey Sisters,
but there were occasional strains right from the start.

In 1839, although Dean Walsh vacated his presbytery to

provide accommodation for the Sisters when they arrived
in Goulburn, the relationship became increasingly uneasy,
Ignatius writing to Archdeacon McEncroe in 1860 “if’ we

were now entirely free from Dean Walsh we would be truly
grateful™. It appears that the Sisters were in fact caught in

crossfire between the Dean and his curate, Father D’Arcv.

A letter from Bishop Gallagher to Sister Stanislaus

()’ Neill, Mother Superior at Yass in February 1906
exemplifies some of the challenges and ways of dealing
with them. Since their arrival twenty years previously,
Dean O’Keefe had been wonderfully supportive of the
Sisters, providing them with accommodaton, building
the convent and schools, and facilitaung their work with
the Aboriginal people. However in 1906 he decided to
block access to some funds that Stanislaus had requested,
perhaps for another building project.  Bishop Gallagher
writes a judicious letter to Stanislaus, treating her as an
understanding equal.

1 took it for granted that the Dean would strive lo punish the
Ststers by every means in his power. You can see now that 1
was right. I feel convinced that he will not Consent to one
penny being drawn as long as he fves. And to force huim by

The Priest’s Parlour = a Reconstruction
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lawe would entarl an action in Faquaty which would exhaust
the whole Fund — Hence I fear you need not look to anything
more from this source during the life time of myself or the
Dean. But there is not any danger of the “Yass Money™ betng
ultimately lost. He wnll merely succeed in closing it up for a
fime.

I am sending you these two papers that you may keefr them
carefully, They may be required al a later date, while I, in
Journeying about am in danger of

lasing them.

His advice to “just wait” was sound: Dean O’Keefe lefi
Yass for Ireland that same year, never to return. It is not
known what happened to the money.

The Priest’s Parlour

Visitors to any ol the convents would be invited into a
reception room — a parlour — not into the convent proper.
A frequent guest was the priest who said daily Mass for the
Sisters and was normally offered breakfast afterwards. The
room where this meal was served became known as the
Priest’s Parlour. Larger convents may have had more than
one parlour, with a smaller room set aside as the Priest’s
Parlour.

Setting up breakfast for the priest acquired a ceremonial
status. The Sisters recall the care with which this needed
to be done. He someumes preferred to eat alone — “eges
and bacon and no nuns” — and the best china, silver and
handworked linen were kept for his use.
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Generous Benefactors:

Donovans, Ryans and Countless Others

From the beginning the Sisters have benefited from
generous gifts from many benefactors, some munificent like
those from the Ryan and Donovan families, some more
maodesi.

After the Sisters of Mercy came to Boorowa in 1882 John
Nagle Ryan of Galong Castle donated forty acres of his
Boorowa land to build the convent, and later his sister
Miss Anastasia Ryan not only provided generously towards
construction of the parish school at Galong, but also paid
the cost of building a boys’ boarding school there.

The brothers of Sister Joseph Donovan, the first Sister

to join the Goulburn community, and for many years
Supernior of the Mercy Convent at Boorowa, were equally
generous. In 1887 John Joseph Donovan paid nearly

£:2,000 to build the Boorowa parish school. In 1897 he
and his brothers paid for the construction of an oratory
at the convent. The superb stained glass windows and
the painted wooden altar from this chapel are now in the
Funeral Chapel of Tobin Brothers in Belconnen. On his
death _john Donovan bequeathed a further eleven acres
of land at Boorowa to the Sisters. Thomas, one of the
vounger Donovan brothers, left a generous bequest which
came to the Sisters and paid for the construction of a new
hospital in Cootamundra,

Countless others have provided for the Sisters in less grand
but equally kind ways, including those who during hard
times brought food to the back door of the convent, or at
the start of the school year, stocked the convent pantries
with groceries.

Sterling Silver and Ivory Trowel
Inscription: Presented to the Right Rev: J. Gallagher DD, Bishop of Goulburn by A. Ryan on the occasion of his blessing and laying
The Memorial Stone of the Galong Convent and School. J Sharkey, Rector May 5th 1910
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Food for the Household

With its roots in middle-
class nineteenth century
Ireland the Mercy
Congregation was not
surprisingly established
with two classes — choir
sisters and lay sisters. The

uneducated and performed
manual work. They were
idenufied by their modified
habit and they did not join
the choir sisters to say the
Ofhice. Sister Rose Hughes,
one of the Goulburn

Sister Zita Gilbert (1900-1996)

ploneers, was a lay sister:

It is not known how many of the Goulburn Sisters were
lay sisters, though the numbers would have been quite
small. Some entries in the Goulburn Acts of Profession
include the words “Lay Sister”, the first in 1872 and

the last in 1932, but this is not a uniform practice. The
chivision into two classes was formally abolished when the
new Constitutions of the Australian Union of Mercy Sisters
was approved in 1959, but in practice admitting women
as lay sisters had been discouraged in the Goulburn
Congregation for many years,

Sister Margaret Herrmann (1912-2005)

Chapter Three: Life as a Sister of Mercy

carly lay sisters were usually

As educational standards rose and the size and complexity
of schools, hospitals and orphanages increased,
opportunities presented themselves for responsible work
for Sisters whose talents did not lie in the classroom.
Sisters Zita Gilbert and Margaret Herrmann entered as
lay sisters, both spending many vears managing complex
domestic systems — Zita cooked for 120 children and lour
other Sisters at St Joseph's Orphanage at Thurgoona, and
Margaret supervised the kitchen in the Mercy Hospital at
Cootamundra. The skill, dedication and personalites of
these and other Sisters who work 1n the domesuc sphere
have acquired legendary status, receiving recognition both
within their religious communities and outside.
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A Convent Refectory

EEm——— e e e

Like members of other Catholic religious communities, During dinner and supper, one of the Sisters was rostered

Sisters of Mercy make vows of poverty, chastity and to read aloud to the Community from an appropriate

obedience. The Rule makes elear that these vows cover relizious book.

all aspects of life, and until the 1970s the way in which the

vows were expressed in daily life was formally defined. In a verse letter to Sister Ursula Frayne (October 1839),
Catherine McAuley reminds the voung Sister about

The requirement for simple and [rugal living combined simplicity in the refectory. Ursula has clearly asked

with the monastic tradition of communal dining in the for more elegant teacups to be sent from Dublin to

Sisters” dining room, the Refectory. There are detailed Booterstown, perhaps on the grounds that what they have

instructions for the Rt'fi'{'l::l"_.. in the Customs and Minor 1s unsuitable for wr\.'in;__{ the I]rir:&t_ but:

Regulations (1931 Goulburn edition): : .
Now as to the China, your taste musi be bad

{1t s our custom that in the Refectory there should be a table If you don’t like what we send, more than those that you
across the upper end, fo which are joined fevo more, parallel lo had. . .

cach other ... A reading desk, a shelf or small table to receive Here again holy poverty’s flitted away

the tin covers, elc., when removed, a few prctures on prous "Tis plain you want nothing in this but display.

subjects, and a crucifix, complele the firmture.
She softens this message by suggesting that provided the

There are drawers in our Refectory tables, but no Sister has any i . = - :
tea 15 “well made and of exquisite flavor” “good Father

ciify, plate, Spoon, knife, ete., reserved particilarly for hev i : L T :
: John"” won't notice the teacups, finishing with an extended

Except in the Infirmary, we do not use stloer plate, glass or joke about the risks associated with sending crockery
porcelain, even should a present of such be giwen to us to and fro between the two locations, and signing it ofT
We do not use tablecloths, but the Sisters are allowed Serviettes maternally “the affectionate Mother of Ursula Frayne™,

el meals,

Convent Refectory Table - A Reconstruction
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Holidays

The need for designated holidays was not recognised in the
Constitutions or the Customs of the Sisters, but within a few
vears of the establishment of the Congregation in Ireland,
a house was bought for Sisters for rest and convalescence
at the harbour town of Kingstown.

Sisters used to come “home™ to the mother house for the
annual retreat, and 1o some degree this would have been
a holiday. More formal holidays became possible for the
Goulburn community in 1914 when the uncle of Sister
Casimir Cranney presented Sister Brigid Hartett with

a seaside cottage at Cronulla, asking that it be used for
annual holidays. Bishop Barry clearly had reservations
about the dangers posed by what he saw as relaxing the
vow of poverty by recreational outings and beach holidays

i ¥
Sisters holidaying at Cronulla c.1970
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in particular. He had been invited to a meeting of the
Congregational Council (1st December 1928) and the
Minutes record: “His Lordship said he feared the danger
of a little laxity creeping in as regards Poverty through
Motor Car _Jaums. Also he remarked on the Rush w0
Svdney of Sisters during Vacation. Of course this did not
include visit to Doctor, or even a Sea side rest.”

The weatherboard cottage at Cronulla, known as “The
Retreat”™ was extended and later replaced by a modern
brick house. Holiday houses were bought by the Yass sisters
at Avalon, replaced by one at Manly, and by the Albury
sisters at Mornington, later at Mentone in Melbourne.
Sisters talk of simple, happy holidays at the seaside, when
the Rule was slightly relaxed.
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Always Occupied

Life as a Sister of Mercy is a busy one, not only because
ol the tasks to be done, but because of the Rule’s directive:
“the Sisters shall be careful never to indulge idleness, but
be always occupied in some useful work”,

The onginal daily schedule provided for two periods of
recreation, which the Community would spend together.
The Customs and Minor Regulations paint an evocative
picture:

It s our custom that the Commumty Room be furnished with
a tabie n the centre, with drawers, one of which ts usually
assigned to each of the Professed Sisters, and sufficiently

long to allow of all the Sisters, Postulants and Novices as
well as the Professed, assembling round it at recreation.
Chairs to serve all the Sisters, a frano ane € other musical
instrument, prnts, pantings, and sculpture on piows subjects,
matting beneath the table, and a hearth-rug, wniing desks,
and whatever else 1s needed for the manual works of the
Ststers.

A daily Spiritual Lecture was read, while handwork such
as needlework and the making and mending of the Sisters’
clothes continued. A library was provided, and a press in
which to put work, to maintain the “neatness which must
always be preserved in the Convent™.

The traditions established carly continued long, and fine
examples of needlework, tatting and crochet work were
and are stull created. Catherine McAuley's early habit of
wrnting humorous verse has become traditional in many
communities, and on special feast days the Sisters might
devise and present a concert.
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“Useful Work” in the form of Crochet and Tatting

I : » . .
lllustrated Booklet of Original Verse by Sister Francis O'Grady
{1933-1990)
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Being Invisible

Although the Sisters of Mercy were not enclosed, the
regulations and customs governing them made them
“invisible™ outside the convent. In the nineteenth century
few women were included in public life but the Sisters
wore the cloak of invisibility much longer than women in
general society.

At grand evenis like the foundation of a new house, or
the opening of new buildings, the presence of Sisters
was occasionally noted in the press, but all speeches were
made by others, tvpically the Bishop or the Parish Priest.
[n records of public meetings called to consider matters
directly relevant to them, they are not mentioned.

Books written by Sisters did not include an authonal
statement. This anonymity was traditional for most

: &~

Consecration of Children of Mary, Goulburn Convent Chapel - 1910

works by women untl the mid-nineteenth century, but as
late as 1925, Sister Gertrude Grogan’s biography of Paul
Fielding, Life Story of a Valiant Woman, did not carry her
name,

[t 1s in the photographic records that this invisibility 1s
most obvious. Early photographs of public and private
occasions show bishops, priests and important laymen from
the community. Later images show important women, but
not Sisters who were not seen even in photographs of
groups such as ex-students. School photographs do

not include the Sisters, though their unseen presence
admonishing good behaviour is often evident. It was not
until the 1960s that photographs of the Sisters became
accepted, and even later that they became common.

Even then, some Sisters resisted the lure of the lens.

The Children of Mary are in white veils and the Sisters are in black in the stalis at the sides.

Chapter Three: Life as a Sister of Mercy
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Travelling Light

As with other aspects of the Sisters’ lives, where they lived
as well as how they lived, was until the 1970s determined
within the context of the needs of the local community,
rather than the Sisters’ individual preferences.

Just how long a Sister stayed in a particular community
varied. One of the terms of the Amalgamation was that
as far as possible the Sisters would be appointed only to
houses associated with the parent house with which they
were associated. It was not until the appointment of Sister
Mary Majella as Mother General in 1931 that this practice
changed, to some disaflection.

A local Superior was appointed to each house for three
years though this term was sometimes renewed. Other
Sisters” appointments were made annually, usually not in
advance.

Each summer the Sisters would come “home” to make
their retreat and await an announcement of the house to
which they had been appointed. They would have brought
with them all their possessions {originally in a tin trunk,
later two suitcases) which they would then take with them
to their new house, travelling by train until much later
when a small number of cars was acquired for use within
particular communities.
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“Hurra for Foundations”

Catherine McAuley was an enthusiast for foundations; in one of her letters of 1841 she wrote
triumphantly “Hurra for foundatons, makes the old young and the young merry”, and within
fifteen years of her death there were 3000 Sisters of Mercy throughout the world.

The pattern of’ rapid expansion was repeated in southern New South Wales, driven primarily
by the need of religious schools. In 1907, at the commencement of the Amalgamated
Houses of the Sisters of Mercey in the Diocese of Goulburn, there were more than twenty
branch houses founded from Goulburn, Albury and Yass. More followed and eventually the
Goulburn Mercies established houses in thirty-six cities, towns and villages.

Recording the history of these foundations for the sesquicentenary celebrations was carried
out by a group of Sisters who undertook to bring up to date existing wnitten and oral histories
using text and photographs. "The images vary m age and quality and in some case there were
no photographs at all. Some houses had burnt down, others are now bed and breakfasts, or
have assumed different roles in Church and school life.

Entries in this chapter were written by Sisters Aileen Wailes, Barbara Murray, Bernice Keane,
(Gabrielle Maree Owen, Monica Purcell, Rosarii O’Connor and Ursula Drennan. Sisters
Chnistopher Ryan, Gwen Garland, Marganita Dully; Shirley Garland, and Associate in Mercy
Glona Geurts made further valuable contributions. Many others lent photographs and filled
gaps in the narrative.



Albury

Nine years after Mother Mary Ignatius Murphy and

the Sisters from Westport founded the Goulburn Mercy
Congregauon, Rev. Dr. Michael McAlroy; their great
benefactor and supporter, was appointed to Albury. He
invited the Sisters to establish a convent and school in
Albury. Mother Mary Ignatius Murphy, Sisters Mary
de Sales, Camillus and Xavier composed the group with
Fanny McGrath, a postulant newly arrived from Ireland
and two servants.  The 270 mile journey from Goulburn
took six days in two wagonettes and the Sisters arrived
on the grev wintry evening of 22 July 1868 to a warm
welcome from the townspeople.

The Sisters’ new home was the vacated presbyviery which
the ladies of the town had not had time to prepare.
Despite the rather chaotic start to their life in Albury, the
Sisters settled in quickly. On the hirst day children were
enrolled in infants, primary and secondary classes, Four
days alter the Sisters’ arrival, Jane Hilly arrived from Yass
to become a postulant and the foundaton stone to the new
convent was laid, to be completed in 1870. By October
three students became boarders and were soon joined by
three others, the six forming the nucleus of St. Joseph's
High School. Other ministries included visitaton of the
poor and the sick, instruction of adults and older children
in the faith and visitation and instruction of prisoners in
gaol.

There had been a denominational school in Albury
conducted by brothers, Messrs Simon and Peter Cullen, in
the 1860s. Between 1885 and 1898 the Patrician Brothers
taught the boys in a hall on the corner of Olive and
Smollett Streets. When they left Albury, the Mercy Sisters
taught the boys until 1917 when the Christian Brothers
arrived to establish Christian Brothers College (CBC), a
primary and secondary boys’ school,
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The Sisters” Primary School for girls was St Brigid’s, In
1951 the primary schools were amalgamated and in 1976
a new infants’ school was constructed. As the schools
grew, lay staff’ took on more roles. St Brigid's and CBC
amalgamated to St Patrick’s Primary School, and in 1979
Mr Stan Blakemore became the first lay principal since
Peter Cullen more than a century before. Sister Patricia
Osborne remained for some years as Religion Co-
ordinator and now continues a pastoral role in the school.

St Joseph's boarding school served a wide area along the
Murray River and across the Riverina. In 1904 Mother
M. Malachy, a far-sighted superior, had acquired an

area once occupied by the Presbyterian Church for extra
playing fields and buildings for the expanding high school.
A three storey building was fimished in 1937, The influx of
enrolments in the 1960s was accommodated in classrooms
vacated when primary students moved to St Brigid’s and
in new classrooms erected almost coincidentally with the
initiation of the Wyndham Scheme. After the famous
Goulburn School Strike in 1962, specialist rooms were
built with government assistance, supplemented by an
Appeal run by the parishioners in the Centenary vear

of 1968. The Superiors and the successive principals
Sisters Veronica, Cecilia McGrath, Antonia Ryan and
Aileen Wailes, had been responsible for the funding of all
extensions during that long penod of ume.

By the 1980s the boarding component was no longer a
necessity lor the country students, and there were also
plans between the Sisters and the Christian Brothers to
combine the Albury secondary schools. Sister Barbara
Murray, St_Joseph’s principal, prepared it to form part

of a co-educational, two-campus school. In 1983 Xavier
High School began, with Br Henry Thornber as Principal
and Sister Barbara Livermore, Deputy. During the
principalship of Sister Angela Jordan, the two religious
congregations moved to consolidate the school onto one
site, and this ook place in 2000, In 2001 principal Sister
Frances handed Xavier to the Wagga Diocesan school
system, and the first lay principal, Mr. Neville Powles, was
appointed. Sister Cabrini sull continues a Mercy presence
in the school. The original St Joseph’s High School
buildings in South Albury are now occupied by St Patrick’s
Primary School.

In 1993, some months after a memorable wake to

celebrate 125 vears of Merey living, the Sisters moved
from Saint Brigid’s Convent to the Mercy Convent in Olive

37



Street, a move that took approximately four hours. An
important era ended and a new one began.

By 1936 Albury had grown towards the north and the
Sisters started the Sacred Heart church-school at North
Albury. St Anne’s School, North Albury followed in 1956,
and the Sisters administered it continuously until 2008,
even though it entered the diocesan school syvstem when
this was set up in 1965. Principals, Sisters Basil Driscoll,
Lucina Burt, Maureen Hummerston, Ambrose Ashburner,
Teresa Tanner, Margaret Schmetzer, Josephine Dovle,
Loretta Corrigan and Anne Hagan redeveloped and
expanded the school, which celebrated its Golden Jubilee
in 2006, The Holy Spirit School, in the northern suburb
of Lavington, was opened in 1971 by the Diocese, with
Sisters also on the stafl. Sisters in the two schools included
Monica Esler, Frances Carev, Imelda Seymour, Patrick
Mulkeen, Anne Gardiner, Vincent Garrity, Josephine Dick,
M Ignatius, Jean Murray and Mary Esler. The focus of
the work in the northern part of Albury was often on the
poorer families in the outlying areas ol the city.

There have been many vocations from Albury. The
names ﬂr th[" Ehllﬂl’.ﬁ"g Hiﬁit‘fﬂ are E“Hilillr 1O us lﬂfii'l.'}' El.nf.l
others from later years such as Mother Mary Veronica,
Sisters Aloysius, Genéviéve, Cecilia, Antonia, Gertrude
Mary, Thérese and Teresina bring 1o life the spinit of love,
compassion and generosity, typical of the daughters of
Catherine McAulev.

Albury Mercy Hospital

In 1944 the call from the people of Albury for a Catholic
Hospital was answered by the Sisters ol Mercy Goulburn,
On 29 April 1945, led by Reverend Mother General,
Mother Colombiére, Mother Hugh Berrell, Sisters
Dorothy Hamilton, Agatha Collins and Mark Ryan,
arrived in Albury 1o start their service in healthcare in the
primitive setting of the former Chelvey Private Hospital,
just up from the Convent of Mercy in Olive Street,

Amazingly, the Mercy Hospital, registered as a general
hospital, was ready to receive patents on 8 May and the
hospital would function here for twelve vears. The site
for the new Mercy Hospital, on Poole's Hill at the upper
end of Kiewa Street, was chosen as early as 1945 and the

foundation stone was blessed and laid in_June 1946,

After ten hard years of construction, the five-storey, 90 bed
hospital began its service in medical, surgical, maternity
and pacdiatric care. A nurse training school commenced
on day one, 1 December 1957, and continued until 1982.
The hospital auxiliary began {unctioning prior to the
opening and continues today.

Subject to the changing patterns of healtheare, the

Mercy has undergone continuous adaptation, moving

out of acute care and into the core services of geratric
medicine, rehabilitanon, palliative care and the

associated community services in 1999. The Parents and
Babies Service continues from the Mercy. In 2008 the
management of the Mercy Health Service was translerred
to the Sisters of Mercy Melbourne.

The needs of the elderly have always been a priority for
Mercy healthcare. This resulted in a 60 bed independent
home adjacent to the Mercy Hospital. It was opened
under the name of Berrelli in 1962 and then later changed
to Marnanella in 2003. Planning for another 60 beds in the
now renamed Mercy Place is currently underway.

A sell-contained unit attached to Mananella, known as
Saint Anne’s, was handed over to a community of Sisters
with various ministries in 1989 and this existed for two or
three years. Prior to that, Maureen Gannon, Congregation
Leader at the time, had requested in 1986 that a third,
smaller community be established at the Mercy Hospital.
Known as McAuley House, the Sisters who made up

the community were {from both health and teaching
apostolates,  McAuley House ceased to be a residence at
the end ol 1998.

Wandoo Crescent is where a number of Sisters have lived
since 2000, Just up the hill from the great complex of
“The Mercy”, Catherine McAuley’s ministry and vision
continues there in different ways.
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Barmedman

Originally Barmedman belonged to the Yass parish but
Catholics of the area were members of various parishes
before finally becoming part of the parish of Ardlethan.

In 1906 Father Mullins asked the Sisters of Mercy, Yass
to make a foundation at Barmedman. The foundation
Sisters were Catherine Dawes, Joseph Campbell, Gabriel
Meagher, Agatha Farreth and Assisium Fingleton.

By 1908 there were sixty-three children enrolled at the
school. As well as the usual primary school subjects, the
Sisters offered lessons in music, painting, verse speaking
and typing. Among the names shown in the Sisters’
meticulous account books are J. Anderson, J. Lawrence,
H. & T. O’'Keefe and A. & W. Lehane. Donations were
entered from Miss Marshall, Mr. Fingleton and others and
a bequest from the Hon. John Meagher. The accounts
for the vear 1911 show receipts totalling £131.0.2 and
expenditure of £121.19.4,

The last entry of the Sisters of Mercy was on 31
December 1921, signed by Dr. Gallagher.  After this the
Sisters of St. Joseph took the school and convent into their
care.
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Bethungra

Father Butler from Tumut was appointed Parish Priest
of Cootamundra in 1881, At Bet hungra, in his parish,
Mass was celebrated every six weeks in what is now the
CWA Hall. In 1899 the first church was opened and the
parishioners moved towards setting up a Catholic school
stafled first by lay teachers who taught in the church.

In 1912 the foundation stone of St _Joseph’s Convent was
laid and the building completed in 1914 when the first
three Sisters of Merey arrived from Goulburn. They were
Sisters Peter, Borromeo and Ignatius who were assisted

by two lay teachers, a music teacher and a young girl who
helped in the convent.  The chapel, used by students daily
for prayers, is remembered as having had a great effect on
many lives.

In 1940 during World War II, Bethungra’s population
soared because ol the construction of strategic railway
lines but by 1946 with the project’s completion the
population seemed to disappear overnight. The convent
school’s numbers diminished and only two Sisters were
available to teach. The Rules at that ime required a
community of three or more Sisters so the convent could
be used only by day. Consequently the Sisters travelled
daily by train from Cootamundra. The long day from
7.00am to 7.30pm was very taxing and the convent and
school closed at the end of 1946. Trains and school buses
could now convey school children to larger centres.

An amusing story was told of a man, looking like a tramp,
who came one day to the convent. Asked i’ he wanted
work or food, he replied that he would like to see Sister. It
happened to be Father Buongiorno, dressed in old clothes
for fishing and swimming!
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Binda

In 1924 the parishioners of Binda called a meeting to
discuss the possibility of building a convent and Catholic
school. Daunted by the financial responsibility; the people
hesitated. One man, impatient at this hesitation said “lt
would take a snow storm to make you decide!™ A few
minutes later snow flakes fell and covered the ground.
Immediately three men each promised 50 and it was
agreed that Our Lady of the Snow would be Patroness of
school and convent. Following commencement of work
on the building, a heavy fall of snow covered the ground
which seemed to contirm that Our Lady indeed wished to
be Patroness.

The convent was opened in 1924 and blessed by Bishop
Barry. Present at the ceremony along with the clergy were
Mother Brigid, parishioners of the Crookwell community
and the pioneers of the Binda community, Sister Barbara
Goode the Superior, Sister_Julien and Sister Agatha
Sheekey.

By the end of the first year a small boarding school
accommodated the boarders. The numbers varied over
the years, sometimes reaching eighteen. Day pupils paid
fees of sixpence per week, the boarders ten shillings and
music cost two and sixpence a lesson, Before the school
was built, seniors had classes in the church and juniors in
the sacristy. Mr A. McIntosh of “Yarraroo™ gave the land
on which a two-roomed school was built,

‘The end-of-year school concert always evoked great
response and another exciting social event was the
October Catholic Ball. The people of Binda were always
welcoming, generous and caring which was greatly
appreciated by the Sisters who besides teaching also had a
great love for visiting the sick, aged and needy.
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Binda school numbers increased during the war years but
the advent of a school bus service to Crookwell brought
a decrease in numbers and the Binda school and convent
closed in 1958 alter thirty-five years of service. Sisters
Alacoque Foley and Philomena Suckling were the last
resident Sisters.

Boorowa

Early in 1882, Rev. Father Long of Boorowa applied

to Goulburn for a community of sisters. In August,
accompanicd by Mother Ligouri Mooney, Leader of the
congregation, the Sisters departed Goulburn for their
new home, Mother Augustine Moloy, Superior of the
first Boorowa community, accompanied by Evangelist
Ryan, Paul Pate, Baptiste Reiordan and Veronica Sheekey
travelled to Galong by train.

After a night at Galong Castle as guests of the Ryan
family, the Sisters were conveyed to Boorowa in the Castle
carriage. There was one exception to the enthusiastic
welcome from the townspeople, A small girl took fright
and fled but she would later become Sister Catherine
Dwyer of the Mercy Congregation, eventually Superior of
the Boorowa convent.

Until the convent was built, the small presbytery was
made available to the Sisters. A Catholic school taught by
lay teachers had existed since 1858. Thomas Hennessy
Corcoran, whose descendants are parishioners today, was
the first lay teacher.

Within a fortnight of the Sisters” arrival, pupil numbers
had risen from 60 to 87 necessitating the procurement of
more desks. Still more desks were required when numbers
reached 112 within a few months. As well as the serious
subjects of religious education, reading and arithmetic,
also taught were painting, drawing, music and singing and
most pupils gained a great love of these.

An amusing story is told about the Superior and Sister
Ursula White journeving to Goulburn in a phaeton with
the Parish Priest. Chauting earnestly in front, the Superior
and the Priest remained unaware that Ursula had been
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thrown out until they arrived at Galong staton. Did they
miss the train while driving back 1o find her?

In 1928 the opening of a secondary department
provided students with the opportunity of obtaining

the Intermediate Certficate. Sister Cephas taught the
class and received great results, The Wyndham Report,
implemented in 1961, imposed conditions that brought
about the closure of the secondary department in 1962
due to funding and stalfing shortages. Visitaton of the
aged. sick and needy was also of great importance to the
Sisters.

In 1984 the people of Boorowa and district, many of
whom were descendants of the first welcoming families,
enthusiastically celebrated the centenary ol the convent
with re-enactments, a concert and a gala ball. Among
guests were members ol the Donovan family whose
benefaction included the beautiful chapel, completed

in 1897. Catherine Donovan was the first Australhan
vocation in the Goulburn Congregation.

The (_:::I].f.it'l'g':llinll sold the convent in November 1991,
Sister Catherine McCormack then began visiting the high
school each term to provide education in [aith to Catholic
children. Hi\l:-l‘jus{‘pt‘ﬁll:' lollowed but due to ill health
and lack of replacement, this ministry has ceased.

Some Sisters who resided at Boorowa were Sisters Kevin,

Catherine, Berchmans, Regina, Eymard, Helena, Jennifer,
Daniel, Augustine, Madeleine, Jane Frances, Cabrini and

John.

Braddon

The Good Samaritan Sisters pioneered the work ol
Catholic education in Canberra but on 31 January 1955
the Sisters of Mercy came to weach in the ACT.  In their
first Annual Report the Sisters stated that the Good
Samaritan Sisters’ hand-over of the school “showed the
fine delicacy of their Christian religious chanty in the way
in which they left a perfectly kept and equipped school...”
A Catholic girls high school was planned for the ACT and
as it seemed that stall for the school would be selected
from various Religious Orders, it was imperative lor cach
Congregation to have established primary schools.

The pioneer sisters lor Braddon were Sisters Loyola
Cranney, Paul Hennelly, Felician Esler and Fedelma
O’Brien, led by Mother Ignatius McGilvray. They lived in
a house in Yarralumla lent by the Presentation Sisters and
“Biddy”, a blue Holden, became their transport, driven by
Mother [gnatius, a newly qualified driver.

Canberra’s post-war population explosion meant class
sizes were larger than those of today and unfamiliar New
Austrahian names made roll-calling hazardous. Sister Paul
imstructed her third grade children to hine up one by one
as they came to her, to say their name and point to it on
the roll. The line stretched bevond the school grounds, out
onto the street, holding up the trafhc!

Demographic changes 1o Canberra’s inner north reduced
school-age children numbers and St Pawrick’s Primary
School, Braddon closed on 8 December 1973, The school
buillding became a centre for ethnic community groups and
Mass was celebrated by German, Durch, ltalian, Spanish,

Lithuanian, Lawian, Croatan and Viethamese chaplains.
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In 1974 St Pat’s was taken over by SWOW (School without
walls), catering for students who found it impossible to fit
into regulated schools. Today the original building has
been modified and renovated to form a pleasant prayerful
church where Mass continues to be celebrated. The
convent closed in 1999, the Sisters were relocated and the
building refurbished to become the Administration Centre
for the Goulburn Sisters of” Mercy.

Captains Flat

The mining town of Captains Flat acquired its name from
a prize bull known as Captain. Residing at Foxlow Station,
he enjoyed wandering to a distant flat piece of land which

would later become part of the town.

The Sisters went to the Flat in 1949 when the steadily
Increasing pupulminn made a Church School 'tmpi*r:nirc,

Sister Loretto Brennan led the first commumuy
accompanied by Sisters Cephas Walsh, Scholastica Page,
Callista Ryan and Annette Johnston. They journeyed

by train to Bungendore where the sisters of’ St Joseph
provided dinner. Father Parker Maloney escorted them the
rest of the way and was from the outset their sincere friend
and supporter.

The welcome was warm and genuine and the presence of
the Sisters had great effect on the parishioners of Captains
Flat. Later that year Holy Week ceremonies were held

in the town for the first ume with the school children
providing all the singing,

The Sisters taught primary and secondary subjects to
Intermediate level and provided religion lessons and
preparation [or the Sacraments. Tuition in music, sewing
and domestic science was available and visitation to the
sick, aged and disadvantaged was dear to the hearts

of the Sisters. Sisters resident at the Flat included
Macrina, Cypnan, Francis, Boniface, Martin, Angela
Mary, Maureen Sykes, Juliana, Patricia Glennan and June
Cassidy. Josephine Doyle was a vocation.

By 1956 enrolments at the school had increased 1o 192 but
gradually the mine became exhausted and by 1962 the
settlement was virtually a ghost town. The school closed
and the Sisters departed. In later years, Sister Margaret
Watson, Pastoral Associate at Bungendore ministered to
the people.

Cootamundra

In 1881 when the Sacred Heart Parish came into
existence in Cootamundra, a Catholic school conducted
by lay teachers was already funcuoning. Father Richard
Butler, the new Parish Priest, invited the Sisters of Mercy
Goulburn to take charge.

Superior Mary Stamslaus, Sisters Mary Joseph, Aloysius,
Agnes, Evangelist and Berchmans, accompanied by
Congregation Leader Sister Ligouri Mooney, travelled

by train on 26 September 1882. The joviul journey,
punctuated by reunions with friends and past pupils at
most stations along the way, ended with an enthusiastic
welcome at Cootamundra. A banquet had been
prepared but Sister Ligouri, adhering strictly to the Rule
that forbade participation in public functions, tactfully
explained that the situation and the sisters withdrew to a
private room. Father Butler offered the presbytery to the
Sisters until a convent could be built. From there they
lived in the convent which is today’s music-room. Then in
1926 they moved to the present convent in Temora Street.

On 2 October 1882 the Sisters opened the school with

75 pupils. Both boys and girls were taught in the church-
school and, as well as the basic subjects, classes in music,
art, singing and needlework were conducted. In 1974

the Brothers” and Sisters’ primary schools amalgamated.
Mary Crowe, a Sister of Mercy, became the first Principal.
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Both Brothers and Sisters have now withdrawn from the
primary school and a lay principal was appointed in 1982,

In 1963 a new building for the Brothers’ secondary
students but shared by the students of the Sisters’ girls
school opened. The two secondary schools integrated
fully in 1967 and became the Catholic High School
Cootamundra, the first co-institutional, co-educatonal
Catholic school in Australia. Students of the school have
been very successful throughout the years.

Some of the vocations to our Mercy Congregation

are Fabian Weston, Clare Sheedy. Annette Johnston,
Aquinas Chalker, Margaret Crowe, Christopher Ryan,
Mary Crowe, Ursula White, Alphonsus Renchan, Xavier
Chilcott, Ursula Drennan. Edmund Farrvell, Frances
Fitzpatrick, Perpetua Canty and Monica Hurst,

The Sisters remain in the convent as a Mercy presence.
They partcipate in parish acuvities, visit the sick and
aged and also the school where they provide extra help to
children with special needs. One Sister is full-time Parish
Assistant and another works with Alcoholics Anonymous.

Cootamundra
Mercy Hospital

In 1921, Dean O’Shaughnessy, Parish Priest of
Cootamundra, invited a number of Sister Servants of
the Sacred Heart from Young to establish a Catholic
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hospital in Cootamundra in the spacious presbytery which
he vacated for the purpose. The Sisters carried on their
devoted work for two years and were succeeded by the
Sisters ol Charity from Sydney who also ministered for two
years. Greater stability for the staffing of the hospital was
needed and the Sisters of Mercy Goulburn responded to
the call in 1927.

During the early years one Sister Superior was appointed
for both school and hospital. Trained nurses were
emploved in the hospital and in 1927 the five-year nurse
trainee course began. The role as a teaching hospital
continued until 1977, Sisters and nurses lived in a building
where the priests’ garages stand today. For some 17 years
care of the sick continued in the inadequate environment
ol the former presbytery and sections of St. Columba’s
Hall.

The dream of a more suitable building came to reality
through the generous bequest of the Donovan family

as a memorial to Catherine Donovan, who joined the
Goulburn convent in 1860. The Women's & Children’s
section bore the name St. Catherine’s Hospital. Another
section was funded by public support and bequests,
including a generous donaton from Dr. Brennan, and was
named Sacred Heart Hospital. In July 1942 twenty-two
patients were transferred from Morris Street to the new
68 bed facility on the hill which in 1961 was renamed the
Mercy Hospital.

A Community Domiciliary Nursing service was set up in

the late 1960s and in 1969, Bethany, a home for aged and
infirm Sisters attached 1o the convent, was completed. In
response to the State Government’s decision to rationalise
health services in Cootamundra, the Merey Hospital was

sold to the NSW Government in 1981.

Apart from some modifications and updating, the main

structure of the building met the needs of changing health-
care over the years. The training of nurses and the care
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given to patents and their families under the guidance and
supervision of such compassionate Sisters as the very first
Matron, Sister M. Vincent, OBE, gave the Coota Mercy

a fine reputation. It was worthy of the mandate of our
Foundress, Catherine McCauley to “combine science and
religion, knowledge and faith, high purpose and humble
service.”

Vocations from nurses who trained at Cootamundra

imclude Kathleen McCarthy, Dominica Sheahan and
Vianney Garely

Corowa

The Albury Sisters of Mercy were invited to take over

the Catholic school in Corowa in 1887. The school had
previously been staffed by lay teachers but as a result of the
Public Instruction Act of 1880, parish resources could no
longer maintain the wages of the teachers.

The founding Sisters, Sister Mary Camillus — one ol
Albury’s foundation Sisters — accompanied by Evangelist,
Patrick and Angela, travelled by train from Albury o
Wahgunyah and thence by carriage 1o a great welcome

at Corowa. Enrolment numbers at the new school were
small in proportion to the town population and the Sisters
advertised willingness to teach extra subjects of’ French,

art and music. Fees for music lessons have been extremely
important in many country foundations in providing funds
to support the sisters. School fees ranged from sixpence to
one shilling per week.

14

New school and convent buildings were constructed

and secondary education established. The secondary
department, as in many other country schools, closed in
1962 due to the demands of the Wyndham Report. This
led to the establishment of the Motor Mission which
served Corowa and district from 1962-1994, covering
what had been the onginal Missionary District of Corowa
named by Bishop Lanigan in 1878.

In the meantime, the Sisters continued teaching Primary
School and oflering pastoral care in the community. St.
Mary's School has now returned to lay teaching staff,
administered from the Catholic Educaton Office, Wagga
Wagga. The presence of Sisters Maureen and Mavis
continues the Mercy tradition within the Parish.

Crookwell

Before the arrival of the Sisters of Merey. Crookwell’s
Catholic school was stalled by lay teachers. It is not
recorded who the first community members were but
Evangelist Ryan, if’ not the founding Superior, certainly
higured in Crookwell’s early history as did Barbara Goode.

Bishop Gallagher blessed and laid the foundation stone
to the new convent on 23 February 1902 and in his diary
he noted the enthusiasm and generosity of the large
congregation and anucipated a successful permanence in
the parish.

The Sisters, accompanied by clergy, arrived by train from
Goulburn on 13 January 1903 1o a group of townspeople
who escorted them to St. Mary’s Church where the 'Te
Deum was sung and a warm welcome delivered.,

Reading, writing, arithmetic and religion were not the only
activities of convent education. Music was a strong point
for both convent children and those from other schools.

It was no hive day week! Saturday saw theory classes,
mstrument lessons and typing and shorthand lessons,

The Sisters prepared the children for the Sacraments and
travelled to country churches to help the local catechists.
In 1962 changes to the svllabus reduced the school 1o
primary level with school buses running to larger centres.
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Vocations to our Mercy Congregation were Sisters Jude,
Benigna and Kevin, Hugh, Ita and Claver. Some Sisters
resident at Crookwell were Anne, Stephanie, Macrina,
Maureen, Loretta, Cynil, Madeleine, Rita, Eileen,
Benedict, Edward, Margarita, Edmund and Boniface.

On | August 1993 a Mass of Thanksgiving for the Sisters
ol Mercy was celebrated in St. Mary’s. A large number
of Sisters who had formerly been part of the Crookwell
community attended, as well as former students and
friends. In 1994 a lay principal took over the primary
school which continues as part of the Canberra and
Goulburn diocesan system. In 1999 Sister Stephanie took
up residence in Crookwell and has strengthened the link
between the Mercy Sisters and the people of the district.

Dee Why

Records of the Sisters” presence in Dee Why are sketchy.
Elderly Sisters recollect an approach from the parish priest
to the Goulburn Sisters to come there, and we went in
1923 when Dee Why was still part of the Manly Parish,
but with its own newly built church, The Sisters purchased
land for a convent, possibly with the intention of having a
seaside boarding school, and began teaching in the school,
using the church for infants’ classes. Sister Edmund Farrell,
who was professed in 1924, taught in the school on what
must have been her first assignment. She alwavs spoke
with great affection about her time in the Dee Why school.
Two local women, Sister Mark Ryan and Sister Canisia
Richardson, joined the Goulburn Mercy Sisters.
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In 1928 Dee Why became a separate parish. The Mercy
Sisters were recalled from Dee Why in 1932, The convent
was sold in 1934 and the Good Samantan Sisters took on
responsibility for St Kevin's School the same year.

Our own records are silent about the reason for the
recall, but oral history recounts circumstances which may
have brought discredit on the Sisters, the community
and the local parish which prompted the recall. Mother
Colombiére has erased all mention of Dee Why in her
1963-1969 The History of Foundations, as has Eileen Casey
in her 1980s History Newsletters. However, in Eileen’s 2000
book Held in Our Hearts, Dee Why is listed.

There are no photographs of the original convent and
school. In the early 1950s two fires within a year of each
other destroved the church and school and all records were
lost. However, in the words of the present principal of St
Kevin's School, Peter Raflerty, “the Catholic character of
our school today dehnitely stands on the shoulders of the
giants who came before us — such as the Mercy Sisters.”

Deloraine

On 28 January 1895 a band of Sisters of Mercy from
Goulburn arrived at Deloraine in Tasmania after a long

journey. They had wravelled from Sydney o Hobart on the

S8 Qonah, by one train to Western Junction and a second
on to Deloraine.

The group was led by Mother Augustine Moloy whose
presence was something of a trial for Sisters Teresa
Hearn, Gonzaga Russell, Josephine Gwydir and a servant,
Margaret Kilmartin. The unfortunate choice of the
Superior however was countered by the strength and
dedication of Sister Teresa Hearn who is considered to be
the true Foundress of the Deloraine congregation.

On their arrival there was a warm welcome from the
people of the parish but the “fine house” they had been
promised turned out to be an old hotel full of draughts and
rats and only one home-made bed “which must have been
intended [or the saints”. While the people of Deloraine
were welcoming and willing to share, it was a poor area,
and the Catholics were particularly poor.



After a week of preparation the Convent was officially
opened and despite the Depression of the 1890s the
convent fund prospered. In February 1895 St Joseph's
School opened with 32 pupils and by the end of the year
enrolments had risen to 100. In March the Sisters were
joined by two postulants — Ellen, the sister of Sister Teresa
Hearn and Winifred Hearne from Goulburn. Margaret
Kilmartin joined the Congregation and became Sister

M. Bernard, the first Sister of Mercy to take vows in
Tasmania.

Despite the poverty and hard work, or perhaps because of
it, many voung women joined the Sisters and the Mercy
spirit flourished. Burnie was founded in 1900. A separate
foundation of Melbourne Mercy Sisters had settled in
Latrobe and later, when they were short-staffed. they were
joined by two Deloraine Sisters. In 1904 Latrobe became
part of the Deloraine foundaton.

At this ime, Education Acts were passed in several states
and the big question of teacher training arose. To meet
this challenge the Victorian houses amalgamated in 1908
and the Sisters ol the Deloraine foundations joined with
them. A Catholic Teachers College was established at
Ascot Vale and from then on, all Victorian and Tasmaman
women who entered, made their Novitiate and did weacher
training in Melbourne, Once professed, the Sisters from
Deloraine were [ree to return to Tasmanian houses.

Deniliquin

At the invitaton of Father Carroll and the newly
appointed Bishop of Wilcannia, Rt Rev John Dunne,
Sisters from the Albury Mercy Convent set out on
I September 1887 on the long journey to Deniliquin.

Volunteers for this new and remote foundation were
Mother M. Bridget, Sisters M. Gertrude, M. Monica,
Sister Mary Berchmans — a novice — and a postulant, Mary
Anne Daly.

The school, formerly run by lay teachers, reopened on 5
September with 65 pupils and by 24 September the Sisters
were advertising high school education for day students
and extra tuition in music, German, French, singing,
drawing and painting. crystoleum, wax flowers, Persian
marble and oriental painting. A secondary school was
soon established and in 1890 the Sisters sent their first
three students for the Junior University examinations from
Sydney University.
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As well as supervising the schools Mother M. Bridget
instructed adults in the faith and set up the Sisters’ routine
of visiting and caring for the sick and needy and visiting
the gaol. The Bishop, visiting in 1888 found 165 children
enrolled in the school, though he did chide the Sisters for
arranging the school timetable 1o allow the middle of the
day for visitation thus leaving the children unsupervised for
a time! A new chapel and a dormitory for boarders were
added as student numbers grew.

A number of young women entered the convent and
Deniliquin was able to found Wentworth when the

call came. Among the vocations were Sister M. John
Evangelist and Sister M. Magdalen who both volunteered
for Wentworth, Sisters M. Aloysius Collins, Michacl
Murray, Xavier McHugh, Agnes Welch and Catherine
Murphy.

While Deniliquin was always a separate entity, a new
foundation [rom Albury, the Sisters were bound by ties of
affection and their Mercy vocation but when Demliquin
became part of the Wilcannia-Forbes Congregation of the
Sisters ol Merey, most chose 1o remain.
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Finley

In 1910 the sub-division of 72,000 acres of Coree Station
and the resumption of Tuppal Station into 117 small
farms surrounding Finley town had a profound influence
on the Finley district. With the increase in population, the
Catholic community considered the establishment of their
own school a matter of urgency. The Goulburn Sisters of
Mercy were invited to take charge and arrived in Finley
three vears before the establishment of’ the Wagga diocese.

The convent opened on Low Sunday April 1915. From
Goulburn Bishop Gallagher; Mother Brigid Hartnett and
Sister Dorothea had travelled by train, Sisters Evangelist,
Genevieve and Monica by car, staying the first night at
Cootamundra and the second at Jerilderie. The old
convent was demolished and replaced by a new building in

1963.

School was conducted in the church unul 1926 when St
Joseph’s School was opened. An additional classroom
was added in 1969 and for a number of years secondary
education was provided. Music, typing, sewing and
cooking were also taught. In 1966, due to pressure of
space, rising costs and new curriculum demands, this
section of the school closed. The first lay principal was
appointed to the primary school in 1981.

Vocations from Finley to our Mercy Congregation were
sisters Catherine and Celine McCormack.

In 1975 a Pastoral Team led by Sister Rosarii O’Connor
based its headquarters at Finley. Members consisted of
’arish Priests of Finley, Tocumwal, Jerilderie and Berrigan,
the Motor Mission Sisters, Sisters in charge of Primary
Schools in the area and lay representatives from each town.
The Team aimed to minister to all ages in the community.
Each town’s members devoted themselves specifically o
their own environment, conscious of the importance of
being “Good News™ to the people they served.
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In 2009 the convent building was leased to Yallambee,

a non-government organisation, funded by the State
Government Department of Ageing, Disability and Home
Care to provide community participation programs for
people with intellectual disability. It is an exciting and
innovative use of the large parish building which, in many
ways, continues the spirit of ministry carried out by the
Sisters of Merey.

The country around the village of Galong was settled by
“Ned” Ryan, a former convict from County Tipperary.
His substantial homestead became known as The Castle,
not so much for its size as for its hospitality 1o travellers.
His niece, Anastasia Ryan, wanted to help the children of
Galong and on Bishop Gallagher’s suggestion, she invited
the Mercy Sisters of Goulburn to establish a school,
promising to also build a church and a convent.

The Sisters arrived in 1911 and it became clear that

the number of village children was not large enough to
support the number of Sisters. Bishop Gallagher urged
them to start a boarding school for junior boys and a two-
storey building adjoining the convent was erected. It soon
proved too small and Miss Ryan generously contributed
to the extensions. The school was a haven for small boys
and more additions and amenites were added over the
years. A block of 183 acres was purchased and used for
crops and pasture.
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Gralong village had not grown at the rate of the school and
this coupled with the availability of school buses and the
difficulty of providing Sisters for a demanding ministry led
to the closure of St Lawrence’s College and Convent in
1970.

The complex became a Diocesan retirement village for the
aged with three Sisters of Mercy in residence, radiating a
happy Mercy spirit. Residents still remain at Galong but
new, modern [acilities are being constructed in Harden.
The Castle became part of the Redemptorist Fathers’

Monastery and today the Galong Monastery has become a

Retreat House where many of our Sisters make an annual
Retreat in a place always dear to their hearts.

Gooloogong

The pansh of St Malachy, Gooloogong was formed from
Grenlell in 1914, The first parish priest, Rev Thomas
Lynch, invited the Goulburn Sisters of Mercy to run the
school. Mother Brigid accompanied the Leader, Baptiste
Reiordon, and community members Elizabeth Gavan,
Borromeo Burns and Magdalene Duggan and the convent
school opened on 4 March 1917 with 33 children on the
roll. Classes were conducted in the old stone church uniil
the new school was built in 1920. Sitwated on the extreme
t‘d;.‘,l‘ ol the Canberra Goulburn Diocese, Gooloc WONE was
eventually transferred o the Bathurst Diocese.

Convent life in a small country town was full of Ir.mir;hip:'.:

We had no elecinic light but a large lamp was carried from
the chapel to the community room. This meant we all had to
move at the same time if we wished lo enjoy the comfort of
the lampr. In our bedrooms we used candles which melted in
the hot weather.

A well had been sunk and from it water was pumped by
senior boys to a small tank for kitchen use and baths. Wi
descovered that wihile we were at Mass, a neighbour stole
cwaler from the well for the use of his race-horse.

Considerable inconvenience was experienced because owr
bathroom with chip heater, wash house and toilet were all
ouilside,
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A small boarding school for country children opened with
accommodation on an enclosed verandah and a large
room used for diming, study and reereation. The boarding
school, though a great asset to the town and district, closed
in 1971 with the introduction of travel ]1‘_.' school bus to
Cowra.

As well as religious and secular subjects, the Sisters offered
music and typing and sport was always very popular,
Gooloogong produced Barry Beath who played for St
George,

Sisters resident at Gooloogong included Christopher,
Macrina, Stephanie, Elizabeth, Anne, Monica, Maureen,
Gregorv. Mavis, Madeline and Helena.

When one of the Sisters became ill, a replacement was
requested. The reply was “We haven’t another Sister to
give you, but buy an electric polisher”. So the replacement
nun hung behind the back door!

Gooloogong was a [riendly community full of caring,

generous people, “Today the convent is being used as an
up-to-date Praver House/Retreat Centre.
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Goulburn

On 28 October 1839 six Sisters ol Mercy came “over

the hill”, entering Goulburn escorted by His Grace
Archbishop Polding. He welcomed this foundation from
Ireland which consisted of Mother Ignatius Murphy;
Sisters Mary de Pazzi Dolphin, Ligouri Mooney, Stanislaus
Maxwell, de Sales Mevyler and Rose Hughes.

They had endured a three month sea journey on the
Saldanka 1o Melbourne, followed by paddle steamer to
Svdney and on by wagon and coach to Berrima and finally
Goulburn. The rugged bush landscape and the start of
summer’s heat must have been a huge contrast to the sofi
mist and green of Ireland. The idea of the Bishop and
Priests to invite Religious to Australia was for the Sisters

to teach children at school and help spread the Laith in the
vastness ol the unmapped diocese. The sisters went to
work immediately.

An Act of Chapter on 10 May 1861 made the decision to
take over the boarding school, which had been transferred
from Yass by Father McAlroy, into three small cottages

in Bourke Street.  The Denominational Boys and Girds
Schools facing Bourke Street and a school in North
Goulburn came under the Sisters” jurisdiction, This last
school was subsequently translerred to the Sisters of St
Joseph who came to North Goulburn in 1882,
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Providing educatonal opportunities for those less well-

off was central to the spirit of Catherine Mcauley and

in 1881 an old mill in Clinton Street was refurbished to
accommodate a low-fee boarding school (advertised in

The Freemans Journal as St Joseph's School of Industry) and
St_Joseph’s Orphanage for girls. In 1905 the orphanage
was relocated in a new building on the river at Kenmore.
The vacated building then became an orphanage for boys,
housing Sister Benignus and three small brothers, The
Boys Orphanage moved to St John’s, Mundy Street in 1913,
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Visitation was also dear to the heart of the Foundress and
the Goulburn News related in 1860 “The Rev D’Arcy and
Sisters ol Mercy were in constant attendance™ to Ellen
Monks awaiting execution. Prison visitation has remained
important to the Sisters who visited the gaol each Sunday.
Today Sister Loretta Corrigan is fully engaged in this
ministry.

The oniginal temporary accommodation in the earth-
floored presbyvtery and stables was superseded, thanks to
the help and support of Father McAlroy, by a convent,
chapel and boarding school in 1862, The beautiful Gothic
chapel was erected in 1892, a replica of the Westport
Chapel, with the wood panelling coming from Ireland.

The first postulant, Catherine Donovan from Boorowa,
was received in 1860 and numbers grew to the size that
allowed for foundations 1o be made outside the Mother
House. Vocations came from Irish emigrant families and
relations but the flow of young woman over the years

was mainly due to the influence and example of the

Sisters in their rural schools and hospitals. The novices
were prepared for prolession in the convent in Clinton
Street but by 1909 a property was secured for a central
novitiate — St Michael’s Novitiate and Training School. In
1910 the offices of the Congreganon Leader and council
were moved to St Michael’s but as the numbers of young
women entering religious life declined, the building
became a retreat and conference centre until it was sold in
the 19905 to a Svdney buyer who rented some rooms to the
Police Academy. Marian Hill Farm was purchased in 1926
and supplied fresh produce to the growing community and
boarding school. This property was sold in 1969,

St Brigid’s Primary School eventually replaced the onginal
denominational schools and the Chrnisuan Brothers School
for boys was established in Verner Street. The growth

of West Goulburn spurred the building of a combined
church/school in 1954, By 1976 the overcrowded school
was replaced by a new building and the girls and boys
from both primary schools were relocated in Our Lady of
Sorrows School, West Goulburn. When West and South
Goulburn became one parish the school was renamed
Saints Peter and Paul. In 1978 Bob Gay was appointed
the hirst lay pnncipal, The school 1s now stafled by lay
teachers, under the control of the Catholic Education
Office, Canberra.

As the vears rolled on at OLMC, traditions formed.

Young women received a formal education and were given
further educational opportunities in music, art, drama,
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debating, elocution and literary activities. In 1977 Our
Lady of Mercy and St Joseph’s combined to form Marian
College with a combination stafl’ of Josephites, Mercies
and lay teachers. Junior Secondary years 7-10 utilised the
south campus, vears | land 12 were accommodated in
the north and teachers commuted between the two. All
boarders were eventually accommodated at the North
Goulburn site.

In 1985 with decreasing numbers of religious teachers
and the high cost of building maintenance, the Sisters of
Mercy moved to a house in Fitzroy Street. Most of the
convent was refurbished and utlised for teaching stall.

Trinity, a co-educational college, emerged in 1998
combining Marian College and St Patrick’s College under
the Catholic Education Office Canberra. The future of
the boarding school 1s under review. Boarder numbers are
down due to the rural recession. Boarders are at present
accommodated at the St Pawuick’s campus.

Grenfell

The Sisters of Merey arrived in Grenfell from Goulburn
in August 1887. An extract from The Evening Argus marked
their arnval:

The Goulburn convent of Mercy ts well known as a high-
class teaching establishment, the nuns, having won a name
Jor the patient zeal manmifested in imparting a careful religious
training in addition to secular information, to those committed
to their charges. Their unostentatious charity lowards the
oo, sick and needy is everywhere recognised and the Grenfell
people have yeason (o be glad that the teaching Sisters, chosen
Jor their convent are possessed of such aceredited abilily,

Mother Ignatius Fox, Sister Aloysius, Vincent Buckley (a
novice) and an unnamed Lay Sister lived in the convent
and taught school in the church. Each Friday alternoon
the Sisters, aided by senior pupils, prepared for Sunday
Mass. One Friday a litde new boy was directed: “Charlie,
put those scats over against the wall for the nuns 1o use.”
After obeving, Charlie returned and said “Well Sister, I've
done that. Now where will I put the seats for the human
beings?”

As well as the usual primary and secondary school subjects,
the Sisters oflered typing and music. In the year of 1909,
33 pupils were prepared for different Colleges of Music, all
singularly successful,
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In 1977 the Sisters withdrew from the convent, Sister
Augustine being the last Principal of the school — Carolle
Howlett was appointed the first lay Principal in 1976,
Some sisters to have resided at Grenfell were Mother
Ignatius, Carmello, Kevin, Maureen Sykes, Anne Marie,
Denise, Ursula, Boniface, Anne, Genevieve, Moira and
Celine. Bernard Carberry, Genevieve and Raymund
were members of the last community residing in Grenfell,
They contnued visitation, music lessons and imparting
education in faith to classes at the school.

Grenfell has given some fine Mercy Sisters to the service
of the Lord, among them Sisters Phillip and Evangelista
Quigley, Noreen and Pauline Galvin, Kathleen Smith,
Clare Flinn, Jenny Crowe and Mother Gabriel Campbell.

Gnithth

On Thursday 31 August, 1921, Sisters Dominic
Mulquinney, Benedict Tanner, Dorothea Dunleavy,
Veronica Coll and Bridget Hilly left Albury by train

for the new foundation in Grifhith. They travelled to
Cootamundra by train, spending the night with the Sisters
at the convent, and left next morning by goods train for
Griffith, then known as “Bagtown”. It was a village of
tents with only one thoroughfare, Banna Avenue, now the
main street.

Father O'Dea met them with a cavalcade of two cars

and the Sisters were conveyed to the church-school for an
official welcome. The convent, in fact the presbytery, was
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where they lived for 17 years. Father O'Dea meanwhile
Iived in a galvanised iron shack in the church grounds unul
the new convent was blessed and opened in 1938.

On Monday 4 September 1921 school opened with an
enrolment of 80 children and in December a First Holy
Communion day with 10 first communicants was held in
the panish for the first ume.

.. e

I

The church opened in 1928 and 1932 saw the beginning
of the secondary school. In 1950 the Marist Brothers
arrived in Griffith and the schools became single sex
schools. In 1956 a new infants’ school opened and in

1959 a new block was built to accommodate primary and
secondary girls. In 1967 the secondary girls transferred

to the Hickey Crescent site, 1o a new school. They also
shared some of the facilities of the Brothers' School.
Limited co-education began in 1969 in fourth form.
Brother Clement Terry was Principal and Sister Moira
Cleary was Deputy Principal. In 1970 first to fourth forms
became co-educational with Brother Clement as Principal.

When the Manst Brothers withdrew from Grifhith at

the end of 1991, the sisters moved [rom their convent in
Warranbool Street to the Brothers” monastery in Hickey
Crescent. There they lived until the last Sisters of Mercy
withdrew from the school in 2006. The convent was
renovated and 1s now the St Patrick’s Administrauon
Building. It has been renamed the Catherine McAuley
Administration Building

There were many Mercy vocations from Griffith. They
are John Keenan, Kathleen Keenan, Kathleen Cudmore,
Barbara Murray, Jean Murray, Teresina Mogliott, Rita
Savage, Eileen Savage, Patricia Johnson, Theresa Foley and
Gabnelle Maree Owen.
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Gundagai

When Dr Lanigan visited the pansh of Gundagai in
1875 he urged the people to start a Catholic school. Lay
teachers staffed the school within the church unal the
Sisters arrived [rom Goulburn on 23 July 1886. Their
Leader was Sister Stanislaus Maxwell, a member of the
original band who arrived in Goulburn from Westport in
1859,

At first they lived in a house at 22 Byron Street and on 16

July 1890 their move to the new convent was heralded by

an enthusiastic procession. Over 500 people attended a
luncheon after the celebration of Mass,

In 1898 the foundation stone was laid of the new school.
dedicated 1o Saint Stanislaus. From 1942 unul 1962 a
secondary department operated but like other schools in
country areas, it became a vicum of the Wyndham Report.
All the usual subjects were taught at both pnimary and
secondary levels and extra curniculum subjects such as
music, painting, commercial cooking and needlework were
offered. Sporting fixtures were happy and suceessful.

By 1964 a shortage of Religious was causing grave concern
and Archbishop OO'Brien secured the community of the
Sisters of the Divine Saviour to help swell the dwindling
numbers. The Sisters of Mercy relinquished Gundagai
with great regret. The Salvatorian Sisters staved for only
four years and were replaced by the Holy Faith Sisters in
1968. They were recalled by their superiors in 1979 and
the school was run by lay teachers. The convent has had a
varied history as a rental property, a bed and breakfast and

a religious centre.




Gundagai people have always loved and respected the
Sisters.  Sister Stanislaus Maxwell, affectuonately known as
“Little Mother Stan”, was gentle, prayerful and dedicated.
She died on Christmas Eve 1906 and is buried in the
Gundagai cemetery.

During the 1980s Sister Catherine McCormack began

a correspondence course for Catholic students attending

state high schools. She lived in Braddon and along with

Eileen Casey and Josephine Navin, travelled to Gundagai
each term to conduct classes.

Sisters resident at Gundagai included Kevin, Gabrielle,
Clare, Margarita, Lorna Mary, Colette, Dympna, Berenice,
Regina, Fidelis, Majella and Paulinus. Bertha Carberry,
Carmel Gardiner, Robyn Elliott, Catherine McMahon and
Mavis Hanlon all entered the Goulburn Congregation of
the Sisters of’ Mercy.

Father O’Shaughnessy, zealous for the education of
Gunning’s Catholic yvouth, had opened a Catholic primary
school within the church of St Francis Xavier. The thirty
pupils were taught by lay teachers until the arrival from
Yass of Mother M. Teresa Murray, Sisters Magdalen
Bourke, Brigid Garry and Patrick Townsell in 1900.
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A good brick convent and school had been made ready for
occupation and during the following years the parishioners
did evervthing possible to show their appreciation of

the education offered by the Sisters, in religion as well as
secular and cultural subjects such as music. Some pupils
ol St Francis Xavier School have distinguished themselves
by winning bursaries and other distinctions.

Father Carson, after taking charge of the parish, took in
hand the creation of a handsome two-storey brick convent.
It opened in 1924 as part of the fine group of Catholic
Church buildings located on a prominent site in the town,

The school bus service greatly increased school numbers
and a secondary department was added in 1948 but closed
in 1953, The Sisters left Gunning on 12 December 1968.

Gunning has given a generous quota of sons and daughters
to the service of God. In the Mercy Congregation are
Assissium Fingleton, Austin and Monica Grovenor and

John O'Brien.

Henty
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A foundation from Albury was made at Henty, Xavier
Tanner, the community leader accompanied by three other
Sisters arrived there on 19 January 1924,

When school opened in the following week, about 80
pupils were enrolled, of whom a good proportion came

by train from Yerong Creek and The Rock. The Official
Blessing and Opening of the convent and school took
place on 15 August 1924, Bishop Dwyer of Wagga was
the officiating Prelate and Father Bonner, the parish priest.

For some years the school operated successfully taking
students to the Intermediate Ceruficate. The Sisters
olfered commercial subjects and music as well as the usual
curriculum. Musie was of a very high standard during the
1940s with a 62 piece school orchestra. In 1961 due to
lack of stafl, both convent and school were closed.
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The advent of school buses and shortage ol stafl’ led to
the closure of both school and convent in 1961, In 1962
the Merey Motor Mission Service was established and
Howlong State School was the last place to be visited by
the Motor Mission Sisters.

Some of the Sisters to have taught in Howlong were
Josephine, Jerome, Bernard and Felician. They also spent
time visiting the sick, the aged, the suflering and those in
SOTTOW.

Members of the last Mercy community to live at Henty . .
were Damien Loughlin, Berenice Stocks, Francesca Webb, Jel ] |de '] e

Alonso Gilbert and Dolores O'Brien. Others o have

resided at Henty were Benedict, Gabriel, James, Jerome
and Claude. Vocatuons among ex=students to the Sisters ; 2 3 -
; S, 5 5 ; e When the Goulburn Sisters were asked in 1902 1o make
of Mercy Goulburn Congregation were Jean Butler, Eileen

; G . a foundation at Jerilderie, it was a small Riverina town
Clancy and Eileen Driscoll.

1solated, hot, dry and dusty. Besides being noted for
the heat, dust storms, milk souring and meat going off,
Jenlderie was famous because of the visit paid by Ned

HOWlong Kelly and his gang. In those days the Goulburn Diocese

extended to Albury and embraced much of the Riverina.

Mother Brigid Hartnett, the Superior General,

Before the Sisters ol Merey arrived in Howlong on the accompanied five Sisters led by Baptist Reiordon, The
northern banks of the Murray River, all children, both convent had not been built but a small house, Rosary
Catholic and non-Catholic attended school in the church. Cottage, was ready for use. Sister Hilarv Purcell :
There was no other school. Mrs Cantwell, the lay teacher, was the first l""rim'ip:ll oF thé convent sehoal which
taught religious knowledge as well as secular subjects and provided religious and secular educaton from infants 1o
on examination, Father O Riordan found the children very intermediate standard and also offered music, typing and
satisfactory in all areas. shorthand.
In 1927 a group of Sisters of’ Mercy from Albury arrived Undaunted by the climate and stories ol bushrangers,
to take over the school. They lived in a little cottage in the Sisters settled happily into Jerilderie and enjoyed a
Hovell Street, close to the town, and later St Brigid's wonderful relationship with the people of the district.
primary school was built, Over the years there was much visitation to the sick and
aged in hospital and at home and also 1o the homes of
In 1952 at the Silver Jubilee Celebrations to mark the school children.
foundation a special feature was the Ordination of Father
Joseph Conway, a former pupil of St Brigid’s school and In 1909 on the Golden Jubilee of the Goulburn
Howlong’s first priest. Foundation, Jerilderie’s new convent was built and the

Sisters remained until the convent closed in 1977, Some
of the Sisters resident in Jerilderie were Madeleine,
Chnistopher, Carmel, Monica, Gregory, Patrick, Marie
Mahony and Helena, Three local girls who entered the
Goulburn Congregation of the Sisters of Mercy are
Connie Horgan and sisters Jessie and Elizabeth Mitchell.
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Despite the convent’s closure, the Sisters have maintained
their ties with Jerilderie. Connie Horgan, known in
religion as Sister Frances, visited as a Pastoral worker

from Finley and later moved to Jerilderie to live with her
sister. Here she continued her ministry. Now each year,
Christopher and Ursula, who was the last Principal at
the school, spend a day there visiting as many people as
possible who greatly appreciate their presence.

Junee

At the request of Father Buckley, the Sisters of

Mercy came from Yass to Junee in 1888. It was the

last foundation for which Paul Fielding shouldered
responsibility in the Goulburn Diocese. Mother Paul
arrived at_Junee with the foundation Sisters and returned
to Yass only after the Sisters were well settled in their new
home. Stanislaus O'Neill led the first community of Sisters
to Junee, She had come from Rochfortbridge in 1875
with the Sisters who made the Yass foundation. The other
Sisters were Agnes Hickey, Francis Boland and Josephine
Dunne,

The primary school lessons were initially conducted in

the church where the school opened in 1889 and the
enrolment rose from 47 1o 120 by the end of first term.
After World War [ a secondary department was added to
the school and during the 1940s and 50s enrolments rose
to 363 pupils with nine Sisters in the community. The
Sisters prepared children up to Intermediate Certificate
and also offered extra music, theory, typing, shorthand and
verse speaking,

At the tme of the opening of the new primary school in
1966, the secondary department had closed and a school

bus conveyed secondary students to Wagga.  Past pupils
speak with gratitude of the zeal and kindness of their
teachers and their treks around the town to visit the sick.
lonely. sorrowing and suffering
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At the end of 1997 the Sisters left Junee and the people
of the parish did not let them depart without a glorious
farewell. At the Eucharist of Thanksgiving Father Burgess
in his homily paid tribute to the work and dedication of
the Sisters over a period of 109 years.

Mercedes

In 1943 the Sisters of Mercy purchased, at a very
reasonable price, a neo-gothic stone residence overlooking
Lavender Bay with scenic views of the Harbour Bridge.
Its situation, close to the Jesuit Church with access to the
city by rail, bus or ferry, was an ideal location for Sisters
needing to spend time in the city for health, education or
business reasons.  The house could also accommodate
Sisters from other congregations to whom it offered
boarding house facilities,

Built in around 1885 by James Thomas Atchison, the
house was sold to the Cahill family in 1908 and the large
extended fammly moved in. It became a home of gracious
living with bells to summon servants, croquet on the lawn
and kind hospitality to visitors. The large crucifix in St
Francis Xavier Church Lavender Bay is a memonial to this
family:

In the early 19405 the house was made into Hats and
leased unul sold to the Sisters of Mercy who renamed
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it “Mercedes™ and ook up residence in 1944, In 1970
extensive additions were made — a new wing was built to
accommaodate student Sisters attending “Teacher’s College,
University or spiritual courses. Further refurbishment took
place in 1997,

Mercedes has always been a house of hospitality for local
visitors and those [rom overseas who have ennched our
Iives. It became oo, a home for Sisters whose ministry led
them to Svdney. Catherine McAuley's care for the poor
and underprivileged was conunued by the Sisters who

pre wided ﬁ‘it'miwhi]:r and refreshment for all who asked for
help.

In 2006 the property was sold and the Sisters relocated.

Murringo
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The Sacred Heart Convent in the small village of
Murringo was officially opened in 1917 and Sister
Bonaventure Macguire was the first community leader.

The school consisied of one large room attached 1o the
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comvent and there was also a small music room, essental
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the Sisters” mcome.

In 1929 a new school was opened and the old school-room
reincorporated into the convent. As well as the usual
primary school subjects, the Sisters taught musie, short-
hand and typing and a ministry dear 1o their hearts was
visitation ol the sick and .i|_1_{r|:| in the hittle + Il":l_l_"ll‘, The
beautiful landscape surrounding convent and school was
very picturesque with rolling hills, vivid green lucerne and
beautful trees which provided homes lor many birds,

Sadly in 1961 the convent and school closed due o a
shortage of sisters and the advent ol school bus services to
larger towns. On 3 October 1999 the parish community
celebrated a reumon Mass to commemorate the 45 year
history of the Sisters educating the children of Murringo.
Some of the Sisters who had [.'U:I_*._{hl in the school were
present and Father Alan Crowe, who grew up in the
village. celebrated the Mass which was attended by about
300 people.

Regina, Mercedes, Joseph, Callista, Loretto, Fidelis and
Fabian all resided at Murringo and vocanons to the

Goulburn Congregaton of Mercy were Jane and Teresa
Crowe - Sisters Lucy and Callascanctius.

Murrumburrah

Harden

The first foundaton made by the Sisters who had come
from Rochlortbridge to Yass was to Murrumburrah in
1882 at the request of Bishop Lanigan. Mother Xavier
Leahy: Sisters Berchmans Nally, Catherine and Clara and
two novices came to take over the already well-established
Catholic school, probably as a result of the withdrawal of
state aid from denominational schools by the Henry Parkes
mstigated Public Instruction Act of 1880,

The Sisters continued lt‘.‘it'ltin_ﬂ; bath in the church and the
school attached to it and the school building project was
continued. In 1935 construction of St Anthonv's church
;l[l(i\.'ﬁ{'f{ Ih(' (ltf_l 'l.'il'l.II'l'h | 8] I:I'lL t,:i‘\'.‘n. LR AN | t‘t]tih‘h j; M ‘.'H.'!lth Il
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In 1964 Murrumburrah became the site of the primary
section of the Murrumburrah-Harden school while a new
infants’ school was built at the end of the town.  The
Harden end of the twin towns developed rapidly and a
new church/school, St Columba’s, was opened there in
1917. The appointed sisters travelled each day from the
Murrumburrah convent. Josepha Kelly, honoured to be
the first Sister to drive that journey, earned the respect of
all motorists as she demanded right of way at all imes.

At the end of 1998, the secondary school at Harden
closed and accommodation for students was oflered at

St Mary's, Young, The last Sister on the stafl’ was Sister
Edmund. Parishioners, parents and students gave the
Sisters a wonderful send-ofl’ in appreciation for their love
and dedication, not only in the field of education but also
in their wonderful pastoral minmstry.

In 1952 the small village of Wallendbeen was ransferred
from the parish of Young to that of Murrumburrah. For
21 vears the Sisters travelled with the Priest each Sunday
for Mass, after which they instructed the children in

the doctrine of their faith and prepared them for the
Sacraments, Their presence and contribution to the
hturgies, as well as [amily visits were ol great importance.

In 1982 due to lack of vocations, serious thought was given
to options for the future not only for Murrumburrah-
Harden but regarding the work of the Sisters at
Wallendbeen and the Motor Mission Sisters who had

been based there since 1979, Facing the challenges
realistically. the Sisters closed the convent at the end of
1983. Both Ellen Yates and Rosani O'Connor became
treasured members of our Mercy congregation from
Murrumburrah,

b

Stockinbingal

The construction of the Forbes-Stockmbingal railway
line in 1912 brought an influx of Catholic families

into the area. Dean O'Shaughnessy, Parish Priest of
Cootamundra, to which Stockinbingal was attached,
hastened the building of the new church complex. A
large convent was built for the Sisters of St Joseph. These
Sisters were unable to supply the necessary stall and the
Sisters of Merey were invited to come to Stockinbingal.

Mother Brigid accompanied the foundation Sisters who
were led by Mother Phillip Quigley.

The new building opened on 12 July 1914 with 80 pupils.
Enrolment had increased to 156 by the end of the year. In
addition to the prescribed curriculum, the convent school
provided examination courses from Svdney College of
Music in theory and practice and from Svdney Business

work, typing and shorthand. A boarding school for girls
was opened in 1928 but regrettably, Stockinbingal shared
the fate of many small convents and closed in 1961. The
Motor Mission Sisters resided in the convent for some time
and then transferred 1o Cootamundra.

Some of the Sisters resident at Stockinbingal were
Carmella, Phillip, Callista, Mercedes, Mark, Macrina,
Leonard, Madeleine, Justinian, Alacoque and Gregory.
Local girls Laura Morton and Zita Worthington joined the
Goulburn Mercy Congregation.
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Tocumwal

A Catholic school, taught by lay teachers, had opened
within the church at Tocumwal in 1899, At Bishop
Gallagher’s request a group of Sisters of Mercy arrived
from Albury in January 1906. Sisters Teresa, Magdalen,
Clare and Juliana had to cross the river by punt where

a procession of townspeople met and escorted them to

a welcome at the convent. It was called Holy Name
Convent, “a modest weatherboard cottage which stood

in the church grounds™.  Bishop Gallagher, who wrote
those words, visited again in August when he confirmed 25
boys and 17 girls, He wrote “All very good. The Sisters of
Merey are learning and increasing devotion to duty.”

A new convent was opened in 1919, the school expanded
and a secondary school was added only to be closed in
1956 when a central Catholic school was established

in Finley. The primary school continued, teaching all
the usual subjects and preparing the children for the
sacraments, The Sisters always made time 1o visit the
sick and aged in hospital and at home. This special care
ministry is still carried on today by Sister Janice Dunne,

The Sisters left Tocumwal in 1976 but contact was not

completely broken as Sister Mary Esler wravelled from
Finley each day and remained Principal of the school unuil
1984 when Anicet Lakomy succeeded her. Another Sister
accompanied her and worked as Pastoral Assistant in the
parish. Sister Lorraine Cupitt was the last Pastoral worker.
When she was withdrawn in 1988, Mavis Hanlon, residing
in Finley, continued pastoral work in Tocumwal until the
Finley convent closed in March 1998.

Some of the Sisters who resided at Tocumwal were
Philomena, Josephine, Christopher, Madeleine, Zita,
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Maureen, Leonard and Loretto. Vocatons from
Tocumwal to Goulburn Congregation of Sisters ol Mercy
are Sister .F\.Iuysius Dunne and Sister Janice Dunne.

Tumut

Catholic education in Tumut was established in 1850 with
schools stafled by lay teachers, The removal of state aid 10
independent schoals by the Public Instruction Act of 1880
was one ol the reasons the Sisters of Mercy were invited
to Tumut. Their presence would eliminate the drain on
church funds but their training in faith was a sustaining
benefit to the parish.,

In 1882 Mother Mary Bernard Grennan, Sisters Augustine
Mullally, Stanislaus O'Neill and Clare O’Donnell, a novice,
arrived in Tumut from Yass undaunted by the long journey
in horse-drawn vehicles over bush tracks and unbridged
rivers. A small cottage was their home until the convent,
listed now by the National Trust, was built in 1886, Over
the years the influence of the Sisters of Mercy and faith-
filled family life have nurtured many religious vocations
from the Tumut district.

School was conducted first in the original St Mary's
Church, built in 1858. It continued use as a school until
1968 when it was superseded by more modern buildings
and 1s now used as a parish hall. Over the vears St
Michael’s Infants’ School and St Brigid’s School have seen
many changes in both buildings and location. A new high
school was built in 1968 and a new infants” school in 1978.

A munmistry with a diflference extended to the indigenous
population who had suffered intensely from the
Government decision to resettle them from Tumut and
Gundagai to Brungle, Sister Celine McCormack became a
valued witor and advisor and in teaching of God's love, she
gained the love and trust of the Brungle people. Her work
led to further education and employment opportunities
becoming available to the indigenous people as well as
support from the local Shire and church communites,



This initial support was carried further into such areas as
the involvement of Aborigines in the Skill Share program
by Sister Maurcen Hummerston. Sister Margarita Duffy
continued the Mercy involvement with the Brungle
community, becoming their advocate., preparing the
children for the Sacraments and even now at a distance, as
she resides in Yass, supporting the families.

The Sisters withdrew from the school in 1992. Education
from kindergarten to year ten in the McAuley School is
now under the administration of the Catholic Education
Office, Canberra. The Sisters continued a Merey presence
in the community until 2004 when the convent closed and
Sister Clare Flinn remained undl early 2007,

West Wyalong

“All that glitters is not gold” says the old quotation, but

it was the discovery of gold in Wyalong in 1894 that
brought a community of Sisters of Mercy from Yass in
1896 to establish a convent school amongst the tents of

the miners, Undeterred by harsh climate, water shortages,
primitive buildings and the discomfort of long serge habits,
the Sisters recognised the faith and needs of the miners
who had butlt themselves a church - a strong wooden
frame clad in galvanised iron. known affectionately as the
*Tinny"

Mother M. Xavier Leahy, Sisters Mary Catherine,
Mechiildis, Raphael and Angela arrived by Cobh & Co.
coach from Temora, travelling the last part of the journey

on a bush track. School commenced almost immediately
with 100 children in the “Tinny™ which functioned as a
school throughout the week.

Bishop Gallagher suggested that until transport improved,
the Foundation become autonomous. Sisters already in
Wyalong were given the choice of remaining there or
returning to Yass. Sisters volunteered from Yass and other
communities to stabilise the foundation. A novitiate was
established as there were already three novices,

Outbreaks of typhoid fever were not uncommon ane
affected the whole community. In 1900 afier spending
many hours visiting sick miners in their humble dwellings,
Sister Mary Josephine Dunne, the music teacher, beloved
by the Sisters and miners alike, was taken by the fever.
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By 1902 with the linking of Wyalong to Temora by rail,
the Foundation was re-affiliated with Yass which afforded
the Sisters more opportunities. A new preshytery, convent
and brick church/school were constructed at the western
end of the growing town, away from the goldfields.

The present school, St Mary's War Memorial, which
opened in 1959, catered for classes from Kindergarten to
Year Ten, but in 2008 the Secondary Department closed
due to diminishing numbers. 1996 marked the end of
Sisters of Mercy teaching in the school. Margaret Hant
and Helen Kennedy still labour in the West in a new
venture as part of a Pastoral Mission Team serving the
people of Wyalong town and district, the community
which has given many vocations to the continuation of
works of Mercy in the name of Catherine McAuley.
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Wilcannia

In 1887 the Diocese of Wilcannia was formed with

Right Reverend Dr Dunne as Bishop. In 1890 he

asked Mother Paul Fielding for help and in July of that
vear, accompanied by Mother M. Gertrude, Sister M.
Ignatius Markley and two postulants, Gertrude Grogan
and Columba Young, she set ofl’ from Yass. Travel was

by train to Dubbo where there was an enforced stay as

the river stcamer’s boiler had burst. The group then
travelled by train 1o Bourke, arriving in the dark amidst the
worst floods Bourke had ever known. Then there was a
wearisome river vovage “in an old tub” to Wilcannia - the
journey had taken three weeks.

The Sisters entered immediately into the usual works of
Mercy - general education, teaching music, visiting the
poor and sick, religious instruction of women, visiting and

instruction ol prisoners and wherever possible working
with Aboriginal people. Mother M. Paul with her
universal kindness and courtesy broke down any prejudice
in the district. The community flourished, postulants
entered and when the development of the White Chifls
opal hields expanded, there were Sisters enough 1o open a
Convent there,

Because Wilcannia was not within the Goulburn Diocese,

the work there passed to the Wilcannia-l'orbes Merey
Congregation,
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Wodonga

In 1890, soon after Albury’s foundation at Deniliquin,
came the request to open a house in Wodonga. Four very
voung sisters — Mother Aloysius Tierney, Sisters Gabriel
Comins, Celestine Covle and postulant Joseph Conlan
made the short but final break from their parent convent.

On arrival they met a chaotic situation because of another
rival school but the Sisters were made welcome by kindly
Wodonga women who provided meals in the early days.

St Augustine’s school opened with 50 students in two

classrooms,

Despite these difficulties at the outset, several postulants
joined the early community and the first reception held in
the local church in August 1892 was a public witness to the
Sisters” dedication to serve the local community. There
were [ifteen receptions/ professions recorded with many
entranis coming from rural NSW as well as surrounding
Victonan districts.

Wodonga joined the Melbourne Mercy Congregation, and
the Sisters quickly built a solid foundaton in educanon and
coped admirably with the 1952 post-war immigration of
displaced persons of World War II 1o the nearby Bonegilla
settlement camp.

Ever-increasing numbers of enrolments demanded a
second site so St Monica's was established and now

the Catholic College continues the Mercy storv. The
Sisters moved out of direct involvement in 1986 but the
responsibility for Catholic Education is present in vet
another expansion, Frayne College, Wodonga.
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Yass

The Mercy foundation at Yass was made at the request of
Bishop Lanigan after the visit of Father Michael MceAlroy
to Ireland. There was a denominational school in Yass but
alter the success of the Sisters in Goulburn and Albury; the
Bishop saw the need for their presence in Yass. As well,

it scemed that State Aid to denominational schools was
about to be abolished.

A severe storm drove Dr McAlroy to seek shelter at
Rochfortbridge and while there he asked the Sisters

for volunteers. In response Mother M. Paul Fielding

as Superior with Sisters M. Alacoque McLoughlin, M,
Bernard Grennan and four young women — Kate Leahy,
(Sister M, Xavier), Ellen O'Neill (Sister M. Stanislaus),
Margaret Nally (Sister M. Berchmans) and Anastasia
Mullalley (Sister M. Joseph) — arrived in Sydney on 8
December 1875 afier a vovage lashed by fearful storms.
Dr Lanigan travelled with them by train 10 Goulburn
where they stayed with the Mercy Sisters before setting
out for Yass. Their arrival on 29 December was a very
joviul occasion for the townsfolk. Mass was lollowed by a
banquet and speeches of welcome. Included was a group
of Aboriginal people who welcomed the “sacred ladies”.

The ministry to the indigenous people of Yass was to
become very special for Mother Paul and the Sisters. In
the early years there was a school for Aboriginal children,
the first of us kind in Australia. When under government
policy the Hollywood mission was set up on the outskirts
of Yass, the Sisters gave Sunday School lessons to the
children. Many of the Aboniginal children came to Mount
Carmel School and the Sisters provided pastoral care 1o

their families. This ministry continues today.
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The ministries of the Sisters were varied. In the schools
at first they taught primary and secondary girls and
jumior boys. Later all the boys were included, following
on from Mr. Gilchrist who taught the older boys for ten
vears after the Sisters’ arrival. On Sundays the Sisters
gave instruction to inmates of the local gaol who worked
in chain gangs on the roads. They visited the poor and
sick in home and hospital and gave religious instruction to
adults. These latter ministnies they sull carry on today.

The community of Sisters grew with some Sisters like
Johanna Markley, Mary Carey and Columba Garry
coming from Ireland and local girds asking for admission,
Among them were Sarah Grogan and her cousin

Minnie and daughters ol the Lohane, Carey, Coen and
McReynolds families. From the Yass community; branch
houses included Murrumburrah, Tumut, Junee, Wilcannia,
West Wyalong, Gunning and Barmedman. Girls from
outlying areas were able to come as boarders to the Mercy
schools at Yass from 1893,

Translormatons were a feature of the Yass schools wath
the onginal schools amalgamaung to become Mount
Carmel Primary and Mount Carmel College in the 1950s,
The Secondary Section, with strong music and commercial
curriculums, catered for rural and Canberra families. The
introduction of’ the Wyndham Scheme in the early 1960s
and the expansion of bus routes in country areas and to
Canberra, led in the mid 1970s to the decision to cease
Years 11 and 12 classes. In 1992 the boarding facility
closed and then in 1994 the secondary school was handed
over to the Archdiocesan Catholic Education Office by
means of the formation of Mount Carmel Central School.
In 1998 the Sisters left the large convent building for use
by the school and parish and now live across the road from
it, next door to St. Augustine’s Church. From there they
continue ministries in the parish of Yass.
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Mount Saint Joseph’s
Home, Young

Care of the elderly infirm became a pressing issue for
Dean Hennessy and the Sister Servants of the Sacred
Heart engaged in acute medical services at Young's Sacred
Heart Hospital. The opportunity to address this concern,
particularly for the large number of homeless elderly
men, came in 1920 with the sale of a two storey residence
on the edge of town. Sectananism between Catholics
and Protestants, common to many country towns, meant
business deals were conducted with delicacy. 'The house
was successfully purchased and the Dean, supported by
parishioners, quickly converted the building into suitable
accommaodaton lor the elderly. The Sisters macde the
stipulation that the twenty residents of Mount Saint
Joseph's were not patients and their occupancy was to be
that of a member of the household.

In 1923, alter the departure of the Sister Servants of

the Sacred Heart of Jesus, Mother M Francis Connill’ as
Superior and Sisters M Paula and M John conunued this
ministry to the aged on behalf of the Sisters of Mercy
Goulburn. They lived among the residents unul a convent
was built for them in 1971, A tbute to them came

from the State Minister of Health in 1936 who said “you
carry on an institution with the atmosphere of a happy

home.” Mother M Francis on her evening rounds used o
administer milk and rum to the gentlemen but limited the
nightcap for the ladies o warm milk!

Mount Saint_Joseph’s proverbially “grew like Topsy™

to meet the ever-increasing number of those secking
accommodation. It was for many vears the only Nursing
Home outside Sydney. By 1965 the 114 beds filled every
available corner.
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Changes in aged care in the late 1960s and the direction
of dynamic Mother M Dorothy and her Board of
Management led to many improvements including the
building of Hennessy Hall which focused on allied health
support and outreach, Hostel-type accommodation
became available for our elderdy/infirm Sisters and the
Bethany Ward was renovated to receive our Cootamundra
Sisters after the Government purchase of the Mercy
Hospital there.

In 1981 Mount Saint Joseph’s Home and the Mercy
Hospital came under one Board, took the name of Mercy
Care Centre in 1983 and officially amalgamated in 1987,
Part of the onginal home was demolished and three
maodern units were constructed where care of our senior
citizens in a Gospel oriented manner continues even as the
Sisters withdraw from active ministry.  In 1993 a multi-
I}lirrj{lqi‘ (,'fl‘['HI]h.‘x Wils l'}l"'l](",l, HI]{"I\  as |i"“' (:ilt}l{'ril'ﬂ'
McAulev Centre, it offers excellent facihues including a
large theatre, entertainment area, hbrary and chapel.

The Mercy journey continues under the governance of

Mercy Health.

Sacred Heart / Mercy
Hospital / Mercy Care

Centre, Young

Why all the titles for the continuous ministry of healthcare
at Young lor almost a century? "The story is an interesting
social history of religious women who have served the
parish and community.

A group of courageous Sister Servants of the Sacred Heart
from London, responded 1o Dean Jerome Hennessy's
invitation to take up nursing in rural New South Wales,
The Sisters commenced their ministry — the first country
Catholic hospital in New South Wales — in a house at 4
Campbell Street, Young, Insulficient beds required the
Sisters to also nurse in private homes. A purpose-built

36 bed hospital opened in 1910 and the sisters set about
establishing a highly regarded standard of healtheare.
The Chapel was in what became the Men's Ward until the
adjacent imposing neo-gothic building opened in 1913,



The Sister Servants of the Sacred Heart were withdrawn

and in 1923 the hospital began its long history under the
care of the Sisters of Mercy Goulburn, The original
community was Sisters Justinian, Agnes, Hugh (who would
give 20 vears of service), Pascal, Regis and Rita.

Our co-minisiry with the laity, always a hallmark of Mercy,
began here with many dedicated nurses, support stall,
medical practitioners, para-medical stall’ and volunteers
who became life-long friends. Among these, special
memories are held of Mary Carr, MBE who gave 46 years
ol dedicated care to babies and their parents and even
their grandparents.

Sensiuvity to the changing needs of the time, a mark
ol Merey service, meant sorrow at relinquishing things
held dear but enthusiasm in accepting challenges and
leading the wav in new services — aged assessment and
management, community care, palliative care and
rehabilitation.

Vocations from nurses who trained at Young include Eileen
Driscoll, Marie Dufly, Ellen Higgins, Bernice Keane and
Kerry Shoemark

Mercy lives on in new guises never thought possible in our
foundation vears.

St John’s Home,
Goulburn

St John's Home for Boys, like St Joseph’s Home for

Girls, had its origins in the old Clinton Street Mill. Tt

was established in 1906 by Dr. Gallagher as soon as the
building had been vacated by the girls when they moved to
Kenmore.

Sister Sophia tells the story: “Thus on 31 December

1906, Sister Mary Benignus of the Sisters of Mercy, with
an empty house, three little boys (brothers), the Bishop’s
blessing and the gift of £1 from his exhausted purse, began
what many would have deemed an impossible task. To the
credit of the Goulburn people, the Bishop and his clergy.
the small donation multiplied many tmes, the empty
building rapidly filled with the necessary furniture and so
many more little boys that it became necessary to build a
new home for them.”

Again to the joint credit of the Archbishop, people of
Goulburn and the far-sightedness and zeal of Sister
Benignus, the bovs moved to a new building in Mundy
Street in 1913, By 1923 it had expanded to provide
adequately for 110 boys. Sister Benignus® love, first for
her “orphaned girls”™ and from 1906 for the boys, is well
attested by those who knew her and her work. During her
time the St John's Dairy was established where older boys,
under supervision, milked the cows and delivered milk o a
“regular round of customers”,

Sister Benignus longed 1o build a hostel for working bovs, a
desire which ironically was achieved only in the year after
her death in 1930, Much to the sorrow ol Sister Ligoun,
Benignus' successor, lack of employment due to the
depression, caused the hostel’s cessation. Rental received
for the building, together with that from other property
acquired by Sister Benignus between 1924 and 1930,
supported the Boys Home throughout the depression years.

In the post-depression vears, a second attempt was made
and a cottage-style hostel established with the boys cared
for by Sister Ligount’s two aunts. Under Sister Ligouri’s
direction “with a heart that couldn’t sav *no™, St John’s
had an atmosphere of “one big closely-knit family™.

The reunions she established were contunued by Sister
Genevieve, allectionately known until her life’s end in 2001
as “Mother Gen”.

Prior 1o the 1950s, the boys received primary education

at St John's and secondary at the Christian Brothers’
Technical School and later at St Patmick’s College. They
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received considerable support on the sporting front from
the men from Goulburn who trained teams on Saturdays
and holidays.

Paralleling the development of St Joseph’s Girls Home,

the “home on the hill” was closed by 1979 and the boys
were cared for by a Sister in cottages where siblings were
kept together. Close family-like bonds formed between the
Sisters who acted as house-mothers and the children under
their care and sibling bonds were also strengthened. The
spirit that had made St John’s a “home” continued in the
cottage homes.

In 1984 St John's Home, Mundy Street was formally
closed and the cottages, by then under the direction of

the Archdiocesan child welfare agency, Centacare (now
CatholicCare), were closed in 1987.

St Joseph’s Home,
Kenmore

| —— i U |

Soon after the Irish Sisters of Mercy arrived in Goulburn,
they started caring for orphan girls but litde is known of
the early history. In 1878 Bishop Lanigan purchased the
disused Hayes Mill opposite the Convent for use of the
Sisters of Mercy. With support from the local community
the building was refurbished, and in March 1881 it was
blessed and opened as St Joseph’s, including both a girls
orphanage and a low-fee girls’ boarding school. Although
the boarding school ceased operating some time in the
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1890s, making more space available for the orphanage, it
became clear that a larger and more appropriate building
was necessary 1o provide for the needs of the growing
number of children.

In 1905 a public meeting, supported by Bishop Dr
Gallagher, unanimously and enthusiastically agreed

that a new orphanage should be provided. Land was
purchased and on 27 August, “in the presence of a large
number of ecclesiastics, many Goulburn well-wishers and
representatives from Sydney and various parishes of the
diocese”, the foundation stone was blessed and laid. On
being asked how he would maintain the establishment
Dr Gallagher replied, “The providence of’ God and the
generosity of the people ... the people of Goulburn and
district had looked upon the old orphanage as a personal
concern ... the orphans would never be allowed to suffer
for want of food and clothing™.

By Christmas Day 1906, more than fifty girls had moved
into their new home which was handed over (o the Sisters,
free of debt. In 1924 the “extensive and much appreciated

north wing” was added.

Until 1967 the girls receved their primary educaton from
Sisters at the Home and later at local primary schools.
Their secondary education was at either St Joseph'’s
College North Goulburn or Our Lady of Mercy College.
Children at the orphanage often formed close and

warm relationships with “holiday” families, relationships
that for some continue today. One girl completed her
stucies at OLMC and trained at the Mercy Hospital in
Cootamundra before becoming a Sister of Mercy. She
worked for a number of years in Papua New Guinea
before her death at a relatively carly age.

Despite Dr Gallagher’s hopes, money for “food and
clothing™ was always scarce even after the introduction

of Government funding. One Sister recalls making new
clothes while keeping the old pullovers for the girls to wear
on cold, wintry nights. An unexpected donation came
their way and she was able to buy new, warm blankets.
Another time a truck carrving bags of sweets met with an
accident on the highway. Thanks to the local police, this
harvested an unexpected wreat for the girls. When the St
John’s boys received a larger than usual load of apples
from Tumut, the girls had an apple to munch on their
Sunday afternoon walk. Times were hard but unexpected
kindness was much appreciated by both Sisters and
children,
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As was the case for all orphanages in the earlier years,
almost all children were in care due to the death of one or

both parents. From 1960 most children were committed to
care because of social or economic situations.

In 1974 the Sisters began the transition to family group
homes, lirst for the girls alone and then by 1976, for boys
who had sisters in one or other of the homes. At this ume
the former orphanage site came under the auspices of

the Archdiocese and became known as *“The House of

Prayer.”

St John’s Orphanage,

Thurgoona

St John'’s Orphanage for girls at Newtown, later known

as T'hurgoona, was established by Father John Dunne,
parish priest ol Albury, with the Albury Sisters o Mercy
and formally opened by Bishop Lanigan on 16 April 1882,
Mother Ignatius Murphy took Mother Bridget Hilly and
another Sister out to the “home on the hill”™ - the two it
seems were 1ts founding Sisters.

From the beginning, the Sisters and the children shared in
the tasks of the farm with its orchard, dairy and poultry
run as well as in the laundry, sewing room and classrooms.
Farm produce provided some of the Orphanage’s income
but even alter government funding began in the 1960s,
money was always scarce. Life was hard with no cooling
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in summer and little heating in winter. Clothing was
provided by charities such as St Vincent de Paul or made
by the Sisters. Older girls looked after younger ones.
Sleeping accommodation was in dormitories, little children
were bathed and others showered in a communal shower-
room. It was as one of the children remembered, “a tough
life because there was no-one there o cuddle you when
vou felt bad ... I don’t know how the nuns held together ...
and [ think it hurt them a lot not to be able to give us the
things they felt we needed.”

St John's came to be revered and supported by the
community at large, of’ whatever denomination. Children
came from far and wide — almost the first to be placed in
its care were the two young daughters of a chemist on the
West Wyalong goldfield who, with his wife, had died of
fever.

What in time came to be called “Band Sunday”, began
as the day on which students of the Sisters’ school in
Albury brought out gifis of cakes, jams and needlework.
In 1893 the Albury Band began their annual visit to

the Orphanage. Community groups and individuals
contributed in many ways to the support of St John's, A
kind donor in Griflith kept the Orphanage supplied with
almost all its fruit and vegetables,

Of the many sisters of Mercy who cared for the children at
St_John's, Sister Gertrude Liddy warrants special mention
as one who “gave her life to the orphans”™. Many would
“return to St John's to talk over their problems ... or to
show off’ their offspring.” Sister Bernadette Crimmins

was also a much-loved sister, named by one tiny child

as “Sister Kind"”. The kindness of so many Sisters is
reflected in the number of invitations they receive o
attend special occasions in the lives of their “children and
grandchildren™.

A major impact on the life of the Orphanage came with
the arrival from England ol children declared orphans as
a result of the ravages of World War I1. In preparation
for their arrival, the St John'’s girls did their best to have
everything spick and span and shining to welcome the
newcomers. For the new arrivals however, in a confused
and distraught state, this meant nothing and the St John's
girls found their reactions hard to understand.

In 1977 the orphanage closed in favour of a cottage

structure “St_John's Family Care Centre Group Homes”
which enabled siblings to be together. The homes were
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located in middle class streets o help the children o
experience an ordinary family life as closely as possible
like that ol their school companions,

The next development took place in 1989 when ten units
in Coolock Court, Lavington, were purchased to provide
semi-independent living for disabled young women and
men [rom Family Group Homes who were engaged in
sheltered employment. Most recently St John's Famuly
Care Centre became Mercy Care Centre with a focus
on the needs of adulis and children with varving degrees
of physical or intellectual disability. Its work in Papua
New Guinea in conjunction with Christian Brothers also
includes those with mental health issues. The spirit of
mercy bequeathed to her Sisters by Catherine MeAuley

goes on,
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Working Lives

The Religious Congregation of the Sisters of Mercy was
founded with very clear responsibilities: the "arduous but
meritorious duty of instructing the Poor™ — “the most
assiduous application to the Education of poor Girls, the
visitation of the Sick, and the Protection of Poor Women
of Good Character”.

As the Rule makes clear, the practical work of the Sisters
was not carried out from a detached spirit of benevolence,
but from a commitment to the “example of their Divine
Master, Jesus Christ, who has testified on all occasions a
tender love for the Poor, and has declared that He would
consicer as done to Himself whatever should be done unto
them™.

Welcoming
Drawing by Sister Clare Agnew - 1840

As often happened, the Catholic Church developed
numbered lists of the works of mercy which all Catholics
were expected to perform in some degree, The works
selected were drawn from the Gospel of Saint Matthew
and from church tradition. It was to these that the Sisters
ol Mercy devoted their lives.

A visual record of the working lives of the early Sisters
is contained in fifteen drawings created in 1840 by Sister
Clare Agnew, a founding member of the Bermondsey
community in England. Tided “The Spiritual and Corporal
Works of Mercy”, they show images of Sisters performing
works of mercy — visiting the sick and those in prison,
clothing the destitute, teaching children in a schoolroom,
providing comfort and advice to women and children,
praying for the living and the dead.

Chapter Five: Working Lives
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Feeding the Hungry
Drawing by Sister Clare Agnew - 1840

Although these images are more than a litde romanticised,
they provide an invaluable insight into the early work of
the Sisters. Their habit is clearly portrayed, as is their
“outside” clothing, where cloaks and bonnets completely
cover the habit to make the Sisters less conspicuous. There
are also interior scenes of classrooms, the laundry, the
convent parlour, courtyard, and garden. The Sisters are
hard at work, teaching, listening, praving or serving the
poor, their habits and sleeves turned up as they stoke the
fire or carry trays ol food.

As the Congregation grew. the Sisters continued these
works of merey, according to local needs. New foundations
usually established or took over schools and in some
locations Houses of Mercy were created as refuges for
poor women. Visiting prisoners, the sick and those in
need formed part of the regular life of each community.
Nursing the sick and dying became more important and
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Drawing by Sister Clare Agnew - 1840




Voluntary Work at “Vinnies”

}nstructfng the lgnorant
Drawing by Sister Clare Agnew - 1840

the reputation of the Sisters was enhanced when some of
them worked with Florence Nighungale in the Crimea and
others in the United States of America during the Civil
War.

The Sisters who came to Goulburn, Albury and Yass and
the houses founded from them. followed in this tradinon. re re  rebowund yedure - rRCRIVE
Existing Catholic parish schools were taken over or new
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need formed part of the Sisters’ routine. Other works
varied according to the needs of the local community.

Houses of Mercy were not established in this region, - hick Yhoas Thoe -
although work with individual wemen in need feature
ugh wo L th tl‘lflludrufll\ omen in ne H.I fe atur d ol
strongly. In Yass and later Tumut, work with indigenous f i
people was important. There were gaols in Goulburn, -‘-jf-"- ~dlumbled
Albury and Yass, and the Sisters visited the prisoners salrem
L

regularly. In these three main centres educauon for girls

from all sections of society was a priority. Orphanages in
Goulburn and Albury followed soon alier the houses had
been founded. Aged care and hospitals developed a litle
later.

s ™ e,
Mercy Hospital, Albury, the New Theatre - 1957
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Schools

The primary reason the Mercy Sisters came to Goulburn
in 1859 was to take responsibility for Catholic schooling.
On their arrival they ook over the existing school for girls
and infants, and in 1861 they opened a boarding school.

The first Catholic schools in Australia were stafled by

lay people and by 1858, fifteen towns in southern New
South Wales including Goulburn, Albury and Yass, had
Catholic schools supported by state funding. This system
came under increasing stress, so when Archdeacon John
McEncroe visited Ireland in 1839 seeking priests and lay
teachers, he seized the opportunity for a foundation of
Mercy Sisters for Goulburn.
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B-cﬁonl Account for Clara Ftaardon

Bishop Lanigan of Goulburn was deeply committed to
Catholic schools. He foresaw the need for more religious
women and men for the schools, and in 1873 sent Father
McAlroy to Ireland where he recruited a group of
Presentation Sisters for Wagga and a second group of
Mercy Sisters for Yass. When the NSW Public Instruction
Act of 1880 withdrew funds from denominational schools
he signaled his intention of maintaining and expanding
Catholic schools, appointed an Inspector of Catholic

Crnrnt Nl

Prospectus for OLMC Goulburn 1934
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Letter to Mrs Reardon from Sister Liguori 1889

schools and established a system for managing diocesan
schools, with progressive replacement of lay teachers
by Religious. Growth of the Catholic school system has
continued to the present ume.

Schools established by the Merey Sisters in the Goulburn
Diocese fell into two categories — low fee parish (diocesan)
primary schools, and “pension” schools (later known also

Srim of ther Lady of Merrys Celige, Conliew

69



Albury Boarders 1880s

as congregatonal schools) for boarders and girls from
wealthier families in Goulburn, Albury and Yass.

An uncensored letter written by fifteen year old Bridget
O’Connor from Murringo, to her brother Tom shortly
after starting boarding school at OLMC in Goulburn in
1909 provides a personal insight into boarding school

life. She writes: “Itis very cold down here, a white frost
nearly every morning & we feel it too. Up nearly every
morning at half’ past six, that is rather early for me. [ have
been here nearly a fortnight now & I do not feel at home
vet nor never would il [ stayed to the end of ume. Ill only
stay until Christmas, once I get home [ will not be in such
a hurry to leave it again. ... We are to have the ‘Golden
Jubilee™ in October & that will be a bit of a break.” Life
for Bridget improved and by the time she left school in
1912 to go to Sydney University, she had covered hersell
with academic glory.

Yass Boarders 1938

With their mission to the poor and disadvantaged in
mind, in 1881 the Mercy sisters opened St Joseph's School
of Industry in Goulburn as a low-fee boarding school,
intended to provide for the daughters of farmers who
could not afford the fees at OLMC. It was announced in
The Freeman’s Journal as a “middle-class boarding school”.
A second advertisement gave its lees as £5 a quarter,
stating that “the pupils would attend the Nuns® Day
School, and do the housekeeping in all its departments™.
This was in the same building as the Orphanage which
also carried the name of Saint Joseph’s. It 15 not known
how long the School of Industry continued to operate,
though the last recorded mention of it seems to be 1893.
Although carrying a similar title, this school should not be
confused with the Industrial Schools established in Ireland
for the destitute and abandoned.

e 1=t

Goulburn Album 192

Through much of the twentieth century the Mercy

Sisters extended many of their parish schools to include
secondary classes. Binda, Stockinbingal and Gooloogong
each had 1ts own small boarding school for primary and
secondary students who lived further than a day’s ride from
the town.

Many other Catholic religious orders — among them
Sisters of St Joseph, and Good Samaritan, Ursuline,
Presentation and Brigidine sisters, as well as men’s orders
like the Christian Brothers, Marist Brothers and de la Salle
Brothers — also established schools within the Diocese

of Goulburn (now the Archdiocese of Canberra and
Goulburn) and of Wagga Wagga, so that by the mid-
twentieth century a complex network of schools stalled by
Religious operated.

Chapter Five: Working Lives
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Aged Care and Hospitals

T — — — — _— S m—— — —

Sacred Heart _!:_fmpitnf, Young.
m-!ﬂTé;;mf.

BAORED MEART JTOSFITAL YWOUNG

Twonty ono  years have passod sincc tho the surprising  Ggers of  LAS BN ke
Baired Tleart Hoapdtal 6t Young was J::'Iunl!'-; grll.-i:rr-l: ¢ ooapernditure s seslly um-
¥ P h 1 ] ! (ST 1T hal & o=
founded. Thia wellegulpped Imalitutiss, SENoed AR b ipipela s -

.rey planl b batl ta [l .
w0 lagded by Tovernmynl medieal ofielnls, El:ll'-:]“-:-[i.:“:h.lrl.i?:;:i;I 1'Illa'L.hlI: it .;I.F.':..‘LI :I ::I:.r
was satablished bv The Hight Rer. Mem- lx ut the sevies of mrealls phtirmtas sl
sgrar Henneway, WP, V.F. 8a this jubl- that the wienm laondey plomr mhpastud
“lee wear of the Mobsigmer witmdsees the DWW,

2lat anmiversary—ths soming of age—el A communlty of wight Sleters of Mercy
o of Lin mesl dbacisderd achirvesrsts.  and an asxiliery siall of 15 sompes wnd o
0 vonree, (Sere T1 yvam have som mEch sistants attend i thi lemates

growih, an lbe boepiial stesdily progreses] EBpprin]l nttemtionm o fornssed e Yeang
fresn  emall begisaings 15 the oompleted g porernt, ea asdesad of the jealdles of
pile mow romfartably srempring s fve H:m g=or Hesueasy th Jaks, whiw Y
arre hlack srw widl T tamperting the Oeihebs in-

Im 1P2F, exicamve sddilions wiors ffosl- wifciions The Freaf dar, Jess I8 e e
ed to oeppe with (e copsiant stream <f iog commemersied i mm o« %,

flenia whoe entarcd tbhofe, confdesl oFf in

nefiting by e . devolod amd eell
firlng care of ke Riaters of Meror., The reat i r
noble swm o oof EINGM was cxpended on portions of the bhowpitlal wers bessed Ly
theps =xtenslon works, thus bringing the the #frt snd Ir-'-"nri Apmatalie Iwisgatew
toinl coat of Lhe Sacred Heart Hospital te o Australasia, respeciivelp

‘ir""h_lll ke Serlnris

R

i . L

Early Days at Sacred Heart Hospital, Young

Nursing the sick was a central work of the Mercy Sisters
and one familar to the Goulburn founders. Some sisters
had cared for the sick and dyving during the cholera
outbreak in '\".I'nlpq wtin 1854 ;m(i Sister de Paza l}nll}in'n_
in particular, was deeply committed to caning lor the sick.

However it was not unul 1923 that the Goulburn Mercies
started working formally in the areas of health and aged
care, first in Young and later in Cootamundra and Albury.

14
|
I

Mercy Hospital Nurse's Badge 1961

In 1911 the first Catholic hospital in couniry New South
Wales opened in Young, stafled by a group of Sister
Servants ol the Sacred Heart from England. Serious
disagreements between Dean Hennessy of Young and the
Sister Servants led to their relocation to Cootamundra
where they opened a Catholic hospital in the presbytery.
‘To continue the work of the hospital at Young, Bishop
Barry asked the Sisters ol Mercy 1o assume responsibility
for Mount St Joseph's Old People’s Home and the Sacred
Heart Hospital in Young, and in_January 1923 they took

up this work. In 1927 llu“_r also took over the Sacred Hean

Cootamundra Mercy Hospital ¢.1930
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Mercy Hospital, Albury

Marianella Nursing Home
Mercy Hospital Auxiliary

* Annual Reports and —
Financial Statements

1987-88

|

Mercy Hospital Albury Annual Report 1987-1988

Hospital in Cootamundra from the Sisters of Charity
who had run it after the Sister Servants withdrew from

Australia.

In Albury the Mercy Hospital was opened by the Sisters
in 1945 in small rented premises. As funding became
available a large new hospital, the “new” Merey Hospital,
was built, opening in 1957, A nursing home, later known
as Marnanella, and more recently as Mercy Place, followed
in 1963,

In all the hospitals there was a Nurses Training School,
Young women undergoing General Nurse Training were
provided with residential accommodation in the hospitals.
On completing their training, many chose to work
alongside the Mercy Sisters in the hospitals and nursing
homes in Young, Cootmundra and Albury.

Chapter Five: Working Lives

Sacrament of the Sick
Tray used for the Sacrament of the Sick at the Mercy Hospital Albury

In all the hospitals and nursing homes care was given
for the soul as well as for the bodv. The Nursing Sisters
called the priest to attend to the sick and dyving, and kept

praverful vigil at the bedside of the very ill.
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Orphanages

Care for neglected children has always been a central

activity for Mercy Sisters. Exactly when they started caring

for orphan girls in Goulburn is unclear although it can

be safely assumed that it was not long after their arrival.
The obituary for Sister Ignatius Murphy who founded
both Goulburn and Albury communities speaks ol her
“most passionate alfection for [the] helpless little inmates™
of the Orphanage she had established in Newtown (near
Albury). Her interest in the orphans of Goulburn must
have predated her care for the orphans of Albury, but it
was not until 1881 that an official orphanage was opened
in Goulburn,

" Ly -_-1"1 a

Girls at St John's Home, Albury in 1916

In 1878 Bishop Lanigan purchased Hayes Mill opposite
the convent in Goulburn for conversion to an Orphanage
and School of Industry. In March 1881 he blessed and
opened St Joseph’s Industrial School and Orphanage.
The converted Mill soon proved inadequate and in 1905
Bishop Gallagher bought land at Kenmore and a purpose
built orphanage, St Joseph’s, opened in 1906. St John’s
Orphanage for boys opened in the vacated building,
moving to a permanent home on Mundy Street hill in
1913.

Another orphanage for girls was opened in Albury in
1882 at Newtown, later Thurgoona. The Sisters took
responsibility for the existing parish school and opened St
John’s Girls” Orphanage, under the care of Sister Bridget
Hilly and another Sister.

The obitary for Sister Ignatius reads:

For the last eight months of her life she was unable to
speak, and commurnicaled her thoughts lo others in wriling
on a state. Though almost overpowered by the weakness of
approaching death, on last Monday right [Sister [enatins]
wrole the words: - “Will you lake care of the orphans?”
and then handed the slate to me. In reply I said to her, “You
must aleways be regarded as the foundress of s institution.
Your feast occurs i the month of July, and in all human
probability you will be called to your reward before the end
of the month. Nowy to perpetuate your memory, I promise
that an annual appeal will be made to the catholic people
in the month of July for the suppori of the orphan children
whom you have always loved so passionately.” She seemed to
be quite happy afler having obtained the assurance that her
prrecions litile charges would not be forgotien.

WOTecha,

IJ'IW:T. IMPOR TERS, il s, j~ L
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Receipt for the Kenmore Land for St Joseph's 1904

Chapter Five: Working Lives



Indigenous Australians

The Sisters who came to Yass and Goulburn expected
that they would work with the local indigenous people,
This appears not to have been the case at Goulburn, but
in Yass they were greeted on their arrival in 1875 by Lucy
Hamilton, a senior Aboriginal woman. In response they
visited the indigenous people in their homes and began to
teach the children. Although early ofhicial records of the
relationship with the indigenous people are almost non-
existent, it features strongly in the Sisters’ traditons. The
Sisters’ recollections have been used as sources for local
historians, both indigenous and white, striving to build a
picture of the life of the Aboriginal people of Yass in the
late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.

The Goulburn Mercy Congregational Archives hold a
brief and lively but undated (perhaps from the 1970s)
account by Sister M Alacoque McAulilfe headed Yass — the
Story of the Aborigines as well as a succinct but anonymous
account headed Aborigines in Tass (1988).

Originally the Sisters included the indigenous children

in their school but a NSW Government directive of the
early 1880s banned Aboriginal children from attending
schools for the children of the European population. Dean
O’Keefe opened a separate school for Aboriginal children
in the grounds of the convent-school where they were
taught by Sister Xavier Leahy, one of the Yass pioneer
sisters.  Sister Alacoque’s account says the school was
where the “present laundry stands™.

In the 1930s the Aboriginal reserve “Hollywood Mission™
was established on the outskirts of’ Yass. Since the Public
Instruction Act in 1880 which had made school attendance

compulsory, the Aborigines Protection Board had been
encouraging Aboriginal attendance at local schools.
Increasing numbers of indigenous children enrolled in
government schools which unfortunately brought about

a corresponding increase in protests by white parents

over their children associating with children from the
“blacks’ camps”™. A system of separate Aboriginal Schools
developed, including one in Yass at Hollywood.

For many years the Sisters visited Hollywood, providing
instruction, preparing people for the Sacraments, and
making many enduring [riendships. Agnes Shea, a noted
senior Aboriginal Yass woman, recalls “The nuns would
come every Sunday with the priest lor mass at Hollywood.
After the priest left, the nuns would stay on and visit the
various families, and ask them if they had any problems
and generally talk to them.” She adds a wonderful
account of hersell’ and other girls earning some money by
working for the Sisters (she mentions Sister Loretto) during
the school holidays “singing hymns and scrubbin’ like mad
for our shilling a day. And then at the end of the day we
got food packaged for us from the convent kitchen™ (from
Wiradperi Places, 1993).

When the school at Hollywood closed, some of the families
sent their children to the Catholic schools in Yass. The
reserve itsell closed in the 1950s, but the relationship,
particularly between some of the indigenous women

and the Sisters, was maintained. Among the Sisters
remembered for their work with the indigenous people

mn Yass are Sisters Ceciha McGirn, Loretto Reidy, John
()’Brien, Pauline Couch and Alacoque McAuliffe.

Sisters Alacoque é;ﬁ-ﬁéuiina with Bishop Guilford Young and a group
of residents of Hollywood, Yass. Christmas Day 1952
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Visiting those in Prison

Prison visitation was a central work of the Sisters of
Merey, and one quickly taken up by the Sisters on their
arrival in Australia. There was scope for this work in all
three lounding houses of the Goulburn Congregation, but
because of the nature of the work, records are scanty and
largely incidental.

Soon after their arrival in Goulburn the Sisters began
visiting the local gaol. The Goulburn News said that “the
Rev D'Arcy and the Sisters of Merey were in constant
attendance” on Ellen Monks, who was executed in 1860
for the murder of her husband the previous year.

In Yass, local history says that the early work of the Sisters
included visiting and praying with convicts working on
chain gangs on the local roads. The prison in Albury was
located close to the convent, making regular visits less
arduous than in Goulburn or Yass.

In all these places individual Sisters were particularly
remembered for their regular and compassionate visits to
prisoners. There is a rare visible recognition of this in the
album presented to Sister Imelda Sullivan one Christmas
probably in the 1930s. The dedication records this gift “as
a token of love™ by “the men of Goulburn Reformatory™,
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Music and “Special Courses™

It is difficult to overstate the importance of the music that
Catholic Sisters brought to often remote locations across
Australia, but it is important to acknowledge also the
importance of music for the Sisters themselves,

In the nineteenth and first half of the twentieth centuries
a sound musical education was considered essential for a
lady. Many of the women who became Sisters of Mercy
had a strong musical background. and this provided

them with a skill they could use to generate much needed
additenal income for their communities. All they needed
was a piano, and country Australia was rich in pianos.

In the 1880s the German piano industry expanded
dramatically, with Australia becoming its second largest
market in the mid 1880s.

Alfter-school and Saturday morning music classes with
“Sister” were a notable part of the hives of countless
children both Catholic and non-Catholic, and for the
Sisters provided not only money but the reward of working
with individual children and getting to know their parents.
Some of their pupils became notable musicians; others
simply acquired some skill in playing and singin
enjoyment in listening to music.

g, and

Music was also an integral part of the religious lives of the
Sisters, and they used their musical talents in both convent
and parish worship. Some of the earliest newspaper
accounts of the activities of the Sisters are of their concerts
which were occasions when musical attainment could

be exhibited but were also important social and cultural
gatherings.

Some of the Goulburn Mercies are recalled as exceptional
musicians, composers and music teachers. There was
continuity in the musical tradition, as many of the

Sisters had themselves been students at one of the Mercy
schools, and had received their musical education there.
Sometimes this musical education continued after a Sister
entered the convent. The archives are rich in handwritten
music scores both ornginal and copied, and teaching notes.

Music was not the only extra-curricular subject the
Sisters taught — in many places they also taught a range
of “commercial” subjects like bookkeeping and typing,
and other accomplishments such as paintng and fine
needlework, but it is for their music that they are best
remembered.

Chapter Five: Working Lives

O i { . 1.-I f 1...-.'- '/.
ﬂlh Prrer ! Al i gage .'.wf-mfﬂ;_

I I'- Irlr o -I'Ji.{ (W B0 J-‘ o+ ;;Ef: i |

=3 Has flariman  Sacabirren  Asae Goalaf fee ULIE 6 rh ou mmy per gaiiers dr
21

P v mgsd jaailtg N many & ke I-‘-";'ui-"i"f ew -..-.
e e e i o e T |
e p— Lt e it f el
T pdve admnel | oaeirle o mail (new fed gef B oo (b e auan meffuer 1A I'-J'.-:!.1rrnl|.;

e i me | mere madl dhe Wara s Boand .ia'-ﬂd Sl [irne poimm FAnil B3 gara by snan

O

Ao St
o T W ik o £a ?---'n Fretainy waf irerk  dwwin
::::J;:M. r":n £ lll?! !"" il s e et s P aweab e

e

Certie|

Il s

e s PR e e

vallagy on | Fmimt §oein iafegh o fors By for [ e

e LTI e S 7 Y 7 G P
et

Ménuscript .ﬁ.!hum
Handwritten and dated 1914

A School Prospectus for Our Lady of Mercy College
Goulburn dating from 1934 lists the school’s Commercial
offerings, including training in “Book-keeping, Shorthand,
Speed Tests, Type Writing and Business Principles” for
“students who wish to qualify for clerical positions or
Public Service”, citing its “exceptionally successful record
for Commercial Examinations, the results of which
number hundreds in the four years named”. It then goes
on to mention Special Courses:

Special Courses are offeved in Art, Music, Art of Speech
and Needlework, the last-named including Dress Making
Students are prepared for the various Examinations in the
State Conservatorium of Music, the Assoctated Board and
Trimity College, London. An experienced Conductor attends
the College weekly for orchestral practice.

A lengthy paragraph then spells out recent successes in
musical examinations, up to the highest level.
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Lecture Notes. Summer School, Sydney Conservatorium (1918)
Notes written by Sister Aloysius Dunne, music teacher at Corowa and Albury

Our Lady of Mercy College, Goulburn Choir 1968
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Changes

For a hundred years from the foundauon ol the Goulburm
Merey Community in 1839, changes were largely ones

of growth and expansion. New communities were
established, schools were opened and developed and new
ministries, particularly in the health area, were added.
Large numbers of voune women conunued to enter the

novitiate, re-energising the communities,

The peniod after the Second World War brought social and
economic change and the Second Vatican Council (1962-
19635) brought even more changes for members of religious
congregations in the Catholic Church, including the Sisters
of Mercey.

Even before Vatican I there had been two important
organisational developments for the Goulburn
{,1-1:!”[_:]'!‘:_:.|.=i| iInl, |il}1}] ;1{!{[!‘1'3‘*;1“];}: [h.'[" {"}lt”"]l:irlﬂ i"i‘i“.f'
ol umficanon. The 1907 amalegamation ol the houses
in Goulburn, Albury and Yass was seen as largely
administrative,

Institute of Sisters of Mercy of
Australia includes 17 autonomous
congregations.

Pakistan _
- West Perth

Perth

Autonomous Congregations of the Institute of Sisters of Mercy of Australia

Copyright Fraynawork Multimedia 2007
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In the early 1950s the Mercy Congregations in Australia
started to 1'.\:|1]:JJ'I.' Wwavs ol Hnlli-'f.'illt.,‘ while I'l'lililliﬂ;: their
autonomy and the Goulburn Congregation became a
member of the Australian Union of the Sisters of Mercy
in 1954.

The Second Vatcan Councal (1962-1965) brought with i
a major re-examination of life and ministry for Religious.
The 1965 Decree on Renewal of Religious Laife (Perfectae Cantatis)
was explosive in its impact. For all religious communities
it emphasised renewal and a return to the spirit of the
original foundation, along with adaptation to the present
tme. Practical Orders hike the Sisters of Mercy were
enjoined to “adjust their rules and customs to fit the
demands of the apostolate to which they are dedicated”.
|!][];\'i[|.LJ.']| '.I'I'Iﬂl l'”“”””ll.t] |-1'\|fll:|='[."i.ti:li]i.['_'tl, Eth]!]: L% i[l'l
recognition ol the psychological and personal dillerences

between individuals, were +'|n]:rh.'|ﬂi~'rd.
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The outcome was change, much of it dramatic, in all areas
of religious life. During this peniod, for a range of reasons,
some women chose to leave the Congregation, and the
numbers wanting to enter declined.

Over a period of some vears the idenufiable religious dress
was modified, and apart from the Mercy Cross and the
ring, finally discarded by most Sisters.

Continuing educauon and personal and professional
development were encouraged and taken up with
enthusiasm by most of the Sisters. New ways of living
were trialled, and eventually the old Convent buildings
were sold or made over to other purposes. By the
beginning of the twenty-first century Mercy Sisters were
living in small groups or even alone. Housing was modern
and frequently located within the local community rather
than adjacent to the Church or School.

Mercy Sisters in 2009
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New roles were adopted by the Sisters, especially in
fields of pastoral and wellare work. These moves were
made possible by their withdrawal from many of their
traditional ministries like classroom teaching and school
administration, and more recently from stalfing and
administering hospitals. Instead of a team of Sisters
working together, in most cases there would now be only
one Sister in a work area.

In 1981, a further step towards unification of the Sisters

of Mercy in Australia came with the formation of the
Institute of Sisters of Mercy of’ Australia (ISMA), with
seventeen autonomous foundations in Australia, and works
extending to Papua New Guinea and Pakistan. The 2004
National Chapter of ISMA issued a call for a reconfiguring
of the Institute which would “enhance our capacity

for action for mercy and justice locally and globally,
particularly among women™.
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Organisation and Structures

For many Sisters ol the Goulburn Congregation,
identification with their “home™ community — Goulburn,
Albury or Yass - remained strong long after the 1907
amalgamation, with strong resistance to closer ties between

the commumities.

At the grass roots, the Congregation’s membership of the
Austrahan Union of the Sisters of Mercy (1954) also had
little i1n|‘.|-1|:t iniliu”‘_r, but the new Constitutions AP wed

in 1959 signalled important changes. While retaining
much of the structure and the wording ol the original
Rule, it expressed in clear and contemporary terms the
“characteristic” works ol the Sisters, listing them as:

The education and .im:'m}{:,g -r_lj.l'- vaulh in elementary and
secondary schools as well as i colleges and acadenes for

L:‘rf.i'ill'l.
The care and visitation of those in spiritual and lemporal
need and the care of the sick in hospilals

The care of girls, of women, of the aged and of orphans

Wark on the Misstons,

Much obsolete and inconsistent material has been removed
including menton ol lay sisters, and the first changes to

the habit are heralded: “T'he Sisters are permitted to wear
IullJil:\, veils and dprons of white washahle materials where,

in the opinions of Superiors, circumstances demand ",

In 1981 the Union was dissolved and the Institute of the
Sisters of’ Merey of Australia was established covering all
seventeen Mercey foundations in Australia. The Institute’s
Constitutions (1987) is a quite different kind ol document
from earlier ones, reflecting the many changes that
followed the Second Vatican Council. It is in three parts,
a vistonary spintual section, a practical junidical section
much less prescriptive than earlier versions — and a third
section specific to the Goulburn Congregation. Catherine
McAuley’s words in the original Rule are echoed in the new
Constitutions: “In their works the sisters aim to relieve misery
through their service to the poor, sick and ignorant. Sisters
of Mercy therefore become involved in education at all
levels, in health care in its many forms, and in furthering

the social and spiritual well-being of those in need”.

Establishment of the Associates in Mercy in 1991 provided
an opportunity lor layv women and men to share in the
spirit of the Congregation through prayer, community and
mimstry.

The wradition of elected leaders remains central 1o the
governance ol the Sisters of Mercy, but all elections are
now preceded by much consultation and preparatory
work. The Goulburn Congregation continues to elect its
own Leader at a meeting ol Chapter, and at the Institute
Chapter is represented by the Congregation Leader and a
number ol other elected members.

First General Chapter, Australian Union of the Sisters of Mercy, 1654
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Education

The cost ol maintaining the now extensive Catholic School
system, even when the schools were stalled by Religious,
became a central concern across all Australian dioceses.
The reintroduction of government financial support for
denominational schools in the early 1960s, at least in part a
result of the Goulburn School Strike, was a crucial event.

Reform of the New South Wales school system [rom the
early 1960s (ininally through the Wyndham Scheme!,
social developments, improved transport, and a dechne
in the number of Sisters led to other changes. Secondary
sections of small schools closed — Boorowa, Grenfell,
Gundagai and Crookwell all at the end of 196].

Government requirements and higher parental
expectations also led to creative and fruitful outcomes.
[n 1967 the Mercy Sisters and de la Salle Brothers in
Cootamundra opened the first co-institutional and co-
educational Catholic secondary school in Australia, an
approach widely emulated elsewhere.

As numbers of Sisters continued to decline, convents in
some towns closed. In a few places the schools also closed,
but the administraton of most schools was transferred o
the Catholic Education Ofhices of Canberra-Goulburn
and Wagga Wagga which had been established in the

Griffith Students 2005
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mid [960s, The transition from schools staffed completely
by Sisters to those with predominantly lay stafl’ gained
momentum,

Changes to the remaining secondary schools run by the
Sisters came in stages, with Mercy-run schools typically
combining with a school run by one of the male religious
orders to form a co-educational school which was later
transferred to the Diocesan educational authorities. In
Goulburn there was a double amalgamauon — in 1977 Our
Lady of Mercy College combined with St Joseph’s College
from North Goulburn to form the jomtly run Marian
College, and in 2000 Marian College combined with St
Patrick’s College 1o form Trinity College, a co-educational
diocesan school. In 2005 the last of the secondary schools
formerly run by the Sisters (the Catholic High School at
Gniffith) joined the diocesan system as Marian College.
2008 was the last year a Sister of Mercy was engaged as a
teacher in a diocesan primary school, but some Sisters are
still engaged in other kinds of educational work.

The legacy of the Sisters” work in the schools remains in
the tens of thousands of children taught by them, and the
system of now lay-led Catholic schools throughout hoth

Dioceses.
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State Aid and the Goulburn School Strike

Securing financial support for Catholic schools, particularly

from the State, was a persistent problem in Australia for
many years.

Il'l ]Ii'\ \\{‘ll'tlﬂ‘l'il]'._{ .‘\il‘l‘l'i'i] Loy I.hl' ."‘li."-'\-tl'T'.‘q lfi- :‘n!l"‘rl"i i:ll
Goulburn in November 1839, Archbishop Polding spoke
passionately on this topic: “Catholics numbered one third
of the population, and ... they were entitled 1o have their
proportional share of money granted for educational
purposes: and he would urge on congregations to impress
upon their representatives the necessity ol obtaining their
fair share, They must insist on their rights, and nothing less

would satisly them”.
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| THENK [T HAS SOMETHING TO D0 WITH GETTING WHAT WERE PNYING fR°

The Inside Story of the Goulburn School Strike
by Bishop J N Cullinane
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Much early New South Wales legislation related to
education, but the Public Schools Act of 1866, which was
steered through Parhament by Henry Parkes, for the first
time provided some effective control over all education

in the State. This new provision met virulent criticism
from Catholic authonties who saw the government school
system as “squeczing the Catholic faith out of Catholic
people”. Their response roused a bitter reaction against
the continuation ol State support for denominational

schools, particularly Catholic ones.

The Public Instruction Act introduced into Parliament by
Parkes in 1879 came into force on 1 May 1880, Among
the provisions of the act was the withdrawal of’ State aid o
denominational schools from the beginning of 1883, and
the introduction of compulsory education.

The immediate impact of the passage of the Act was the

rapid expansion ol the Catholic School system across New
South Wales, to provide an alternatuve, Catholic education
for ;)til‘mu"} school children and on every |J::v-;ih]l- OCCASION
Hi.\']mp.\ and parish ]ll'il:"xt.\ se1zed the ”E]E’”””"ilf‘ to call for

state aid for Catholic schools.

By 1962 the cost of maintaining the system without state
support had reached crisis point, The apparently trivial
issue of iliillll'{|llitli' toilets at St Hﬁﬂ"i:ﬁ |’I‘i:rl'|;n'j.' School
was the tngger for what became known as the Goulburn
School Strike. The Auxiliary Bishop of Canberra-
Goulburn, John Cullinane said there was simply no money
to make the changes required by New South Wales health
inspectors within the ume specified. After a period of
intense activity, on 9 July 1962 a meeting of parents voted
to close Goulburn’s Catholic schools and enrol the children
in state schools. The |'=J||L:n‘|.1.ill_t_"I ?'l.ll;:l'l{'la‘_'.'. all of Goulburn's
Catholic schools were closed and some 2200 children
arrived at the local state schools to enrol. A week later the
schools reopened, but the impact of the “Strike™ was huge.
The following vear the Prime Minister, R G Menzies,
introduced Federal support for non-government schools
and by the end of 1967 funds were also coming from the
New South Wales government,



Child Weltare

Ower a period of nearly a hundred years the Sisters
cared for thousands of children at the three orphanages,
St Joseph's (Girls) in Goulburn, St John's (Girls) in
Thurgoona, and St John's (Boys) in Goulburn. Generous
parishioners always helped with clothing and feeding

the children and welcoming them into their homes for
hohidays. From 1960 all children in care were paid child
endowment and some further government assistance
also became available, but conditions were spare for both
Sisters and children.

By the 1970s changes in attitudes and social welfare policy
meant that care of children in large institutions was no
longer acceptable, and the importance of keeping family
groups together was recognised. By then, only 4% of

the children in the care of the Mercy sisters were actually
orphans,

In 1974 the then Provincial, Sister Carmella, as well as the
Sisters in charge of the Goulburn homes, Sisters Margaret
Brown and Sebastian Hanlon started a process which
would end with the closure of both the orphanages, while
providing better care for the children. In October a first
group moved from St Joseph’s to a house in Auburn Street,
and a second group followed soon after. Two years later
boys from 5t John's who had sisters in the cottages joined
them. By 1979 both Goulburn orphanages were closed.

A review of St John’s Girls” Orphanage in Thurgoona

in 1974 resulted in the Sisters opening their first Group
Home for children in 1976, and by 1978 the transition was
completed. Three Family Care Centres were established,
each with up to eight boys and girls.

Over the next few years some of the children in the
cottages in both towns were reunited with their parents or
other family carers, and others moved to foster homes. In
1987 the last of the cottages closed, but the Sisters and
many of the children stll have close ties.
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Health and Aged Care

By 1957 when the new Mercy Hospital opened in Albury,
the Sisters were running modern hospitals in Young,
Cootamundra and Albury. Changes in health care
stancdlards meant that all three hospitals required constant
upgrading and development. In 1961 it was agreed to
present a more consistent image and the hospitals at Young
and Cootamundra both changed their names to Mercy
Hospital.

In 1975 the New South Wales Government rationalised
health services, and the hospitals began o re-position
their services when general nurse education moved [rom
a hospital based service to the new Colleges of Advanced
Education and Instututes of Technology, starting in 1978,

In 1980 major changes to the Goulburn Congregation
Mercy hospital system were announced. The Mercy
Hospital at Cootamundra would close, to immediately re-
open as the Cootamundra Hospital. At Young a regional
unit for care of the aged and chronically ill would be
established and other hospital services transferred to the
Young District Hospital. In Albury the hospital would
remain an acute hospital, with an expanded obstetrics unit.
These procedures were [inalised in 1987. Later again,
acute services at Albury were withdrawn, obstetrics services
transferred to Wodonga District Hospital, and existing
specialist areas strengthened — geriatric assessment,
palliative care and the Parents and Babies unit.

Unlike the schools which for many years were stafled
exclusively or predominantly by Sisters, the hospitals

had [rom very early in their histories included lay staff as
nurses, many of them trained within their own system.
However, as with the schools, the number of lay stall’
mcreased, and 1998 saw the last Mercy Sisters on the
nursing stafl’ of the Congregation’s hospitals at Young and
Albury.

Care of the aged had become a particular work of the
Sisters, starting in Young with Mount St Joseph’s Home,
extending to Bethany (for aged Sisters) in Cootamundra,
and later Marianella Nursing Home, in Albury. All

these facilities were upgraded and extended, with special
accommodation for aged sisters now at Young. Extensive
geriatric care and rehabilitation services were added to the
services at the Mercy Care Centre in Young,
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In 2007 to ensure continuity of ministry within the Mercy
cthos, ownership of the health and aged care facilities
was transferred to the Melbourne based Mercy Health.
The Sisters” present involvement in Health Care 15 in
chaplaincy, pastoral care and aged and palliative care
support.



New Ways of Working
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In 1959 it was decided to close the school at Stockinbingal
but keep the convent open as the centre of a new ministry.
A Motor Mission was established, and Sisters travelled 1o
twenty three state schools in towns such as Young, Jugiong,
Koorawatha, and Bribbaree, providing religious education
and preparing children to receive the Sacraments. At the
end of 1961 the headquarters for the Motor Mission was
transferred to Young and Cootamundra, and later again 1o
Murrumburrah. Further south, a second Motor Mission
based in Corowa started in 1962, with the Sisters travelling
to Urana, Mulwala and Howlong, The Walking Nuns had
become Driving Nuns, covering hundreds of kilometres
each week, working closely with individuals and small
groups. The Motor Missions closed in the late 1980s but
had been the harbingers of many new works undertaken
by the Sisters.

Work with indigenous people continued particularly at
Tumut and with the Brungle Community, and a new
ministry to young people and adults with disabilities
particularly in the Albury region was established and
continues to thrive. Residential supported accommodation
for children and adults grew from the existing work of St

7T

Motor Mission Howlong - 1962

B

John’s Family Care Centre, and from this has emerged

the Mercy Centre Lavington, which offers a range of
professional services to people with a disability. The
Centre also attends to people who are not easily supported
by other service providers, including those of indigenous
background and those who come out of the criminal
justice system. Its services extend to Wodonga, Orange,
Narrabri, Tamworth, Coft’s Harbour and Newcastle. In
collaboration with the Christian Brothers programmes are
also offered in Wewak, Goroka and Mt Hagen in Papua
New Guinea.

Cooperation has become a feature of many of the works
of the Mercies, with Sisters working with other agencies
or groups alongside lay colleagues. They have worked
and continue to work in panshes, hospitals, schools and
prisons in a variety of pastoral roles as well as in advocacy
and social justice. The range of works has been extensive,
constantly evolving as needs have emerged. In a number
of towns the work of the Sisters in the broader community
has been recognised publicly particularly since the 1980s,
Tumut, Cootamundra, Albury, Young, and North Albury
have all acknowledged individual sisters for their work.
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Changed Dress and Way of Living

The most obvious identifier of a Sister was for many years
the religious habit. Derived from the ordinary dress of
women in the 1830s, the Mercy habit persisted well into
the 20th century, and Sisters regarded it as an essential part
of their identity. In the 1950s minor modifications were
made, but after the Second Vatican Council changes came
quickly. Some time after 1967 the modified habit (short
skirt, roll collar and pulled back veil) was accepted for
Goulburn. Veils were optional by 1982, and some years
later the Goulburn Sisters agreed that “as a sign of our
consecration and as a witness to poverty we wear a simple
and appropriate dress including our profession ring and the
distinctive Mercy Cross. We have the option of wearing the
vell”, Some elderly Sisters still prefer to wear the modified
habit including the veil.

The new Mercy Cross, adapted from the large ebony and
ivory one, was adopted at General Chapter of the Union
in 1978 and is now worn as a pin or pendant.

[t was not only the dress that had changed, the whole way
of living had altered. With the relinquishment of the
large convent buildings, communities are now typically
small, frequently including one or more older Sisters.
Some Sisters live alone. Community life and prayer
remain central to their lives, and they keep formal and
informal links among themselves and with the other Mercy
Congregations.
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Beyond the Diocesan Boundaries
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An immediate benefit of membership of the Australian
Union of the Sisters of Mercy, and later of the Institute of
the Sisters of Merey (ISMA) was the opportunity for work
bevond the diocesan boundaries, particularly with sisters
from other Mercy Congregations.

As early as 1955 the newly appointed Superior of the
Union received a request from Wewak in New Guinea,
asking as i’ in a repeat of the events of one hundred years
earlier “il it would be possible to send some Sisters”.

It was not possible then, but within a few months the

first band of Mercy sisters left for Goroka in the New
Guinea highlands. Two years later, in 1958, Sister Patnick
Mahoney became the first international missionary

from the Goulburn Congregation. Others followed later,
working in areas of health and education. As local women
joined the Mercy Sisters from Australia, responsibility for
the community was gradually handed over to them, and in
the 1980s the Autonomous Region of Papua New Guinea
was formally established, becoming a member of Institute
of the Sisters ol Mercy Australia (ISMA).

Another “beyond the diocese™ work of ISMA was in the
Kimberley in Western Australia. In 1984 Sister Margarita
Dulfly was appointed 1o the Mission in Billiluna, working
there for three years, followed by five vears at Balgo and
two at Turkey Creek. On her return she has continued her
work with indigenous people at Tumut.

In 1986, Sister Colleen Livermore was one of a group Sister Margarita in Balgo ~ c1990
of ISMA Sisters who went to Peshawar in north-western

Pakistan o establish a Mercy school, working there for

many years. Other Sisters have worked independently of

[SMA in South Africa, and the United States.

Sister Colleen in Peshawarr - 1987

Sister Patrick in New Guinea - ¢1960
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At the Heart

At the heart of each Mercy community is the Chapel, the
house of prayer.

In each of the foundation houses beautiful Chapels were
built, with stained glass windows brightening the interiors.
At praver, either assembled as a community or individually,
Sisters were surrounded by inspiring images.

As was customary, in both Goulburn and Yass the chancel
window, fully visible to all, depicts scenes at Calvary,
ncluding the hgures of Mary and Saint John grieving at
the foot of the crucified Christ.

The Albury chancel windows portray Saint Joseph, patron
of the boarding school, and Mary, in a very beautiful
window, a gift from the School boarders.

Mary is portrayed in several windows in the Chapels,
under dillerent titles.

Calvary Our Lady of the Sacred Heart
Goulburn Chapel

The Irish saints Patrick and Brigid appear in all three
locations, particularly appropniately for Goulburn and
Albury as these are the patron saints of the convents,
though with its transfer to the new Chapel in 1891, the
large “Insh saints” window in Goulburn is now obscured
in the loft.

People associated with the convents are commemorated

in various ways. In Yass, windows depict the saints

whose names were taken by the founding Sisters on their
profession: Saints Paul, Bernard, Stanislaus, Francis
Xavier, Joseph and John Berchmans, as well as the Sacred
Heart of Jesus, a reference to Saint Margaret Mary
Alacoque. The chancel window there is dedicated 1o
Dean O'Keefe: “A Tribute of Gratitude to Very Rev Dean
O’Keefe from the Sisters”, and in Albury Father Michael
McAlroy is commemorated in a window dedicated to him,
depicting Michael the Archangel.

[T CIFT OF THE COMVENT BOARDERS)

St Brigid Blessed Virgin Mary
Goulburn Chapel Albury Chapel
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Sources and Acknowledgements

Locating and selecting items to include in the
Sesquicentenary Exhibition was challenging, and in some
cases the information about those chosen was limited.,

The Congregational Archives at Braddon, formerly at

St Michael’s in Goulburn, holds a collection of official
records, memorabilia, photographs, memoirs and similar
items, but there are many gaps. During her third period
as Superioress General, while resident at St Michaels,
Sister Colombiére McKillop worked on her History of
Foundations in the Goulburn Province, so it can be assumed
that many of the records required were then held at 5t
Michael’s or brought there by her, but the extensive work
of formalising the archives was largely the work of the first
Congregational librarian/archivist Sister Eileen Casey.
She located, collected and organised information and
objects. After her death in 2004 the work was continued
by her successor, Sister Ellen Yates. Without their work it
would have been impossible to produce the exhibition.

Primary sources for the earliest period include photocopies
of extracts from the Annals of the Westport and
Rochfortbridge in Ireland. entries from microfilmed local
and Irish newspapers, some correspondence, and the Acts
of Chapter and Registers of Professions for each of the
three founding houses. The Register of Professions is
complete to the present day, but the Acts of Chapter from
the period after 1907 when the three houses amalgamated,
do not appear to have survived. They recommence many
years later in the 1980s. Minutes of the meetings of
Council, an advisory group ol very senior sisters, survive
from the 1920s, but the minutes for the period 1o 1962
have been culled, perhaps to remove sensitive information.
Minutes are complete from 1963 but because of privacy
concerns were not consulted for the Sesquicentenary
Exhibiton.

Any work on the early history of the Catholic Church in
Australia relies on information published in The Freeman’s
Journal which published articles from contributors and
republished accounts from other newspapers in Australia
and Ireland

There is also a series of in-house histories of the
Congregation, written by Sisters Gabriel Campbell,
Colombiére McKillop and Eileen Casey. Sister Gabriel
Campbell was an important historian of the Congregation,
identified as the author of two published short histories

Sources and Acknowledgements

and a further publication that includes some historical
entries. In 1909 to mark the fiftieth year of the arrival of
the Sisters in Goulburn, a commemorative booklet titled
Golden Links was published. Tt includes the first known
summary history of the Goulburn Congregation written
by Gabriel. In it she drew on official sources, personal
recollections and undoubtedly in-house tradition, covering
the period to 1907. There is a short separate article on the
Amalgamation with Albury and Yass. In 1931 as part of
the worldwide centenary celebrations of the foundation
of the Sisters of Mercy, Gabriel wrote a lengthy article
Goulburn Foundation of the Sisters of Mercy — lor publication

in the Goulburn Catholic newspaper Our Cathedral Chimes.
This was separately published as a small booklet: Brigf
History of the Goulbern Foundation of the Sisters of Mercy, 1859-
1931. The third publication with which she is associated

is Diamond Jubilee of the Sisters of Mercy and of Our Lady of
Merey’s College Goulburn, 1859-1934. This includes some
historical information, particularly about the orphanages
in Goulburn and hospitals and aged care facilities in Young
and Cootamundra. For some of the early history of the
Clongregation, these three publications provide almost

the only imformation in existence, but with a certain bias
towards Goulburn. Some information about Albury and
its work is included but there is litde of Yass.

Between 1963 and 1969 Sister Colombiére McKillop
assicluously compiled and updated the historical
information, producing a four-part typescript history, The
History of Foundations in the Goulburn Province. Unlike the
previous historical accounts she covers appropriately the
work of the Albury and Yass foundations. "The fourth part
was “researched by M. M. Colombiére but only written in
part by her ... it was completed by Sr. Eileen Casey from
M. M. Colombiére’s notes™.

In 1987, as ministries in the Congregation changed, Sister
Eileen Casev produced the first of a series of photocopied

Newsletters — Our History for the Sisters, covering the history

of the Congregation from 1859 to 1868. Eileen had

been asked to undertake this task by the then Provinaial,
Sister Germaine McCann, and produced six further
newsletters, each covering a set period, with the final one
covering events to 1987, The Newsletters are not historical
narratives; rather they are sourcebooks, containing selected
extracts from primary records, with most of the narrative
text taken from the accounts by Gabriel and Colombiére.
Photographs are included as well as some personal
accounts.



In the archives there are also many short typescript
histories written for particular occasions, all drawing very
heavily on the work of Gabriel and Colombiére, There
are also several personal narratives, some known to have
been sought by Eileen.

In 2000 Eileen produced Held in Our Hearts: a Story in
History of the Sisters of Mercy of the Goulburn Congregation.
This is written in story form, developing and expanding
Colombicre’s work and Eileen’s own Newslethers, extending
the period covered to about 1998, including more
biographical information, and attempting to correct some
errors that had crept into the narrative.

Planting the Celtic Cross: Foundations of the Catholic Archdiocese
of Canberra and Goulburn, by Rev Brian Maher, historian of
the Archdiocese of Canberra and Goulburn is an essential
source ol background informauon as well as providing very
sound contextualised accounts of the work of the Sisters.
Father Maher also provided Ellen with information about
aspects of parishes in the Archdiocese.

Other publications valuable for understanding the work of
the Sisters of Merey in Australia include Catherine Kovesi
Killerby's biography of Ursula Frayne, Madeleine Sophie
MecGrath's account of the Sisters of Mercy Parramatta
and Mary Ryan’s history of the Sisters of Mercy
Wilcannia-Forbes.

Background information on Catherine McAuley and the
early history of the Sisters of Mercy is available in a range
of publications. Nowable recent works include those by
Mary C Sullivan who has produced a number ol scholarly
publications including a collected edition of Catherine
MecAuley's letters, and a collection of early histories of the
Congregation. She also provided helpful information on
the term *Walking Nuns”.

Brother Ronald Fogarty's book on the early vears of
Catholic education in Australia provided additional
important information.

Many local communities have written and published
histories of their school or convent to mark special
occasions, Some are brief, a few (particularly Mount Carmel
Centenary) are substantial. Even briel accounts provided
information or a perspective not readily available elsewhere
and on occasion opened doors to other informaton,

Other valuable resources in the Archives are a number
of collections of photographs and scrapbooks compiled
for particular occasions or place, though there are few
photographs until the mid 1960s.

The Archivists of the Western and Northern Provinces
of the Congregation of the Sisters of Mercy, Ireland,
provided copies of the Annals of Westport and
Rochfortbridge. Sister Denise Coen, Archivist of the
Sisters of Mercy Adelaide Congregation, sent a facsimile
of one of Catherine Meauley’s letters. Thanks to Merey
International Association for permission to reproduce
the drawings of Sister Clare Agnew; and to Fravnework
Multimedia for permission to reproduce maps used in the
exhibition and catalogue.

The Natonal Gallery of Australia gave kind and generous
help in mounting and conservation matters and the loan
of display furniture. Thanks in particular to Mark Bayly,
Shulan Birch, Scott Franks, Fiona Kemp, Patnce Riboust,
James Ward and Andrea Wise for sound advice and
patient, practical help.

Others who provided advice and assistance for the
exhibition are Margaret Dent, National Library of
Australia; Sisters Karen Muir and Barbara Fogarty, Sisters
of St Joseph, North Goulburn; and Gerard Fuzparrick.

We are grateful 1o Rosanna Horn for her sensitive design

work on the pull-up banners and umeline, and to_James
Grounds for his work on the exhibition catalogue.
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Exhibition Checklist

Some items are reproduced in the exhibition as design
features only, on pull-up banners, These are included

in the checklist and are indicated by an asterisk (¥).
Where original items were not available to display, some
photocopies and transeripts have been included. In the
checklist they are identified as copies, but have been given
the date of the onginal item. Book titles are in italics, as
are other works with their own utles.

INTRODUCTORY

Houses Founded by the Sisters of Mercy
Goulburn Congregation (2009)
36 coloured vinyl banners, ecach including the name of

a town or city. Designed and produced by SignageOne,

Goulburn.

Houses Founded by the Sisters of Mercy
Goulburn Congregation (2009
Coloured map. Design: Rosanna Horn Design.

Sisters at Cootamundra * (1968)
Black and white photograph.

Sisters of Merey Goulburn Congregation (2009)
Coloured umeline. Design: Rosanna Horn Design.
Text: Frances Fitzpatrick rsm.

Walking Nun (2009)

Clinical teaching model from Mercy Hospital, Albury,
dressed in habit of Sisters of Mercy circa 1960. Dress,
guimp and footwear reconstructions, Other items
original.

World Distribution of the Sisters of Mercy * (2007)
Coloured digital map. Copyright Fraynework
Mulumedia 2007,

1. CATHERINE McAULEY (1778-1841) AND THE
SISTERS OF MERCY

CATHERINE MCAULEY

Catherine McAuley (1778-1841) Foundress of the
Sisters of Mercy (mid twentieth century)
Framed reproduction of painting by Madame Wanda

RSCJ.

Catherine McAuley in 1829 (between 1841 and 1880)
Tyvped extract from A Memnotr of the Foundress of the Sisters
of Mercy in Ireland [the Dublin Manuseript], by Sister Clare
Augustine Moore (1808-1880).

Exhibiton Checklist

Act of Profession of Catherine McAuley (1831)
Typed copy of text of Catherine McAuley’s Act of
Profession. Original at St George’s Hill Presentation
Convent Dubhin,

Letter to Sister de Chantal McCann (between
March 1835 and 1841)

Facsimile of letter written by Catherine McAuley from
Baggot Street, Dublin. Onginal held by Sisters of
Mercy in Adelaide.

Mother Mary Catherine McAuley (1938)
By Eily MacAdam. Dublin, The Anthonian Press.

Maxims and Counsels of our Beloved Foundress,
Mother Mary Catherine McAuley, Gathered from
her Life, Letters, Sayings and the Annals of the
Order (1900)

Cork, printed by Guy & Co.

Thoughts from the Spiritual Conferences of
Mother M. Catherine McAuley... arranged for
Every Day in the Year by the Sisters of Mercy
Carysfort Park, Blackrock, Do. Dublin [1946)
Dublin, printed by M.H. Gill and Son.

Our Lady of Mercy (twentieth century)
Iramed coloured picture of Our Lady of Mercy taken
from fresco in San Pudenziana, Rome.

Tue RuLe

In the Beginning (1967)

1967 facsimile of the Rule and Constititions written

by Catherine McAuley in 1833 and corrected by

Archbishop Murray of Dublin, Dublin, Sisters of
Merey.

Of the Object of the Congregation (1990s)
Reproduction of the first page of an illuminated copy
of the Rule and Constitutions of the Sisters of Mercy, by
Sister Clare Augustine Moore (1808-1880). Dublin,
Mercy International Centre.

Rule and Constitutions of the Religious, Sisters of
Mercy, Confirmed by Our Holy Father Gregory
16th, 1841 (aficr 1842)

Handwritten copy of the Rule and Constitutions, inscribed
in the text with the name of Sister Paula Cullen,
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Rule and Constitutions of the Religious Sisters

of Our Blessed Lady of Mercy Confirmed by our
Holy Father Pope Gregory Pope Gregory XVIA.D.
1841 (18752

Handwritten copy of Chapters 1 - 22 of the Rule and
Constitutions.

The Rule & Constitutions of the Religious called
Sisters of Mercy in Italian & English (1863
Dublin, printed by James Duffy.

ApprLyinGg THE RuLe

A Guade for the Religious Called Sisters of Mercy,
Amplified by Quotations, Instructions ete, Part 3
1888)

London, printed by Saint Anne’s Press,

The Customs and Minor Regulations of the
Religious Called Sisters of Mercy in the Parent
House, Baggot-Street, and its Branch Houses
(1869)

Dublin, printed by J.M. O Toole and Son.

Rosary with Original Mercy Cross (1940)
Large wooden rosary, with ebony & ivory cross.

Diagram of a Sister with Components of Habit
Identified (2009
Black and white illustration on paper.

Prayers to be Said While Putting on the Religious
Dress (1950)

Plaque containing the text of the prayers to be said
while dressing. Formerly hanging in the bedroom of a
Sister.

Conscience Beads (196(s)
Handmade aid to prayer, to be pinned to habit — plastic
beads on string, with medal.

Pocket Watch (1967
Pocket watch inscribed with +166 on back.

Twelve Particular Examens (20" century)
{:{m'ipilcd by Rev. M. J. Watson, S.]. Melbourne,
printed by J. Roy Stevens.

WaLking Nuns

Sister Jude visiting a Person in Need (1980s)
Black and white photograph.
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Logo of the Sesquicentenary Celebrations of
the Goulburn Congregation (2009)

Colour copy of logo of the Sesquicentary celebrations.
Design: James Grounds.

2. GOULBURN, ALBURY, YASS

GOULBURN

Annals of Mount Saint Mary Convent Westport
(1859)

Photocopy of extract from the Aunals for December 15
1839 recording the receipt in Westport ol news of the

arrival of the Sisters in Goulburn.

Ciborium (1859

Silver ciborium brought to Goulburn in 1859,
Inscription: Presented by the Vy Revd Dean Burke, PP
Westport, Co. Mayo, Ireland to the Sisters of Merey as
a mark of his affection on their leaving his parish for
Australia July 1839. Hoping they will pray for his soul.

Sisters of Mercy (1859

Photocopy of article from The Freeman’s jowrnal Tor
November 2 1859, describing the Sisters” arnival in
Goulburn.

Father McAlroy in the Original Chapel in
Goulburn (18627

Sepia photomontage depicting Father McAlroy, Chapel
mterior and marble plaque.

The Goulburn Convent, School and Cathedral
(1928
Untitled oil painting signed Wallace 1928.

Saint Patrick’s Convent of Mercy Goulburn *
(1970s)

Coloured photograph.

ALBURY

Acts of Chapter Convent of Our Lady of Mercy
Saint Bridget’s, Albury, N.S.W. Australia
(1868-1907)

Book with brass lock and key, containing handwnitten
records of Albury Chapter from 28 July 1868 10 14
October 1907.
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Avrival of the Catholic Bishops of Goulburn and
Bathurst [1868)

Photocopy of article from The Freemans Journal for 1
August 1868 reporting the arrival of the Sisters of
Mercy in Albury.

Register of Professions Convent of Mercy St
Bridget’s, Albwry N.S.W. (1868-1991)

Book with brass lock, containing handwritten
individual entries for women who joined the Albury
community between 1868 and 1979,

R. C. Convent, Albury, N.S.W. * (1909)

Postcard with coloured image of Albury Convent, with
note on the back dated 30/9/09.

Albury Convent Jubilee (1918)
Black and white photograph idenufied as by

Convent of Mercy, Yass * (undated)

Postcard with black and white illustration of convent
apparently from the early twentieth century. Identified
as by Howard & Taylor.,

AMALGAMATION

Amalgamation of the Sisters of Mercy in the
Diocese of Goulburn. Report of Conference ...
First Council Meeting ... Supplement to Rule and
Constitutions, First General Chapter [1908)
Goulburn, printed by James Locke.

Brigid Hartnett, First Superior General of the
Amalgamated Houses of the Sisters of Mercy in
the Diocese of Goulburn (before 1924

Sepia photograph.

J-W.Hunter, Albury, taken outside Albury Convent on 3. LIFE AS A SISTER OF MERCY
the 50th anniversary of the arrival in Albury:
MAINTAINING THE MERCY Way

Yass

Annals of the Convent of Mercy Rochfortbridge
(1876)

Photocopy of extract from the Annals - handwritien
entry for 1 January 1876 recording receipt of news of
the arrival of the Sisters in Yass.

Yass (1876

Photocopy ol article from The Freemans Journal for 8
January 1876 reporting the arrival of the Sisters ol
Mercy in Yass.

The Yass Founders, Sisters Paul Fielding,
Bernard Grennan and Alacoque McLaughlin
(1875?)

Black and white photomontage apparently assembled
[rom photographs of the three Sisters held at
Rochfortbridge Convent of Mercy.

INluminated Address given to Mother Alacoque
on her Golden Jubilee (1919

Handwritten address with a coloured illustration,
recording the gratitude of parishioners, fricnds and ex-
pupils of Yass Convent.

Life Story of a Valiant Woman (1925,
By Sister Gertrude Grogan. Biography of Sister Paul
Fielding, Printed in Sydney, Westmead Boys Home.

Exhibition Checklist

Acts of Chapter of the Community of Saint
Patrick’s Convent of Our Lady of Mercy
Goulburn New South Wales (1859-1907)

Book with brass lock containing handwritten records of
Goulburn Chapter from May 23 1860 to 14 June 1907,

Chapters held at Mount Carmel Convent of Our
Lady of Mercy Yass from the Year 1875 (1875-
1906

Leather bound book containing handwritten records
of Yass Chapter from 29 December 1875 to 5 March
1906.

The Customs and Minor Regulations of the
Religious Called Sisters of Mercy (1931)

Revised edition lor Goulburn Congregation. Sydney,
printed by James |. Lee.

Rules for Branch Houses of Religious Sisters in
the Diocese of Goulburn undated
Leaflet. Goulburn, printed by WR. Rilev & Co.

BecoMING A SISTER

Register of Professions in the Convent of Our
Lady of Mercy St Patricks Goulburn Established
27th October 1859 (1859-2008)

Book containing handwritten individual entries for

women who joined the Goulburn community between
1860 and 1945,
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Yass Register of Professions (1870-1970)

Book containing handwritten individual entries lor
women who joined the Yass community between 1876
and 1892 (includes entries for the pioneer Sisters from
Ireland).

Bishop Gallagher’s Notebook (1 909-1915)
Exercise book containing handwritten speeches and
letters by Bishop Gallagher. Displayed: ext of speech
commenting on the opening of St Michael's Novitate
(1909,

Ceremonial for the Reception and Profession of
the Religious Sisters of Mercy (1869

Includes ownership stamp of Convent of Our Lacdy of
Merev St Bridget's Albury. Dublin, James Dully.

Housework at St Michael’s Novitiate early 1960s
1960s

Black and white photograph taken on the verandah of

St Michael’s.

Undertaking of a Postulant (1924

Pro-forma document signed by Sister Edmund Farrell
on entering the Sisters of Merey in Goulburn as a
postulant in 1924,

Act of Profession — Madeleine Lawrence * (1927
Formal record ol vows taken at the time of final
prolession as a Sister of Mercy. Handwritten and
illuminated on single sheet.

Act of Profession — Ursula Drennan * | | 956
Formal record of vows taken at the ume ol final
profession as a Sister of Mercy. Handwritten and
illuminated on single sheet.

Act of Profession — Kerry Shoemark * (1969
Formal record of vows taken at the time of final
profession as a Sister ol Mercy. Handwritten and
tlluminated on single sheet.

Livine THE REuiGcious Lire

Pair of Silver Candelabra (1860s”
From the original Chapel in Goulburn,

Missale Romanmon (19242
Missal given to Sisters from Howlong by the Sisters at
Thurgoona (1927). Rome? Alfrede Mame et Filiorum,
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Goulburn Community (1973-1975)

Black and white photograph depicting almost all the
Goulburn Sisters, taken in front of the Convent of
Mercy Goulburn (1973). In an album covering the
years 1973-1975 (Goulburn community).

Daily and Occasional Community Prayers of the
Sisters of Mercy of the Australian Union (19605
Canberra, printed by Canberra Publishing Co.

Spiritual Library of a Sister of Mercy (various dates
33 books, a portion of the spiritual library of Sister
Ellen Yates who died in 2008,

Act of Renewal - Benedict Tanner * (undated)
Act of renewal ol vows of Sister Benedict Tanner.
Handwrnitten and illuminated on single sheet.

Baraxcing THE Books

Account Book: Convent of Mercy Albury | 1877-
1898)

Large account book with handwriten records of
income and expenditure for Albury Convent and
hoarding school. Annual summaries signed ofl’ by
Superior, Bursar and Parish Priest.

Account Book: Convent of Mercy Barmedman
(1907-1920)

Account book with handwritten records ol income
and expenditure for the Barmedman Convent. Inital
(1907) and final (1920) summaries (and some others
signed ofl’ by Bishop John Gallagher.

GETTING ON WITH THE CLERGY

Letter from Bishop Gallagher to Mother
Stanislaus O'Neill (1906}

Letter (28 February 1906) written on the reverse of a
letter to Bishop Gallagher from W? Gardiner, Manager
of the Commercial Bank Goulburn to the Bishop.
Photocopy of Gardiner’sletter also displaved.

GENEROUS BENEFACTORS

The Belconnen Chapel: Tobin Brothers Canberra
Funerals (20097

Booklet describing the reconstructed Chapel of the
Convent of Mercy Boorowa, now a funeral chapel in
Canberra, Canberra, Tobin Brothers,

Exhibiuon Checklist



Sterling Silver and Ivory Trowel (1910)
Inscription: Presented to the Right Rev: |, Gallagher
DD Bishop of Goulburn by A. Ryan on the occasion
ol his blessing and laving the Memonial Stone of the
Galong Convent and School. ], Sharkey Rector. May
5th 1910.

Letter from Bishop Gallagher to Miss Anastasia
Ryan Galong 1913

Letter requesting payment for construction of the boys’
boarding school at Galong.

Foop ror THE HousEHOLD

Sister Margaret Hermann (1970s?)

Black and white photograph of Margaret Herrmann
(1912-2003) in the Mercy Hospital kitchen,
Cootamundra.

Sister Margaret Herrmann’s Cookbook (undated)
Exercise book including Margaret’s handwritten recipes
and houschold hints with some items from magazines
and newspapers glued in. Produced over many years.

Sister Zita (1982)

Newspaper cutting. Article on the work ol Sister Zita
by Michael Dufly. pictures by Cathy Tremain in Border
Morning Mail 15 May 1982. Albury, Border Morning
Mail.

Apron and Sleeves 2009

Blue and white check cotton apron and sleeves similar
to those formerly worn by the Sisters for manual work.
Reconstruction.

HoLipays

Holidays (1960s)

Typed rules for Sisters on holiday (on two pages)
] ) g

probably from the 1960s.

Holidays at Cronulla in the 1950s (1950s) and
Holidays in the 1990s (1990s

Two black and white photographs taken on the steps
and lawn at The Retreat Cronulla.

Arways Occupriep

“Useful Work™: Crochet and Tatting (various
dates)

Group ol crocher doily, tating book, tatting shuttle,
thread and work, 2 medals.

Exhibition Checklist

Flower Show Certificates (1996 and 1997)

Two certificates awarded to St Michael’s at Goulburn
Annual Rose Show (for 1996 and 1997), 1996 with
ribbon attached.

Golden Links in the Golden Chain of Happy
Memories (1935

Cloth covered book containing handwritten and
illustrated copies of original verse by Sister Teresa
Hooley (1969-1954). Calligraphy and decorations by
her former pupil Marie Harris. Some verses added
later in a different hand.

Original Verse by Sister Francis O’Grady (19605
Small hand-sewn booklet containing humorous verse
and line drawings by Sister Frances O’Grady (1933-
1990).

BeEmG INVISIBLE

Consecration of Children of Mary Goulburn
Convent Chapel (1910

Black and white photograph of ceremony in the
Chapel, with Sisters nearly invisible at the sides,

“Family Photographs™ (2009

Two digital albums each with rolling display ol mostly
scanned photographs ol Sisters in many locations and
from many penods.

PracricaL LiFe

The Priest's Parlour 2009

Reconstruction of setting for the Priest’s Parlour from a
Convent, including table, embroidered tea cloth, silver
tea service, and fine china place setting,

A Convent Refectory (2009

Reconstruction of a table setting for the Refectory in a
Convent, including table with drawers, wooden stools
and crockery and cutlery with Convent identhcations.

Travelling Light (2009
A tin trunk and two suitcases formerly used by Sisters
when moving from one community to another.

4. “HURRA FOR FOUNDATIONS”

A Journey Arvound the Cities, Towns and Villages
Where the Sisters Have Lived (2009
Digital display of photographs and text of 42 Convents,
Hospitals and Orphanages of the Sisters of Mercy
Goulburn Congregation. Running time: 35 minutes
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5. WORKING LIVES

Tue Works oF MErcY
I Was a Stranger and You Took Me In, For I Was
Hungry and You Gave Me to Eat, I Was in Need
and You Clothed Me # (1994)
Three cards illustrating the corporal and spiritual works
of Mercy. Based on illustrated cards produced by Sister
Clare Agnew in 1840 in Bermondsey, UK., Dublin,
Mercy International Associates.
Teaching Religious Education in Schools *
(1980s)
Colour photograph.
Voluntary Work at “Vinnies™ * (2009
Colour photograph.
Mercy Hospital, Albury. the New Theatre *
Black and white photograph.

ScHOOLS
Prospectus: Our Lady of Mercy College Goulburn

1934)

Includes black and white photographs and a fold-
out page providing a panoramic view ol the College
exterior (displaved). Sydney, New South Wales Printing
Company.
Day Book Our Lady of Mercy College Goulburn
Boarders (1925-1931)
Book of financial records for individual boarders at
OLMC between 1925 and 1931.
Letter to Mrs Reardon with Boarding School
Account (1889,
Letter from Sister Ligouri to Mrs Reardon with
accompanying boarding school account for OLMC,
both dated 12 November 1889.
Letter from Bridget O’Connor to her Brother
(1909)
Letter from a homesick new boarder at OLMC
Goulburn to her brother.
Bridget O’Connor (19187)
Black and white photograph of Bridget O'Connor in
academic dress.
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Our Lady of Mercy College Goulburn Album
(1922)

Page from a photograph album belonging 1o Father
Hugh Leonard, curate at Goulburn in 1922, 6 small
black and white photographs on page, clearly labelled.

Rules of Saint Joseph’s Ladies’ College Albury
(various dates)

In a cover, three sets of rules: Rules of St Joseph's Ladies’
Col Boarding School 1915 — handwnitten: Rules of St.
Joseph'’s Ladies” College — small printed booklet (undated);
handwritten rule regarding use of telephone by the
Young Ladies, written on headed paper (undated).

Albury Boarders (1880s)
Black and white photograph depicting schoolgirls in the
Albury Convent garden.

Yass Fundraising (| 905-1909)

Exercise book recording money received as donations,
through Art Unions and through Bazaars for the Parish
School, Convent of Mercy Yass.

Yass Boarders (1938)

Black and white photograph taken outside Mount
Carmel College Yass, Names of students handwritten
on the back.

Our Lady of Mercy Schools Albury: St Joseph’s, St
Brigid’s, St Anne’s (1963
Fundraising booklet. Albury, WJ. Cryer and Co.

St Joseph's College Olive Street Albury (1968)
Centenary appeal booklet. Albury, Specialty Press.

Teacher Training Assessment (1944

Report by Dr John Thompson C.M. on a poetry lesson
taught by Sr Celine McCormack. Typed lesson plan,
handwritten comments, black and white photograph
added.

INDIGENOUS AUSTRALIANS

Sisters of Mercy at Hollywood Mission Yass
(1952)

Scanned black and white photograph of Sisters
Alacoque McAuliffe and Pauline Couch with Bishop
Guilford Young and a group of Aboriginal residents of
Hollywood Mission Yass, after Mass on Christmas Day
1952, Original missing,

Exhibition Checklist



HospiTALs

“Early Days™, Sacred Heart Hospital Young
(1911-1943)

Serapbook containing newspaper cuttings relating to
Sacred Heart Hospital from 1924-1943, Black and
white photograph of 1911 (entitled Official Opening
Sacred Heart Hospital) included on first page (displayed).

Cootamundra Mercy Hospital (c. 1930)
Black and white photograph, embossed Matte Swdios
Cootamundra.

Mercy Hospital Nurse’s Badge (196])
Enamel badge with the word MERCY embossed.

Mercy Hospital Albury, Marianella Nursing
Home, Mercy Hospital Auxiliary, Annual Reports
and Financial Statements 1987-88 (1988)

Annual Report. Albury, printed Border Mail
Wodonga.

Pastoral Care Information Leaflets (1993-2006)

4 leaflets. Information on pastoral care available at
Mercy Hospital Albury, Marianella Nursing Home and
Palliative Care Albury.

Sacrament of the Sick (undated)

Silver tray, two small silver candlesticks, crucifix, silver
cup, brass pyx, brass container for oils, bottle of Holy
Water, stole, book Pastoral Care of the Sick, rosary, all
used for administration of the Sacrament of the Sick at
Mercy Hospial Albury.

ORPHANAGES

Receipt for Kenmore Land for St Joseph’s
Orphanage (1904

Handwritten receipt for £499 for land purchased by
Bishop Gallagher from Knowlman Bros for land to
build 5t Joseph’s Orphanage at Goulburn.

St. Joseph’s New Orphanage, Kenmovre, Goulburn
(1906 or 1907)

Commemorative booklet (rebound) with accounts

of the laying of the foundation stone (1905) and

the blessing and opening of the Orphanage (1906).
Goulburn.

St John’s Home Thurgoona (1916)
Black and white photograph of girls outside St John's in
Newtown (Thurgoona),

Exhibition Checklist

Presentation Card to Sister Genevieve from the
Boys of St John’s Orphanage Goulburn (1968)
Page one of four of a large handwritten card presented
to Sister Genevieve Cummins, August 15 1968.

VISITING THOSE IN PrISON

Art Album Presented to Sister Imelda (19305
Album with pasted in black and white reproductions
of works of art, inscribed with “Christmas Greetings”
1o “Rev. Mother Imelda™ from the “Men of Goulburn
Reformatory™.

Music

City of Wagga Eisteddfod Adjudicator’s Report
Primary Schools Choir (1941)

Handwritten report on the performance of the choir
of St Joseph’s Finley, choir directed by Sister Helen
Shortal.

Manuscript Album (1941)

Cloth covered album inscribed +67 and dated 1941
containing handwritten musical scores with word of
171 hymns.

Lecture Notes from a Music Summer School
(1918

Exercise book inscribed Convent of Merey, Corowa.
Detailed notes written by Sister Aloysius Dunne, music
teacher at Albury and Corowa, at a Music Summer
School,

Violin (undated)
Violin lent by Xavier High School, Albury.

OLMC Chotr, 1968 (1968)

Cover of long-playing record of choral music by Our
Lady of Mercy College Choir 1968. Choir director:
Sister Carmel Gardiner, pianist Sister Kath Costain,
organist Joan Barnes. Goulburn, produced by Brian
Baxter.

6. CHANGES

ORGANISATION & STRUCTURES

First General Chapter Australian Union of the
Sisters of Mercy (1954)

Black and white photograph, taken in the gardens of
the Papal Nunciature, North Sydney.
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Constitutions of the Congregation of the
Australian Union of the Sisters of Our Lady of
Merey (1960)

Revised Constitutions for the Union, approved
November 19539, Canberra, Sisters of Mercy. General
Motherhouse.

Constitutions and Directory, Institute of Sisters of

Mercy of Australia (19887
Revised Constitutions for ISMA, approved September
1987. Sydney?, ISMA.

Associates in Mercy (2009
Coloured photograph taken in Goulburn,

Autonomous Congregations of the Institute of
Sisters of Mercy of Australia * (2007

Coloured digital map. Copyright Fravnework
Multimedia 2007.

Mercy Sisters in 2009 * (2009
Coloured photograph taken at Congregational
Assembly Young, July 2009.

Epuvcation

Goulburn School “Strike”: the Inside Story alter
1986)

By Bishop J.N. Cullinane. Originally published as six
articles in The Australastan Catholic Record (1984-1986).
Canberra, Catholic Educatnon Office.

Students in the Grounds of Marian College
Griffith (2006
Coloured photograph.

Marian Catholic College Principal’s Report 2002-
2006 (2006}

Principal’s 2006 Report for Marian Catholic College
Griffith. Griffith, the College.

CHiLD WELFARE

Children Give Love to Nun: Sister Brown's Years
of Caring (1988)

Newspaper cutting, Article on the work of Sister
Margaret Brown at St Joseph’s Kenmore and in the
later cottages in Goulburn. Dated 22 February 1988.
Goulburn, Goulburn Post.
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Thanksgiving Service | 1988

Newspaper cutting, Article announcing a thanksgiving
service to be held for the work of the Sisters of Merey
at the Goulburn orphanages and couages. Dated 2
Dec 1988 in Good Morning section of Goulburn Post,

Goulburn, Goulburn Post.

HeALTH AND AGED CARE

Blessing of Marianella Nursing Home 2003)
Leaflet for the blessing and opening of Marianella
Nursing Home, Albury, 24 September 2003, Albury.

Transitions (2007)

Three issues of newsletter Transitions, produced for stafl’
at Goulburn Sisters of Mercy health institutions at the
time of their transfer to Mercy Health. Richmond,
Victoria, Mercy Health and Aged Care,

New Ways or WorkinG

Mercy Pastoral Team Finley 1976
Scrapbook: Photographs and cuttings recording
activities of the Mercy community based at Finley,
1976.

2001 Centenary Medal: Sister Celine
McCormack (2001

Coloured photograph and set of Centenary medals
(three medals).

Sister Mary Celine is Citizen of the Year 1990,
Newspaper cutting. Article on the award of Tumut
Citizen ol the Year to Sister Celine,

CHANGED Driss anp Way oF LivinG

The Changing Mercy Habit (1 980s7)
Twelve dolls dressed in different versions of the Mercy
habit. Dolls dressed by E. Bruce.

Our Community of 1988 in Action (1988
Photograph album including captions. A record in
photographs of the Yass Community for 1988.

BeyonD THE Di1oCESAN BoUNDARIES
Sister Patrick Mahoney in Papua New Guinea

(€. 1960)
Black and white photograph.

Exhibition Checklist



Sister Colleen Livermore in Peshawar Pakistan
(1987)
Coloured photograph.

Sister Margarita Duffy in Balgo Western
Australia (c. 1990

Album of coloured photographs, Two photographs
displaved.

EPILOGUE. AT THE HEART

Our Lady of the Sacred Heart * (between 1862
and 1891)

Detail from stained glass window in Goulburn Convent
Chapel.

Saint Brigid * (between 1862 and 1891
Detail from stained glass window in Goulburn Convent
Chapel.

Calvary * (undated)
Detail from stained glass window in onginal Yass
Convent Chapel.

Blessed Virgin Mary * (afier 1878)
Detail from stained glass window in Albury Convent
Chapel.

BROWSING COLLECTION

Visitors to the exhibition were invited to inspect and
browse a large collection ol open-access items, including:

L]

A selection of books by and about Catherine McAuley
Copies of entries from the Wesiport Annafs and the
Rochfortbridge Annals

Copies of articles from newspapers relating to the carly
days of the Goulburn Mercy Congregation
Scrapbooks including photographs and newspaper
cuttings of the Goulburn Mercy Congregation and the
Goulburn “Strike™

Historical accounts of the Goulburn Congregation
written by Sisters of Mercy

Publications relating to the Goulburn Merey Sisters,
including histories of schools or convents

Copies of selected Minutes of meetings of the
Congregational Council, 1922-1962

Spiritual Library of Sister Ellen Yates,

Exhibition Checklist
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